
 
 

 

 
Cumbria Police and Crime Panel 
 

 
Friday, 12 July 2019 at 10.30 am  

 

 
VENUE: Council Chamber, Allerdale House, 

Workington, Cumbria. CA14 3YJ  
 

AGENDA 

 
 

PLEASE NOTE THERE WILL BE A BRIEFING FOR THE PANEL AT 
9.30 AM 

 
   

1   ELECTION OF CHAIR 

 
To elect a Chair of the Panel for the ensuing year. 

  
 

2   ELECTION OF VICE-CHAIR 

 
To elect a Vice-Chair of the Panel for the ensuing year. 

  
 

3   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

To receive any apologies for absence. 
  

 

4   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

To receive any declarations of interest. 
  

 

5   EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 

To consider whether the press and public should be excluded 
from the meeting during consideration of any item on the 

Agenda. 



 

 

6   PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 

 
To receive any items of public participation. 

 
(Questions and petitions must be received in writing by 

Lynn Harker, Senior Democratic Services Officer at least seven 
working days before the date of the Panel meeting). 

  
 

7   MINUTES 

 
To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the 

Panel held on 25 March 2019 (copy enclosed). 
(Pages 5 - 16) 

 
 

8   CUMBRIA POLICE AND CRIME PANEL CHAIRMAN'S 

ANNUAL REPORT 2019-20 
 

To consider a report by the Chairman, Cumbria Police and Crime 
Panel (copy enclosed). 

(Pages 17 - 32) 
 

 

9   POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER'S ANNUAL REPORT 

2018-19 

 
To consider a report by the Office of the Police and Crime 

Commissioner (copy enclosed). 
(Pages 33 - 66) 

 
 

10   SERIOUS VIOLENCE AND COUNTY LINES 
 

To consider a report by the Office of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner (copy enclosed). 

(Pages 67 - 76) 

 
 

11   REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING 2018/19 QUARTER 4 TO 
MARCH 2019 AND PROVISIONAL OUTTURN 

 

a   Constabulary Budget Report  
To consider a report from Cumbria Constabulary (copy enclosed). 

(Pages 77 - 108) 
 

 
 



 

 

b   Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner Budget 

Report  
To receive a report from the Office of the Police and Crime 

Commissioner (copy enclosed). 
(Pages 109 - 136) 

 

12   UPDATE ON COMPLAINTS 
 

To consider a report from the Monitoring Officer (Cumbria County 
Council) (copy enclosed). 

(Pages 137 - 138) 
 

 

13   PANEL UPDATE REPORT 

 
To consider the Panel Briefing from the Senior Manager – Policy 

and Scrutiny (Cumbria County Council) (copy enclosed). 

(Pages 139 - 148) 
 

 

14   DATE OF NEXT MEETING 

 
The next meeting of the Panel will be held on Monday 

14 October 2019 at 10.30 am in the Control Room, Cumbria Fire 
and Rescue HQ, Carleton Avenue, Penrith, CA10 2FA. 

  

 

 

INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - if you wish to 
inspect Minutes or Reports relating to any item on this agenda or have 

any other general queries about the meeting, please contact: 
 

Lynn Harker, Senior Democratic Services Officer, Cumbria House, 
117 Botchergate, Carlisle, Cumbria CA1 1RD 

 
Telephone Nos: 01228 226364 / 07825340229 



This page is intentionally left blank



 
CUMBRIA POLICE AND CRIME PANEL 

 
Minutes of a Meeting of the Cumbria Police and Crime Panel held on 

Monday, 25 March 2019 at 10.30 am at Committee Room 1, County 
Offices, Kendal, LA9 4RQ 

 

 
PRESENT: 

 
Mr W McEwan (Cumbria County Council) (Chair) 

 
Mr RK Bingham, Cumbria County Council 

Mrs J Cooke, Independent Co-opted Member 
Mrs J Ellis-Williams, Carlisle City Council 

Miss HJ Fearon, Cumbria County Council (Vice-Chair) 
Mr J Mallinson, Cumbria County Council 

Mr P McSweeney, South Lakeland District Council 
Mr G Sunderland, Copeland Borough Council 

Miss L Vance, Independent Co-opted Member 
 

Also in Attendance:- 

 
Mr H Cox - Policy and Scrutiny Officer 

Mr T Gale - Senior Policy and Scrutiny Project Officer 
Mrs L Harker - Senior Democratic Services Officer 

Mr R Marshall - Joint Chief Finance Officer, Office of the Police 
and Crime Commissioner 

Mr P McCall - Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) 
Mrs G Shearer - Head of Communications and Business Services 

- Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner 
Mr B Spencer - Group Solicitor/Deputy Monitoring Officer 

Ms S Stables - Partnerships and Strategy Manager, Office of 
the Police and Crime Commission 

Ms V Stafford - Chief Executive, Office of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner 

 

  
PART 1 – ITEMS CONSIDERED IN 

THE PRESENCE OF THE PUBLIC AND 
PRESS 

 

 

 

Mr A Riley and Ms R Reed attended for agenda item no 6 – Update by the 
Independent Office for Police Conduct (minute 51 refers). 

 
 

 

5

Agenda Item 7



 

46 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

Apologies for absence were received from Mr K Hamilton, Mr P Kendall 
and Mr J Lynch.  

 
 

47 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 
There were no declarations of interest on this occasion. 

 
 

48 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 

RESOLVED, that the press and public be not excluded from the 
meeting for any items of business on this occasion. 

 
 

49 PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
 

There were no items of public participation to be considered at this 
meeting. 

 

 
50 MINUTES 

 
(1) With reference to minute 41(b) – Police and Crime Commissioner 

Precept Proposals – Revenue Budget and Medium Term Financial 
Forecast a response regarding the existence of solar panels in the 

new Police Station at Phoenix Way, Barrow was still outstanding.  It 
was agreed a written response would be made to the Panel as soon 

as possible. 
 

(2) With reference to minute 41(e) – Police and Crime Commissioner 
Precept Proposals – Precept Proposal and Medium Term Budget 

2019/20 to 2022/23 (sixth paragraph, last sentence) the word 
‘direct’ be replaced with ‘neighbourhood’. 

 

RESOLVED, that with the inclusion of (2) above the minutes of the 
meeting held on 21 January 2019 be confirmed as a 

correct record and signed by the Chair. 
 

 
51 PRESENTATION BY THE INDEPENDENT OFFICE FOR POLICE 

CONDUCT 
 

The Panel received a verbal update from the Independent Office for Police 
Conduct (IOPC).  Members were informed they were a non-departmental 

public body, previously known as the Independent Police Complaints 

6



 

Commission (IPCC) who were responsible for overseeing the police 
complaints system in England and Wales, investigating the most serious 

matters, including deaths following police contact, and set the standards 
by which the police should handle complaints. 

 
Members were informed that on 8 January 2018, the transition from the 

IPCC to the newly created IOPC consisted of a new leadership under a 

Director General and a new Board to ensure accountability to the public.  
It was explained that non-executive directors form the majority of the 

Board, and provide independent support and challenge to the Director 
General as well as oversight of the overall running of the organisation.  It 

was noted that the new structure also consisted of a more regional 
approach, with new Regional Directors created to engage with local 

stakeholders and improve the understanding of the needs of local 
communities. 

 
The Panel were informed that staff were recruited to the organisation 

from a wide spectrum.  It was explained the IOPC also encouraged 
recruitment through a ‘trainee investigator scheme’ which provided 

appropriate training for those applicants with less or no experience.  
Members noted that at present approximately 30% of the workforce were 

ex police officers but none of them were part of the senior infrastructure . 

 
Members were informed that the IOPC had reported that they had been 

allocated £63.11m core cash funding from the Home Office, and an 
additional £8.23m funding for the Hillsborough investigation.  The Panel 

requested clarification on funding including the annual cost of the IOPC 
and it was agreed this would be provided separately to the Panel. 

 
A discussion took place regarding the auditing of expenditure and it was 

explained that this was the responsibility of the Unitary Board who were 
responsible for the agreement of the Annual Report.   

 
The Panel discussed the oversight and scrutiny of the IOPC and it was 

explained that they were inspected by the National Audit Committee.  It 
was agreed that further information would be made available in the 

future. 

 
A discussion took place regarding the provisions of the Police and Crime 

Act 2017 to increase the powers of the IOPCs which included its 
investigative process and further safeguarded its independence.  

Members highlighted the pro-active steps it had taken by revising its 
Complaints Procedure to eliminate it becoming a secondary appeals panel 

and asked what steps the IOPC had undertaken.  It was noted that the 
major reforms allowed the IOPC to: 

 
 initiate its own investigations without relying on a force to 

record and refer a particular case for investigation; 

7



 

 
 reopen cases it had closed where there were compelling 

reasons, such as new evidence; 
 

 increase the IOPC’s independence from the police by abolishing 
‘managed’ and ‘supervised’ investigations; 

 

 investigate all disciplinary investigations against chief officers; 
 

 present cases against officers in the police disciplinary process 
when the force disagreed with the IOPC’s findings. 

 
The IOPC acknowledged there were risks with the new procedure and 

informed the Panel that a deep dive had been undertaken into specific 
legislation and a guidance document had been produced.  It was 

explained that launch events regarding the guidance would take place 
with invites being extended to Offices of Police and Crime Commissioners 

and Monitoring Officers.  The Panel highlighted the importance of 
guidance in relation to the new procedures to guide individuals through 

the new system. 
 

A discussion took place regarding monitoring the progress of 

investigations on serving police officers and how this affected officers 
who were reaching retirement age.   

 
The Panel were informed that the IOPC set themselves a target to 

complete 80% of independent investigations in a 12 months period, 
explaining that the remaining 20% mainly related to serious crimes which 

took a longer period of time to investigate.  It was confirmed that officers 
who were approaching retirement whilst under investigation could still 

retire or resign.  Members were informed that if an officer resigned whilst 
under investigation of a serious misconduct they would not be allowed to 

become a police officer in another police force. 
 

RESOLVED, that 
 

 (1) the update be noted; 

 
 (2) further information on funding be provided direct to 

the Panel; 
 

 (3) a copy of the Annual Report be provided to the Panel. 
 

 
 

 
 

 

8



 

52 REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING - QUARTER 3 
 

a Constabulary Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 
 

The Panel considered a report from Cumbria Constabulary which detailed 
their Revenue budget monitoring 2018/19 forecast as at 

31 December 2018. 

 
Members noted that the current forecast of net expenditure amounted to 

£118.073m compared to a revised budget of £117.427m.  It was 
explained that the variance amounted to a forecast overspend of 

£0.646m (0.55%) and was made up of a forecast overspend on 
expenditure budgets of £1.062m (0.86%) and increased income of 

£0.416m (6.83%).  The Panel were informed that the forecast overspend 
had reduced by £0.103m compared to the forecast overspend reported 

as at the end of September 2018 of £0.749m.   
 

It was explained that the overspend was principally around police pay 
which included early recruitment of additional police officers, ill-health 

retirement and overtime costs.  Members noted that a deliberate decision 
had been made to recruit 25 new police officers in 2018-19 early to meet 

the Commissioner’s pledge which was earlier than planned.  The Panel 

were informed that in addition to that another 20 officers had been 
recruited earlier than expected to ensure they were ready for 2019-20 

and help meet the Commissioner’s pledge. 
 

Members were informed that higher fuel prices had put pressure on the 
transport budget.  The Panel noted that the Force had invested in a 

number of electric vehicles which would only be deployed in city centres 
but would not contribute to fuel cost savings.  It was explained that the 

significant costs incurred were due to the geography of the county and 
the cost of fuel. 

 
The Panel noted that the overspend had been reduced through the 

agreed application of revenue budget reserves (budget support reserve 
and the injury pension reserve).  It was highlighted that the Constabulary 

was continuing to look for ways in which the overspend could be 

managed during the remainder of the financial year.  Members noted that 
in the event that there was an overspend at the year end, it was 

proposed that the underspend on the capital budget for 2018/19 be used 
to fund the remaining deficit. 

 
Members noted the Workforce Plan Changes and in particular the 

forthcoming changes in relation to the Police Education Qualification 
Framework (PEQF) effective from 1 January 2020.  A discussion took 

place regarding the effects this would have on the budget and impact on 
Police Community Support Officers (PCSOs).  The Board were informed 

that the new PEQF entry process would be more expensive and 

9



 

investigations would be undertaken to look at how this could be profiled 
and dealt with in the future. 

 
Members were informed that the largest element of costs incurred for 

police officers entering the Force through the Apprenticeship Scheme 
would be met from the Apprenticeship Levy. 

 

The Board were informed that police officer recruitment was changing 
and that different forces were offering a range of different rates which it 

was anticipated could have an impact on recruitment.   
 

It was explained that PCSO recruitment was not a graduate entry scheme 
and that the recruitment scheduled for the next financial year was to top 

up resources. 
 

A brief discussion took place regarding the removal of PCSOs which had 
taken place at another Force in the country as it was felt they were not 

best value for money.  The Cumbria Police and Crime Commissioner did 
not share this view and felt that PCSOs were a valuable asset in the 

community. 
 

The Panel discussed the valuable work of the Special Constables and it 

was agreed an increase in those posts would be invaluable.   
 

Members were informed that the supplies and services budget was 
showing a forecast underspend of £75k due, in main, to forecast 

underspends on ICT, police doctors and surgeons and interpreters.  It 
was explained that they were somewhat offset by overspends on 

catering, uniform, custody and forensic costs.  The Panel were informed 
that police doctors and surgeons and interpreters were difficult to recruit 

and were procured as a ‘managed service’ which was closely scrutinised. 
 

During the course of discussion members highlighted the need for British 
Sign Language Interpreters and it was agreed further information would 

be made available direct to members. 
 

RESOLVED, that the report be noted. 

 
b Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner Revenue 

Budget Monitoring 2018/19 
 

The Panel received a report from the Office of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner which detailed their Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 

forecast as at 31 December 2018 Report. 
 

Members were informed that the current forecast of net expenditure 
amounted to £99.250m compared to a revised budget of £98.627m.  It 

was explained that the variance amounted to a forecast overspend of 

10



 

£623k (0.63%) and was made up of a forecast overspend of £646k 
(0.55%) in respect of Constabulary budget and a forecast underspend of 

£23k (0.12%) on budgets managed by the Commissioner.  It was noted 
that the overall overspend represented a reduction of £168k compared 

with the position reported at September. 
 

The Panel noted that the aim remained to contain expenditure within 

budget by the year end, but, if this did not prove possible, it was planned 
that the deficit would be met from an underspend on the capital budget 

in relation to Business Analytics. 
 

A discussion took place regarding the balance on the Police Property Act 
fund and the Panel felt there was still a large amount of money remaining 

in this.  Members were informed that there had been an increase in 
applications and the Commissioner was comfortable with the monies still 

available. 
 

RESOLVED, that the report be noted. 
 

 
53 ANNUAL REVIEW OF THE POLICE AND CRIME PLAN 2016-

2020 

 
The Panel considered a report from the Office of the Police and Crime 

Commissioner which provided a high level performance summary against 
each of the objectives in the Police & Crime Plan.  It provided example of 

key activity which the Police and Crime Commissioner, along with 
partners, had delivered during 2018-2019 and included an overview of 

how this had supported local communities across Cumbria.  It was 
explained that this report would form the basis of the Annual Report for 

2018-2019 and identify keys areas of work for the next 12 months. 
 

Members noted that the current Plan identified broad long-term crime, 
community safety and criminal justice objectives for Cumbria and was 

accessible to a wide range of audiences.  It was explained that the Plan 
was developed with input from the public, police and key partners and 

also linked to the national policing priorities.  The Panel were informed 

that the primary focus of the Plan was to tackle crime and antisocial 
behaviour, support victims and bring offenders to justice through 

effective partnership working with statutory and third sector partners, 
and local community groups.  It was noted that the Commissioner had 

been clear that he was keen to promote the approach of ‘We Not They’ 
recognising that it is the responsibility of all to make “Cumbria Even 

Safer”.   
 

 
 

11



 

The Panel were informed that the Commissioner had in place a robust 
and transparent governance framework that enabled him to fulfil his 

statutory duty and obtain reassurance that the objectives within the Plan 
were being delivered.  

 
A discussion took place regarding the objective to support and enable 

community groups to prevent and tackle crime and disorder in their area.  

The Panel drew attention to the use of CCTV and how this could be rolled 
out and funded across the county, highlighting the positive effects this 

had already had in certain areas of the county.  The Commissioner 
highlighted them as a valuable operational benefit for the police which 

provided reassurances for communities. 
 

Members were informed that Police in the county were more able to 
afford to pay for extra security cameras, explaining that the cost of 

installation had reduced across the county following the introduction of 
4G or 5G technology to link the cameras to the central system.  Members 

noted that monitoring the system was where the greatest costs were 
incurred.  It was explained that whilst some funding could be made 

available additional funds would also need to be sought from local 
authorities.   

 

The Panel discussed the large scale operation targeting county lines drug 
supply activity in Barrow.  Members were informed this operation was ten 

months in the planning and had resulted in multiple arrests with the 
seizure of thousands of pounds in cash and quantities of illegal drugs.   

 
Members welcomed the positive outcomes of the recent operation and 

drew attention to the effects county lines also had on other parts of the 
county as traffic passed through other areas. 

 
The Panel discussed the need for a whole society approach to prevent 

addiction and Egerton Court, Barrow-in-Furness was highlighted as a 
successful venture. 

 
Members were informed of the commissioned range of support services 

to deliver interventions and projects to support victims of serious crime 

and vulnerable victims.   
 

The Panel noted that, in partnership with the Constabulary and through 
Safer Cumbria, a Serious Organised Crime Event had been held to brief 

partners on the threats to Cumbria posed by serious and organised crime 
and to secure the support of partners.  Members were informed that 

campaigns were being organised on unseen policing to reassure the 
public. 

 
 

12



 

A discussion took place regarding Appleby Fair and members noted that 
the Commissioner had held two public surgeries which provided an 

opportunity for people to raise issues and share their views.  In response 
to the events the Commissioner had requested a formal review of the 

policing operation of the Fair, specifically focusing on the period in the 
lead up to the event.   

 

The Commissioner informed members that it was felt there had been a 
deficit of democratic involvement in the management of the Fair, 

therefore, it had been agreed that three elected members would be 
nominated to form part of the organising group.  The engagement of the 

local population was also encouraged.  It was highlighted there would be 
additional resources, CCTV and other security measures at this year’s 

event.  During discussion members raised their concerns regarding 
obstructions on the highway caused by people attending the Fair. 

 
Members noted that the Commissioner had held 16 public surgeries 

across the county, including the business sector, which provided an 
opportunity for people to raise issues, share views and express their 

satisfaction or dissatisfaction with the police.  It was explained that the 
events had been well attended and although there were no plans to 

increase the number of them taking place the Commissioner welcomed 

the opportunity for the public to meet him in person acknowledging that 
not everyone had access to IT facilities.   

 
A discussion took place regarding Resources Creatives to deliver 

workshops in primary schools to educate children and young people on 
the impact of getting involved in anti-social behaviour, gangs, serious 

and organised crime and victim awareness.  It was agreed to provide 
members with details of the schools involved. 

 
The Panel welcomed the report and summary of performance but 

requested that in future more information on results of operations be 
included in reports. 

 
RESOLVED, that the progress against the Police and Crime Plan 

objectives be noted. 

 
 

54 UPDATE ON COMPLAINTS 
 

The Panel considered a report by the Monitoring Officer which advised 
members of any complaints received in accordance with the Panel’s 

complaints procedure.  The report outlined where appropriate, what, if 
any, action has been taken in respect of the complaints. 

 
 

13



 

Members were informed that as at the date of the report there were no 
ongoing complaints. 

 
RESOLVED, that the report be noted. 

 
 

55 PANEL UPDATE REPORT 
 

Members received a report which gave an update on key issues and 

developments that had occurred since the last meeting of the Panel 
which included progress on actions agreed at the October Panel meeting, 

National Policy Developments and the Panel’s Work Programme. 
 

A discussion took place regarding the serious violence update and, in 
particular, the St Giles Trust, a charity which supported young people 

caught up in reoffending.  It was explained they had released a Home 
Office-commissioned report, recommending that Ofsted should radically 

change its approach on how it assessed schools to take into account 
children becoming part of county lines drug dealing.  It was noted that 

the report focussed on the Home Office-funded pilot which had taken 
place in Kent, in which 38 children were given one-to-one casework 

support, and had found 85% were effectively helped by either leaving 
county lines gangs or decreasing their activity.   

 
Whilst the Panel acknowledged that the information related to Kent the 

Police and Crime Commissioner highlighted that the whole country 

experienced the same issues.  It was explained that there were regional 
education commissioners whose remit was to care for children and it was 

felt there was a need in Cumbria to be more closely aligned with them.   
 

The Panel noted that discussions had taken place with regards to 
improving future monitoring of the Police and Crime Commissioner and 

this would be discussed as part of the annual review. 
 

Members were informed that the Panel would produce an Annual Panel 
Report which would be discussed further at the next meeting of the Panel 

in July. 
 

RESOLVED, that the report be noted. 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

14



 

56 DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
 

It was noted that the next meeting of the Panel would be held on Friday 
12 July 2019 at 10.30 am in Allerdale House, Workington, Cumbria, CA14 

3YJ. 
 

 

It was noted that this would be the last meeting Mr G Sunderland would 
attend in his capacity as a Panel member as he was not standing for 

re-election at the forthcoming district elections.  The Chair and Vice-
Chair, on behalf of the Panel, thanked Mr Sunderland for his support and 

positive attitude, highlighting in particular his contributions to the new 
Complaints Procedure and wished him well for the future. 

 
Mr Sunderland thanked the Panel. 

 
 

 
The meeting ended at 12.35 pm 

 
 

15



This page is intentionally left blank



 

CUMBRIA POLICE AND CRIME PANEL 

Meeting date: 12 July 2019 

From:  Chairman, Cumbria Police and Crime Panel 

 

 

CUMBRIA POLICE AND CRIME PANEL CHAIRMAN'S 

ANNUAL REPORT 2019-20 

 

 

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

1.1 This is the first Annual Report from the Cumbria Police and 
Crime Panel.  It provides information on the Panel’s role 

and responsibilities including statutory duties.  It also acts 
as a point of reference for partners, external organisations 

and the public for the work that is carried out by the 
Panel.   

2.0 RECOMMENDATION 

2.1 Members are asked to note the Annual Report. 

 

 
 

Bill McEwan 
Chairman 

Cumbria Police and Crime Panel 
 

July 2019 

17

Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank



 

  

  

 

 

 

Cumbria Police and 

Crime Panel 

 Annual  Report  2019-20 

 

 

 

   

19



 

  

  

The Report aims to provide information on our role and responsibilities and to act as a point of 

reference for partners, external organisations and the public.   

It has been a busy year and a challenging one for Police and Crime Commissioners and Panels 

across the country.  Despite these challenges, here in Cumbria, our Police force continues, for a 

second year, to be rated as ‘good’ by the independent inspectorate (HMICFRS).  The Panel 

concurs with this recognition that the force understands its communities, protects vulnerable 

people and plans well for the current and future demands on its service.  

In presenting our report, I would like to thank Panel Members for their diligence and input over the 

last twelve months. I would also like to thank Cumbria’s Police and Crime Commissioner and his 

officers for their cooperation and assistance in our shared mission of keeping Cumbria safe.            

 

 Councillor Bill McEwan           

Chairman - Cumbria Police          

and Crime Panel         

  

              

    

  

Cumbria Police and Crime Panel  -   Annual Report 2019   

Foreword from the Panel Chairman Counci llor Bill McEwan    

    

Welcome to this, our first Cumbria Police and Crime Panel Annual Report.  We hope you find it    

interesting and informative.    

20



 

  

Cumbria Police and Crime Panel - Annual Report 2019  

Role of the Panel and Key Duties    

Cumbria Police and Crime Panel (PCP) is a joint committee comprising Members from Cumbria   

County Council, all of the six District Councils and independent co-opted members. The role of the 

Panel is to scrutinise and support the work of the Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) in his 

engagement with the public, setting policing priorities and holding the Chief Constable to account 

for the delivery of policing in the county.  

The Panel carries out a wide range of duties, two key elements of which are scrutiny of the 

Commissioners budget and his Police and Crime Plan. The Panel has provided both robust 

challenge and support to the Commissioner in delivering efficiencies within his office structure and 

the Constabulary which have prioritised front line policing services to the people of Cumbria.  

The Panel performs other statutory functions which include:  

• Annual scrutiny of the PCCs Council Tax Precept  

• Holding Confirmation Hearings on the appointment of a new Chief Constable & senior officer 

positions within the Commissioner’s office.  

• Dealing with complaints.  

The Panel has continued its own programme of development during the last year. The national 

PCP conference was attended by Members and officers from Cumbria. The conference provides 

an opportunity to share ideas and best practice with Panel Members and officers from other 

areas. A number of important challenges were discussed at the conference including the ongoing 

financial pressure facing police forces across the country. The conference also explored the 

changing nature of crime and how forces can best respond. It was agreed that a national body for 

PCPs would continue as a special interest group of the LGA. Cumbria Police and Crime Panel will 

continue to monitor the work of this group.  

The Panel is aware of the significant challenges facing PCCs going forward. Policing will 

increasingly need to adapt and evolve in response. The Panel will continue to work closely with 

the Commissioner as he begins to refresh the Cumbria Police and Crime Plan covering the period 

2020-2024. 

   

21



Cumbria Police and Crime Panel - Annual Report 2019  

  

Challenges Facing Policing    

Financial pressures  

Nationally there has been a clear shift towards the policing council tax precept becoming a more 

significant funding stream for forces. In December 2017 the Home Office increased the threshold 

at which PCCs can raise the precept from 1.99% to £12 per year for a Band D property, with a 

further increase to £24 per year in 2018. In total 42% of Cumbria Police’s revenue funding derives 

from the policing precept.   

Through the Commissioner’s public engagement work and precept consultations, the public have  

identified officer numbers as a clear priority. From 2012 to 2018 Cumbria Police’s establishment of 

Police Officers remained consistent at 1120. As part of the 2018/19 budget process the  

Commissioner gave a commitment to recruit an additional 25 officers, taking force establishment 

to 1145. The 2019/20 budget gave a further commitment to recruit another 20 officers to take the 

establishment to 1165.   

Through the budget scrutiny process, the Panel scrutinises the PCC on funding commitments, and 

are assured that the additional officers, both those deployed in neighbourhood policing and 

unseen policing, such as investigating digital and cyber crime, supports the Constabulary in its 

efforts to maintain performance and keep Cumbria safe.  

Central government has committed to revisit plans to change the funding formula with any 

changes not implemented until 2020-21 at the earliest. The Home Secretary has committed to 

prioritise police funding and the Panel supports the Commissioner and Constabulary in their 

robust approach to lobbying for a fair funding formula that takes into account the added costs of 

delivering policing services in the second largest and most rural county in England.  

Demand Pressures  

From March 2018 to February 2019 most police force areas reported an increase in crime. Despite 

this national trend, the Crime Survey for England and Wales shows Cumbria continues to be a 

safe place to live, work and visit. When compared with other forces, Cumbria has the 12th lowest 

crime rate per 1,000, and is the second lowest when calculating overall raw numbers of crime.  

The Panel has provided a constructive and robust scrutiny function to the Commissioner on the 

changing nature of crime, particularly, assurance that the Constabulary is managing pressures, 

such the issue of ‘county lines’ drug supply, protecting vulnerable people and the growing threat of 

digital and cyber crime. The Panel uses a local and national evidence base to monitor  

performance and the Commissioner’s responsibilities within the context of his role. In addition, the 

Panel receive regular reports and updates from the Commissioner and his team of officers at PCP 

meetings. These include assurance that the Commissioner is listening to the public & on the four 

priorities highlighted during the 2019-20 council tax precept consultation:  

• Protecting children and vulnerable adults, especially regarding online 

abuse;  

• Maintaining Cumbria Police as an independent force; 

• Protection against cyber crime and fraud; 

• Responding to terror threats.  

22



Cumbria Police and Crime Panel - Annual Report 2019  

  

The Panel is also engaging with partnerships, such as the Community Safety Partnerships and 

Local Focus Hubs to broaden our understanding and recognition of countywide demand.  

  

A Look Back Over the Year   

January 2018  

A PCP Complaints Working Group was established to agree a draft procedure for dealing with 

complaints. Members and officers researched and communicated with other Panels and PCP 

support officers and nationwide best practice was looked at. The following documents were 

produced which help to clarify and simplify the process for both Panel Members and the public.  

• Complaints Protocol;  

• Habitual and Vexatious Complaints Protocol;  

• Complaints Form; •   Complaints Process.  

The procedure was developed in close coordination with the Independent Office for Police 

Conduct (IOPC).   

 

February 2018  

The Panel held a Confirmation Hearing for the proposed candidate for the post of Chief Constable. 

An independent report set out the process that was followed by the PCC which provided Panel 

with the assurance that the process is independent, robust and aligned with best practice 

guidelines. Following questions to the candidate Panel confirmed the appointment.  

 

March 2018  

Panel reviewed several areas of the Police and Crime Plan including tackling crime and antisocial 

behaviour, domestic abuse and blue light collaboration.  

• Update on recruitment of the additional 25 police officers and how they would increase levels 

of visible policing:  

• A focus on antisocial behaviour ‘hot spots’ around the county where officers were working 

closely with communities:  

• £8m investment on a significantly upgraded control system to improve the service on the 

nonemergency 101 number.  

Update on tackling domestic abuse.  Two programmes recommissioned to provide an integrated 

approach:  

• Turning the spotlight; 

• Step up programme.  

Panel welcomed news that the Commissioner had continued to fund the Independent Domestic 

Violence Advisor service alongside CCC.  

23



Cumbria Police and Crime Panel - Annual Report 2019  

  

 

July 2018  

Panel received and discussed the Commission’s Annual Report.    

• Commitment to focus on Serious Organised Crime over next 2 years;  

• Assurance over public confidence in reporting crime;  

• Update on progress against Police and Crime Plan objectives that week to ensure offenders 

face the consequence of their actions;  

• Significant progress noted in tackling online, sexual and cyber crime.  

• Panel made a decision to hold future meetings in rotation around the county to improve public 

access and participation.  

  

October 2018  

The PCC provided an update presenting action he had taken to gain assurance that the 

Constabulary had made significant progress in safeguarding vulnerable people in the county. 

Panel note that the Constabulary had established a Business Improvement Unit to support senior 

managers to deliver HMICFRS recommendations through internal inspection or audit.  Regular 

updates would be provided to the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner (OPCC) through 

the agreed accountability framework.  

Members noted that over the last 6 years the Constabulary had undertaken an enormous amount 

of work making a number of improvements to ensure that risks associated with complex crime 

investigations were well understood and effectively mitigated.  

The Commissioner had asked for regular updates to provide assurance that significant progress 

was being made in the area of tackling complex crimes.  

Panel welcomed the actions and also noted that the Police Effectiveness Inspection, which had 

graded the Constabulary as ‘Good’ had included an assessment of the Constabulary’s capability 

to undertake complex crime investigations effectively.   

Panel also received updates on tackling crime and antisocial behaviour with a key focus on hate 

crime and putting victims first. Panel noted that progress in these areas had been strong against 

the agreed performance framework.  

The Commissioner highlighted that working in partnership with statutory and third sector partners 

was critical and would continue to be a focus for his office.  

Members also received the Annual Report of the Joint Audit Committee (JAC). The Commission’s 

governance arrangements were found to be highly effective when judged against Chartered 

Institute of Public Finance criteria. Panel welcomed the Annual Report as it provided assurance 

that there is a robust structure in place that enables the OPCC to effectively hold the Constabulary 

to account.  

A Confirmation Hearing was also held to confirm the Commission’s appointments for the Chief 

Executive post within the OPCC.  Members heard how the candidates had strengthened their 

leadership skills and how the arrangement had achieved better value for money.  Following a 

constructive hearing, the Panel confirmed the appointments.  

24



Cumbria Police and Crime Panel - Annual Report 2019  

  

January 2019  

As part of setting the council tax precept for policing the Commissioner consults the Police and 

Crime Panel. A briefing session had been held prior to the meeting to provide Members with detail 

and background to the Commissioner’s decision. This set out the funding pressures facing the 

force both in the short term and in the future.  

Panel heard that increased funding would be used to expand the number of police officers by 

a further 20 to build on the increase of 25 last year, to ensure that the county remains safe 

and continue to address public priorities.  Having received further detailed presentations from 

the Commissioner and his officers at the meeting, Panel unanimously agreed that the precept 

proposal be supported without qualification.  

 

March 2019  

The Commissioner presented his first Annual Review that sets out a high level performance 

summary against each of the objectives in the Police and Crime Plan. It provides examples of key 

activities that the Commissioner, along with partners, have delivered during 2018-19 and includes 

an overview of how this has supported local communities across Cumbria. It also identifies key 

areas of work for 2019-20.  During the last year the Commissioner’s office has:  

• Chaired the Safer Cumbria Partnership;  

• Established governance arrangements to take forward Blue Light Collaboration;  

• Commissioned an integrated Domestic Abuse and Sexual Abuse Crisis Support Service;  

• Developed with partners a gateway of services for people affected by crime and abuse, 

referred to as the Victims Hub;  

• Panel supported and welcomed these initiatives.  

Panel was provided with a detailed update on the highly successful outcome of Operation Horizon 

which resulted in 27 people being charged with offences relating to county lines drug supply.  

Operation Horizon was launched in January 2019 to disrupt organised county lines drug dealing 

gangs operating in Barrow. The operation focussed on the networks supplying drugs from urban 

areas into rural counties like Cumbria. Children and vulnerable adults are often exploited to move 

the drugs and money to and from the urban area, and to store the drugs in ‘local markets’.  

Cumbria Police led the successful operation, working closely with communities, other forces and 

partners to help prevent vulnerable young people and adults from being exploited.   

June 2019  

The independent inspectorate (HMICFRS) recognise Cumbria Constabulary’s Crime Data Integrity 

with their highest possible grade – Outstanding – following their latest inspection. Cumbria is one 

of only two forces (of the 34 that have been inspected) to be judged to as achieving outstanding 

performance in this field.  

On behalf of the Panel the PCP Chairman and Vice Chairman welcome the news and have written 

to the Commissioner to pass on the PCPs congratulations.   

25



Cumbria Police and Crime Panel - Annual Report 2019  

  

 
Ongoing Projects from the Commissioner’s Office   

In addition to regular thematic presentations on Police and Plan objectives the Panel have 

welcomed the Commissioner’s many ongoing projects which have evidenced support for 

communities across the county and are helping to reduce offending.  

£100,000 has been awarded to various projects across the county from the PCCs Community 

Fund to help deliver the objectives within Police and Crime Plan. These include:  

• Resource Creatives - delivers workshops in primary schools to educate children and young 

people on the impact of getting involved in anti-social behaviour, gangs, serious and organised 

crime and victim awareness. A total of 1,556 children and young people attended the 

workshops and are now better informed of the dangers and consequences of becoming 

involved in antisocial behaviour activity, gangs and serious and organised crime, and the 

impact this can have on people.  

   

• Anti-Social Behaviour - Multi-agency work with Local Focus Hub - 25 additional officers 

were recruited and deployed across the county to support and enhance Neighbourhood 

Policing Teams. This goes hand in hand with the launch of six district based Local Focus Hubs 

to ensure the Constabulary is effectively supporting and prioritising the needs of local 

communities through public engagement, visible and effective policing and partnership problem 

solving.   

  

• West Cumbria Women’s Centre - Women Out West - The centre helps women in all kinds of 

circumstances, from victims of domestic violence, those that have been affected by separation 

or divorce and those that are living in poverty or on low incomes. The centre will also support 

women who want to set up their own business, offer advice on housing, debt and health and 

well-being.  

  

• Strengthening Community Engagement - The Mini Police programme aims to actively 

engage young people in community activities by recruiting Mini Police Officers around the 

county. Officers have taken part in road safety patrols, local litter picks, educational talks on 

  

26



Cumbria Police and Crime Panel - Annual Report 2019  

  

county lines drug dealing to supporting local events, including the Tour of Britain. Cumbria 

currently has 26 member schools, with new intakes planned for 2019.  

  

• The Police Cadets scheme is providing opportunities for young people to be involved in 

policing, giving them a chance to be heard and inspiring them to participate positively in their 

communities. The scheme has been extremely well received and the number of recruits 

continues to grow.  

  

• The PCC has recently funded The Well Project - Working with the police and other 

agencies, this project is providing direct support right at the heart of Egerton Court in Barrow 

where many of the residents experience problems such as substance misuse, mental health 

issues, housing instability and poverty. The programme has helped to build strong relationships 

with the community and direct the funding needs to those that need support the most.  

  

  

• The PCC also support Women’s Community Matters in Barrow - This provides a safe and 

welcoming environment for women to meet and offers one to one support to women across a 

range of issues and provides free courses and activities. The programme recently celebrated 

its 20th anniversary with an event attended by service users, local councillors and the PCC.  

  

• New Cyber and Digital Crime Unit - This new unit aims to prevent people from entering the 

world of cyber criminality through early intervention and advice. It is part of a wider commitment 

from the PCC to effectively deal with cyber crime or a significant cyber-attack and bring those 

who commit cyber crime to justice.  

  

  

Looking Ahead – Future Challenges   

The Panel will continue to work collaboratively with the Commissioner’s Office to support the 

development of the next Police and Crime Plan to cover the period 2020-24. Throughout the 

coming year the Panel will also be focussing on:  

• Assessing the impact of crime trends within Cumbria’s Most Similar Group of forces - 

Panel will assess Cumbria’s most similar force areas for trends in crime rates to add context 

and intelligence to the crime picture in Cumbria. This helps to better understand crime rates 

and statistics in the county and enables Panel to stay informed of challenges facing other 

forces and share ideas.  

  

• Development of the PCCs priorities within the new Police and Crime Plan - The Panel 

welcomes the opportunity to support the Commissioner’s Office in reviewing the Police and 

Crime Plan through constructive scrutiny. The Annual Review provided by the PCC to Panel in 

March gives an indication of the priorities and future challenges for the next Plan which in turn 

helps Panel to focus its work programme for the year ahead.  

  

• Serious Organised Crime and County Lines - Government published its Serious Organised 

Crime Strategy in 2018. It seeks to prevent people from engaging in serious and organised 

crime, protect victims, organisations and systems from its harms and better prepare for when it 

27



Cumbria Police and Crime Panel - Annual Report 2019  

  

occurs to reduce its impact. In Cumbria the recent inspection from HMICFRS rated the Force 

as ‘Good’ in four key areas, one of which was tackling serious organised crime.  

    

• Workforce mix - Visible and Unseen Policing - The Panel will continue to work with the 

Commissioner’s Office to understand and support the work around unseen policing. The 

changing nature of crime increasingly draws on policing resources across a number of areas 

including cybercrime, counter terrorism and responding to extreme weather events such as 

flooding. Panel fully appreciates that the resources available to the police force will need to be 

flexible in meeting the future challenges and Panel will work with the PCC to meet these 

demands.  

  

• Cyber and Digital Crime - The PCC identified and responded quickly to the increasing threat 

of online crime with the launch of the new Digital and Cyber Crime Unit in May 2019. Panel 

welcomed this news and will continue to work with the PCC’s office to assess and support 

working around this important area.  

  

  

• Modern Slavery - Cumbria has been noted by HMICFRS as one of only three forces in the 

country to be actively and effectively tackling modern slavery. In Cumbria the focus has been 

on raising awareness, training, prevention and keeping communities safe. Panel are sure the 

issues and impacts linked to modern slavery will continue to provide a challenge for forces both 

nationally and within Cumbria. We look forward to continuing to provide ongoing support 

across this agenda.  

  

• Domestic and Sexual Abuse - In the recent Domestic Abuse Bill from Government the 

definitions of domestic abuse have been expended to cover wider aspects of coercion and 

controlling behaviour.  As a result tackling domestic abuse requires a broader response with 

more partnership working and cross cutting projects and interventions, The Commissioner 

funds a number of projects designed specifically to address domestic and sexual abuse in the 

county. This includes funding of support services, community groups to deliver interventions 

and projects to raise awareness of and tackle domestic abuse. Panel will continue to work with 

the PCC to ensure that this evolving agenda is fully addressed.  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

28



Cumbria Police and Crime Panel - Annual Report 2019  

  

  

 

Cumbria Police and Crime Panel Meeting - Barrow Police Station, October 2018  

 

Photo: with thanks to Ellis Butcher – BBC Local Democracy Reporter 

  

 

Cumbria Police and Crime Panel Meeting – County Hall, Kendal, March 2019  

Photo: with thanks to Ellis Butcher – BBC Local Democracy Report  

  

  

29



Cumbria Police and Crime Panel - Annual Report 2019  

  

  

30



 

 
 

  

  
  

31



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Office of the Police & Crime 
Commissioner Report 
 

Title: Police and Crime Commissioner’s 
Annual Report 2018-2019 
 
Date:  12 July 2019
Originating Officer:   Community Engagement Officer

 
Executive Summary:  
 
This report presents the text for the Police and Crime Commissioner’s third Annual Report, 
covering the period from 1 April 2018 to the 31st March 2019.  The Annual Report is consistent with 
last year’s format and has been written with accessibility in mind, so that a member of the public 
can easily understand how the Commissioner has carried out his functions and what his key 
achievements have been so far.  
 
 
Recommendation: 
 
That the Panel considers the Annual Report.  
 
1.  Detail  
 

1.1. The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act (2011) requires Police and Crime 
Commissioners to produce an Annual Report for each financial year. The report must cover 
how the Commissioner has carried out his statutory functions, such as setting the budget, 
developing a Police and Crime Plan and holding the Chief Constable to account.  

 
The Annual Report for Cumbria’s Commissioner therefore highlights key areas of work 
undertaken in the time period, as well as details of priorities for the future in the Police and 
Crime Plan. The report includes: 
 

 A summary of accountability and statutory duties, including the role of the Public 
Accountability Board, Joint Audit and Standards Committee, Ethics and Integrity 
Panel, and the Police and Crime Panel; 

 For each of the eight main objectives in the Police and Crime Plan, a summary of 
progress to date. 

 Sections on: Partnership Working, Commissioning and Funding, and Monitoring the 
Plan. 

 

33

Agenda Item 9



 

1.2. The Annual Report has been set out in a way, and to a level of detail, which aims to be 
interesting and informative for the general public and is consistent with last year’s format. 
 

1.3. The proposal is to publish the Annual Report on the Commissioner’s website and to print a 
limited number of copies, which would be available on request and available at surgeries, 
events and to partners. 
 

1.4.  This approach builds on the experience of what worked well last year and is felt to provide the 
best value for money. There will be an option of a translated version of the Annual Report for 
non-English speakers, and Braille and large print versions will be available. For those not able 
to access the report online, printed copies can be requested. 
 

1.5. It is intended that a media release will be issued when the Annual Report has been approved. 
 
2.  Supplementary information 
 
2.1 The Annual Report is appended to this covering report. The Panel is invited to ask questions 

about the content of the Annual Report. 
 
3.     Implications 
  
 
3.1 Financial 
 The cost of printing the Annual Report has been included in the OPCC budget 
 
3.2 Legal 

The Police and Crime Commissioner has a statutory responsibility to produce an Annual 
Report. 
 

3.3 Risk 
 None 

 
3.4 HR / Equality 
 None 
 
 
 

 
 

34



www.cumbria-pcc.gov.uk

ANNUAL
REPORT
2018 - 2019

MAKING
CUMBRIA
EVEN SAFER

35



HELPING TO FIGHT CRIME 
IN YOUR COMMUNITY

SIGNAL MEDIA 
The Signal Media project provided a forum for young people to talk about diversity in a 
positive and open way whilst reflecting on what it means to be different and the underlying 
causes of hate crime. This project worked with both victims and potential perpetrators 
of crime, creating conversations, debate and exploration about hate crimes, individual 
differences, plus tolerance. At the same time Signal Media provided opportunities to gain 
social and vocational skills in a unique and appealing way, a chance to gain digital media, 
film and ICT skills in a style that conventional learning does not. Through making film 
content, victims of crime felt empowered and able to communicate their thoughts and 
beliefs to the wider community.

CARLISLE STREET PASTORS 
Carlisle Street Pastors and their calming influence have played a crucial 
role in helping to reduce crime and disorder in Carlisle city centre on 
Saturday nights. Apart from looking out for the welfare of those who 
may be at risk of harm, the Street Pastors also keep an eye out for 
potentially violent or dangerous situations and are able to alert the 
police to such incidents. They have made a real difference and these 
amazing group of volunteers are prepared to be on the streets, looking 
out for others and keeping them safe all year round, especially those 
who would otherwise be very vulnerable.

BRATHAY
Brathay Trust ‘Be SAVY’ (Be Safe and Value Yourself) 
has enabled young people who are identified as being 
vulnerable to child sexual exploitation (CSE) to undertake 
a group programme which builds their self-confidence, 
develops an understanding of what makes healthy 
relationships, how to identify grooming, as well as giving 
them healthy coping strategies. 

Many people perceive wrongly, that because Cumbria 
has a low crime rate CSE does not happen here. CSE 
can happen to any child, anywhere, which is why it is so 
important that people are aware of the issue. We owe it 
to our youngsters to ensure they are better equipped to 
recognise and deal with CSE and how to get help.

SEATON U13 FOOTBALL STRIP
Seaton Under 13 football team has provided a 
disciplined environment for young people to improve 
their fitness, attitudes to other team members, as 
well as the opposition and develop their respect for 
authority when put under pressure. The team strip 
and equipment has enabled new members, regardless 
of their background or socio-economic position, to 
instantly feel part of the squad, be fully kitted out, 
be a member of the club and everything it stands for. 
The team meets regularly on evenings, weekends and 
during school holidays, channelling their energies into 
fulfilling and worthwhile activity.

36



FOREWORD
by Peter McCall

There is no doubt that the 
challenges facing our police 

service are far greater than I 
ever imagined when I was first 

elected to the role. This has made me 
even more committed to being a strong voice for the people 
of Cumbria and for Cumbria Constabulary. Resource or being 
blunt, cash, is always going to be a challenge and I see it as my 
job to lobby hard for the government to do the right thing for 
our police service.

I often talk about ‘we not they’ and here in Cumbria, we are 
incredibly fortunate. There is true community spirt which makes 
a significant difference to help fight crime and tackle the issues 
that matter most to you. I have seen this in practical evidence 
around the county. This helps the force immensely, they cannot 
do the job without this and I am grateful to the public for this 
continued support. 

Cumbria Constabulary has recently been recognised by Her 
Majesty’s’ Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire (HMICFRS) as 
being ‘Good’ right across the board (one of only eleven forces 
across the country to be so well graded). In crime recording, 
Cumbria received an impressive standard of ‘Outstanding’ 
(only one other force achieved). However, our job is not to be 
complacent but to continue to improve and keep our county as 
one of the safest places to live. 

Reported crime in the UK and Cumbria is increasing and there 
are a number of reasons why this is happening. Not only has 
Cumbria Constabulary made improvements in the way that 
it records crime, victims now have more confidence to come 
forward and report. I really welcome this, as it supports the hard 
work undertaken by the Constabulary and my Office in giving 
victims the assurance that they will be listened to and, where 
there is a crime, it will be investigated. There has also been 
some actual increase in crime reporting as a result of greater 
proactive work around drugs and theft. This has been evident 
through Operation Horizon in Barrow, where organised criminals 
exploited ‘county lines’ to supply drugs from outside Cumbria. 
It is important to note that although there has been an increase 
in reported crime this year, I am assured by the Chief Constable 
that the level of crime in the county hasn’t increased but we are 
better at recording and getting an accurate perspective of what 
is actually happening. Cumbria is still a very safe place. 

This year Police and Crime Commissioners were given the 
opportunity to increase the policing element of the council 
tax by an unprecedented amount of £24 a month for a band 
D property (just over 10%). It was a very reluctant decision to 
propose any increase in the police precept and of course, I 
would prefer not to have to raise the precept at all; but I have 
to be realistic and honest, I will not side step these difficult 
issues. The reality is that if we want to retain our police officer 
numbers and indeed increase them to meet the rising demand 
on services, we have to be prepared to pay a bit more. The 
Chief Constable was very clear that the additional resources are 
essential to tackle some of the ‘unseen’ policing that needs to 
take place in the county keeping us all safe.

Policing is very much more 
than ‘Bobbies on the Beat’. 
There are some very real threats for 
example: from cyber-crime, child sexual 
exploitation, domestic violence, serious and 
organised crime groups running drugs into the county, which if 
not dealt with, will affect us all. Most of us in Cumbria will not 
see or experience these serious crimes. For example, county 
lines is happening in Cumbria, as mentioned earlier, and recently 
we have had reports of child sexual abuse, online grooming and 
stabbing incidents within our communities. I am determined we 
must contain and deal with serious crime, otherwise more of us 
will be affected. 

Cumbria is one of the few counties in the country where officer 
numbers are increasing so that we can keep our county as 
one of the safest places to live and work. As Police and Crime 
Commissioner, I am committed to keeping it that way. For 
most people in Cumbria, the increase in council tax amounts 
to an extra 36 pence per week. More than 70% of those who 
responded to the consultation on the council tax precept, 
feel that this increase is a price worth paying to maintain our 
security and safety across the county, especially for those who 
are vulnerable. Whilst I know that none of us want to pay more 
council tax, virtually every member of the public I speak to tells 
me they want to have more Police Officers. Today as I write this, 
I find myself reading yet another article in the local papers with a 
call for more police. I am sure we all understand that an increase 
in Police Officer numbers does not come for free. If we do not 
maintain our force and keep systems up to date (much like the 
maintenance on a car or house) it will be unable to run efficiently.

But to give you the facts, when I came into the job in 2016 
Cumbria had 1120 Police Officers, last year we increased the 
establishment to 1145 with the additional 25 officers (who were 
in place and part of the Proactive Neighbourhood Policing 
Teams by July 2018). This year our numbers will increase again 
to 1165. I said from the very start, that I would not make empty 
promises. I pledged that the additional funds would generate 
extra officers and this has been delivered. I wish I could deliver 
even more but I know there is only so much local tax payers can 
be expected to pay. In the meantime, I will continue to make the 
case very strongly to government for a better deal for Cumbria 
from central government funds.

Here in Cumbria we are continuing to drive improvements 
for victims. My Office has designed a Victim’s Quality 
Assessment Framework which is working well locally and across 
partner agencies.

Finally, my sincere thanks go to every officer, member of staff 
and all our volunteers for their continued commitment and 
hard work. Together, working hand in hand with the public and 
partners, we can tackle crime, anti-social behavior and continue 
to make Cumbria even safer.

Peter McCall 
Police and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria

FURTHER INFORMATION. You can find much more information about how I am 
carrying out my role on my website www.cumbria-pcc.gov.uk or you can also contact my office 
on 01768 217734 or email commissioner@cumbria-pcc.gov.uk

“This is my third annual report 
and it highlights the progress 
on delivering my Police and 
Crime Plan during 2018/2019”

37



THE YEAR
IN

NUMBERS

£113,000 DISTRIBUTED IN 
GRANTS THROUGH PCC 

GRANTS SCHEME 

£578,700 DISTRIBUTED 
THROUGH MINISTRY 
OF JUSTICE FUNDING 
FOR VICTIM SUPPORT 
SERVICES IN CUMBRIA 

140 PUBLIC MEETINGS 
AND EVENTS ATTENDED 

4 POLICE AND CRIME 
PANEL MEETINGS 

51 FREEDOM OF 
INFORMATION REQUESTS 

70% OF PEOPLE IN 
FAVOUR OF INCREASING 
THE POLICING PRECEPT 

512 QUALITY SERVICE  
POLICE ISSUES (QSPIS) 
AN INCREASE OF 80.92% 
FROM 2017/2018

2,161 RESPONSES TO THE 
PUBLIC CONSULTATION 
ON THE COUNCIL TAX 
PRECEPT 

38



POLICE AND
CRIME PLAN
OBJECTIVES

ALWAYS PUT VICTIMS FIRST
5

FOCUS OUR POLICE ON 
ONLINE AND SEXUAL CRIME 

6

SPEND YOUR MONEY WISELY
7

SUPPORTING
YOUNG PEOPLE 

8

A VISIBLE AND EFFECTIVE 
POLICE PRESENCE

2

TACKLE CRIME AND
ANTI-SOCIAL BEHAVIOUR

3

ENSURE OFFENDERS
FACE A CONSEQUENCE
FOR THEIR CRIME

4

YOUR PRIORITIES 
FOR CUMBRIA

1

39



1
YOUR PRIORITIES 
FOR CUMBRIA

WE ASKED
YOU SAID,
WE DID.

AND WHAT HAVE I DONE ABOUT THE THINGS YOU HAVE TOLD ME?
The table below summarises what action or activity has taken place in response to what the public have had to 
say, and what outcomes have been achieved.

YOU SAID... WHAT WE DID...

What you would be willing 
to pay for through the police 
precept.

In January 2018 the public were consulted on how much they would be prepared to pay 
for policing services in the county. 

70% of those who took part in the survey (2161) said they were in favour of the proposal 
to increase council tax precept. This was subsequently ratified by the Police and Crime 
Panel on 21 January 2018, and the budget was agreed at the Commissioner’s Public 
Accountability Conference on 14 February 2018.

You have concerns about 
police resources, visibility, 
level of service.

This area of concern is raised the most by members of the public. I have responded 
by investment of 25 extra police officers made in 2018/2019 and will further increase 
resources with an additional 20 in 2019/2020.

You have concerns about car 
parking, anti-social driving, 
speeding.

In response to what local residents raised as one of their main concerns, in December 
2018 I launched a year-long campaign to help keep Cumbria’s roads safer. Some of the 
themes covered throughout the year include; No Mobile When Mobile, Dangers of Drug/
Drink Driving and Speeding.

I have been working with partners such as Crimestoppers, Blue Light Services and local 
Community Speed Watch volunteers to raise awareness of these potential dangers.

Working with the local community,
the Police and partner agencies to:

 • Get feedback from members of the public 
across the county to understand what they 
think the Police’s priorities should be;

 • Support and enable community groups 
to prevent and tackle crime and disorder 
in their area.

40



YOU SAID... WHAT WE DID...

You have concerns around 
the performance of the 
non-emergency 101 service

In terms of concerns over the quality and level of service when members of the public 
have had contact with Cumbria Constabulary, members of the independent Ethics and 
Integrity Panel sat with officers and staff within the command and control room listening to 
‘live’ and pre-recorded calls. In conclusion the level of service identified overall is ‘good’.

The Constabulary publishes weekly updates on the time taken to answer 101 and 999 calls 
which members of the public can access.

The situation is improving and 999 emergency calls are being answered within 6 seconds 
(on average) and non-emergency calls are being answered within 4 minutes 51 seconds 
(on average). It must be said that at peak times, or when there are unusual events such as 
floods, call times are affected.

You have concerns about 
anti-social behaviour in 
your communities.

The additional 25 officers located within the Local Focus Hubs and the Neighbourhood 
Policing Teams have enabled a greater pro-active resource in dealing with local issues, 
such as anti-social behaviour.

Another approach has been for me to promote my vision of ‘we not they’, and empower 
local communities to find solutions themselves. To this end we have funded numerous 
projects through the Community and Property Funds to help prevent anti-social behaviour, 
more of which you can read about in this Annual Report.

41



SUPPORTING COMMUNITIES: 
MAKING A REAL DIFFERENCE
Again this year we have provided funding of over £133,000 for various 
projects from my Community Fund and Property Fund. Some examples 
of these projects include: Carlisle Retailers Against Crime, Signal Film & 
Media, Resource Creatives Enterprise and Women’s Community Matters.

VISIT: A full list of the funds available and what grants have been awarded can be found on my website at:

https://cumbria-pcc.gov.uk/what-we-do/funding/successful-applicantsgrant-agreements/

YOUR PRIORITIES 
FOR CUMBRIA

“I CONTINUE TO BE 
IMPRESSED WITH THE 
DEDICATION AND DRIVE 
OF THE PEOPLE WHO 
WANT TO CHAMPION 
THEIR CAUSES AND 
PROJECTS.”

PETER MCCALL
POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER 
FOR CUMBRIA

42



A VISIBLE AND EFFECTIVE 
POLICE PRESENCE

2

LOOK AT HOW WE PROVIDE 
VISIBLE UNIFORMED POLICING 
IN OUR COMMUNITIES.
With support from the public, we were able to recruit an 
additional 25 police officers during 2018/2019 to deliver 
targeted proactive policing, dealing robustly with crime 
and to help increase police visibility across the county. The 
new recruits are now deployed within the Neighbourhood 
Policing Teams and this goes hand-in-hand with the launch 
of the six district based Local Focus Hubs. These central 
hubs bring together partner agencies who work jointly 
to effectively support and prioritise the needs of local 
communities. Local Facebook focus groups have been 
created and allow the public to liaise directly with the 
police and other agencies.

In addition to this, further support from the public through 
an increase in council tax, enabled me to secure additional 
investment of 20 extra officers. This enhance the force’s 
capability to deal with online and digital crime, including 
child sexual exploitation.

“A SIGNIFICANT PART OF 
MY STATUTORY ROLE IS TO 
OVERSEE THE PERFORMANCE 
OF CUMBRIA CONSTABULARY, 
AND HOLDING THE CHIEF 
CONSTABLE TO ACCOUNT FOR 
THE DELIVERY OF EFFECTIVE 
POLICING IN THE COUNTY ON 
BEHALF OF THE PUBLIC.

I HAVE DEMONSTRATED THIS 
OVER THE LAST YEAR, IN A 
NUMBER OF WAYS.”

PETER MCCALL
POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR CUMBRIA

Working with the local community,
the Police and partner agencies to:

 • Look at how we provide visible uniformed 
policing in our communities;

 • Make sure the Police are engaged in 
our local communities to understand 
local issues;

 • Make sure the Police understand and are 
tackling the types of crimes which are 
affecting people today;

 • Collaborate with other forces and agencies 
in specialist areas;

 • Make improvements in the areas which 
recent inspections of the Police found 
could be done better;

 • Make sure the Police are ready to deal 
with threats which develop in or affect a 
wider area than Cumbria, including civil 
emergencies/natural disasters, terrorism, 
cyber-attacks, organised crime and 
public order.

43



A VISIBLE AND EFFECTIVE 
POLICE PRESENCE

UNDERSTANDING LOCAL ISSUES
Both the Constabulary and I have provided many 
opportunities for members of the public to express 
their opinions about policing in their area. For example 
engagement events such as surgeries, drop-in sessions, 
police desks and Pub Watch schemes, where people 
have discussed issues that are important to them and 
understand how they can make a positive contribution to 
keeping our communities safe. The use of social media 
and technology is also helping the force to maximise 
visibility and engagement.

As predicted at the end of 2018/2019, Cumbria saw an 
increase of 29% in recorded crime when compared to 
the previous year. Although this figure may initially raise 
concerns, it is important to understand the background to 
this larger than normal rise. Reported crime has increased 
across the UK as well as in Cumbria. The increase is mainly 
due to changes in the way that crime is now recorded and 
the HMICFRS have recently graded Cumbria Constabulary 
as Outstanding for crime recording, with only one other 
force in the country achieving such standard. In practical 
terms this means that crime is being reported and 
classified correctly meaning that victims are receiving the 
correct policing response and support. I am also assured 
by the Chief Constable that Cumbria is still as safe as it was 
twelve months ago.

It is incredibly important to ensure that the right response 
from the police is provided to all victims, and it is 
encouraging that more victims now have the confidence to 
report. 

The ‘Outstanding’ grade from the experts who inspect 
every force in the country confirms that we, in Cumbria are 
very well served by our police officers and staff, and I am 
also assured by the Chief Constable that Cumbria is still as 
safe as it was twelve months ago. 

These are areas that we have all worked incredibly hard to 
give victims the confidence to come forward and report, 
and I take from this that the message is being heard by 
victims and vulnerable people.

MAKE SURE THE POLICE ARE 
READY TO DEAL WITH THREATS 
SUCH AS NATURAL DISASTERS, 
TERRORISM AND PUBLIC ORDER
The police remain a key multi agency partner and 
responder to natural disasters within the county, for 
example severe weather. I receive reassurance around 
these events through weekly one -to-ones with the Chief 
Constable and regular Public Accountability Conferences. 
The Chief Constable has assured me that we are meeting 
the national Strategic Policing Requirement and when 
required provide mutual aid across the policing family 
between different counties.

44



Data to December 18
45



TACKLE CRIME AND
ANTI-SOCIAL BEHAVIOUR

3

TACKLE DOMESTIC ABUSE EARLY 
ON TO STOP PEOPLE SUFFERING
We fund a number of projects specifically to address 
domestic abuse such as Turning the Spotlight, Operation 
Encompass, Step-Up, Petals Programme – Women’s 
Community Matters, an Integrated Independent Domestic 
and Sexual Abuse Crisis Support Service, and Feel The 
Hate. 

Victim Support is commissioned to provide the Turning 
the Spotlight programme which works with perpetrators, 
victims and their families, using restorative principles to 
help service users better understand and maintain healthy 
relationships, reducing incidents of domestic abuse. It is a 
ground-breaking initiative developed in Cumbria in 2015, 
and is accessible county-wide, either by self-referral or 
through referral from partners (such as Children’s Social 
Services) or the police. During January 2018 to December 
2018, the project supported 85 perpetrators of domestic 
abuse and 68 victims. Children or young people were 
involved in 86% of cases.

Working with the local community,
the Police and partner agencies to:

 • Tackle domestic abuse early on to stop 
people suffering;

 • Address hate crime and make it clear it will 
not be tolerated; 

 • Address crime which affects people in rural 
parts of the county;

 • Be proactive in tackling anti-social 
behaviour;

 • Make it easy and effective to report crime 
and anti-social behaviour;

 • Tackle alcohol and substance misuse, 
including new psychoactive substances;

 • Focus on serious and organised crime;

 • Target speeding and dangerous driving;

 • Protect the vulnerable and elderly from 
crime, such as online crime.

46



The types of abuse(s) the perpetrator had committed when 
referred to the programme were as follows: 65% physical; 
3% sexual; 65% coercive and controlling behaviour and 
50% harassment and stalking. Following support from the 
project the number of clients perpetrating each type of 
abuse substantially reduced and the number of service 
users perpetrating at least one type of high severity abuse 
decreased. Also, the reported level of risk to service users 
changed significantly. One service user described how the 
programme has made them think differently about their 
relationship:

“Made me realise that my relationship wasn’t as 
healthy as I may have thought it was originally.”

We recently funded the specialist project Operation 
Encompass, following the successful pilot scheme in 
2017. Operation Encompass is designed to provide early 
reporting to schools of any domestic abuse incidents 
that occurs outside of school hours and might have an 
impact on a child attending the school the following day. 
It is a partnership between the Constabulary, Cumbria 
County Council, the local Children’s Safeguarding Hub and 
schools. This project is providing early, efficient trauma-
informed support to children of domestic abuse across the 
county.

ADDRESS HATE CRIME AND 
MAKE IT CLEAR IT WILL NOT BE 
TOLERATED
More than 6,000 secondary school students are now more 
aware of coercive control and domestic abuse in teenage 
intimate relationships, having attended a Tough Love school 
performance during November and December 2018.

Raising awareness of hate incidents and crime, plus giving 
both victims and witnesses the confidence to come forward 
and receive the support they need is important to me. 
Through my commissioning budget, we have funded 
Alter Ego to deliver ‘Feel the Hate’, a bespoke Cumbrian 
educational theatre production delivered in secondary 
schools aimed at raising awareness of hate crime, its 
impact and where to go for help and advice. The play was 
delivered in 50 schools across Cumbria during September 
and October 2018. Feedback from schools has shown that 
young people now feel better informed about hate crime 
and that some schools are continuing to raise awareness in 
their lessons:

“The production was excellent and I have nothing but 
praise for the actors. Their enthusiasm and engagement 
with the students was great and provoked some good 
discussion, which several of the schools have taken 
forward into lessons.”

In 2018, we commissioned Signal Film and Media to 
deliver a project aimed at raising awareness and addressing 
hate crime towards young people in Cumbria. The project 
uses the unique power of film and media to engage 
and educate both victims and potential offenders about 
what it means to be different and the underlying causes 
of hate crime. The project offered young people aged 
between 14 and 19 years old the opportunity to attend 
a series of workshops where they explored their values, 
identity and gender using creative film and media within 
a safe and supported forum. This gave the participants a 
voice, strengthened their sense of self and increased their 
confidence.

47



TACKLE CRIME AND
ANTI-SOCIAL BEHAVIOUR

ADDRESS CRIME WHICH AFFECTS 
PEOPLE IN RURAL PARTS OF THE 
COUNTY
We have promoted the national Rural Reporting Line 
to encourage victims to come forward and report rural 
crime. Building on the success of last year’s launch 
‘Country Watch West’, there are now similar schemes in 
other areas of the county. In November 2018 I joined the 
local police and the NFU to launch ‘Country Watch South 
Lakes and Dales’ and Rural Reporting Line. This scheme 
encourages reporting amongst the farming community 
and helps to increase the number of intelligence reports 
submitted to the police. 

I have seen first-hand Operation Checkpoint, the multi-
agency response to crime across our neighbouring 
forces. Rural crime is not only about sheep worrying, farm 
machinery theft and deer poaching, it is any crime or anti-
social behaviour experienced by people living in sparsely 
populated areas. This is why I am so keen to extend visible 
Neighbourhood Policing right across the county – in both 
urban and rural areas. 

BE PROACTIVE IN TACKLING 
ANTI-SOCIAL BEHAVIOUR
I am encouraged by the latest statistics that show that 
the number of antisocial behaviour incidents has fallen by 
19.4% and youth antisocial behaviour by 31%. 

However, this does not mean that we can become 
complacent. We will continue to invest in a number of 
schemes through the Property Fund and Community Fund 
which help to provide diversionary, positive and healthy 
activities for young people. In 2018 some of these included:

• Aspatria Hornets to purchase new training equipment 
and train a number of new coaches to support their 
ever expanding junior section.

• Egremont Youth Partnership to purchase material, 
shrubs and other horticultural items for their Youth Club 
to enable the renovation of an overgrown unused back 
yard area to be utilised as an outside learning zone 
with a sensory garden.

• Botcherby Community Association to deliver 
Summer Splash activity sessions over the school 
holidays.

• Furness Catholic Amateur Boxing Club to purchase 
additional equipment for the local boxing club junior 
section, as more than 30 young adults attend the club 
each week and attendance numbers are still increasing.

48



TACKLE ALCOHOL AND 
SUBSTANCE MISUSE, INCLUDING 
NEW PSYCHOACTIVE 
SUBSTANCES
The Hub at Egerton Court in Barrow, has been working 
with the police and other agencies, providing direct 
support right at the heart of where it is needed most, with 
many of the residents experiencing problems such as 
substance misuse, mental health issues, housing instability 
and material poverty. This project has helped to strengthen 
well-being and community cohesion in the area, and is 
having real impact.

We have also continued to support The Carlisle Street 
Pastors who help to keep young people safe during 
nights out in the city centre. The Street Pastors support 
vulnerable people experiencing the effects of excessive 
drinking, help night time revellers and support bar/door 
staff, the police and paramedics. A similar service is now 
running with Street Angels.

In the South of the county young people aged 16 and 17 
years old attended a new psychoactive substance workshop 
delivered by Youth Engagement Services (South 
Lakeland CIC). This provided a better understanding of the 
consequences of buying/taking drugs, the different types of 
drugs available, and how to manage a situation if a friend 
or peer is in trouble. Feedback included:

“The session really made me think about the things we 
do as teenagers and how this can affect us later in life, 
I didn’t realise you could get in trouble for giving your 
mates drugs and I hadn’t really thought about where 
the drugs could have come from and the chance that 
they could be harmful.”

“FINANCIAL SUPPORT FROM 
OUR PARTNERS AND THE POLICE 
& CRIME COMMISSIONER 
HAS HELPED US BUILD EVEN 
STRONGER WORKING RELATIONS. 
IT MEANS FUNDS ARE DIRECTED 
TO THE PLACES WITH THE 
GREATEST NEED AND HAVE THE 
BIGGEST IMPACT.

THE LOCAL FOCUS HUB AT 
BARROW AND THE WORK FROM 
THE WELL IN EGERTON COURT 
PROJECT HAS BEEN AT THE 
CENTRE OF THIS APPROACH, 
MAKING COMMUNITIES SAFER 
AND THEREBY REDUCING 
DEMAND FOR ALL FOR THE LONG 
TERM.”

JIM BAILEY
COMMUNITY INSPECTOR 

FOCUS ON SERIOUS AND 
ORGANISED CRIME
I am assured that the force are taking a very proactive 
stance regarding serious and organised crime and are 
making good progress.

I was involved in a large scale operation targeting County 
Lines drug supply activity in Barrow, called Operation 
Horizon. This operation was ten months in the planning 
following 12 drug deaths in Barrow from December 
2017 and resulted in multiple arrests and the seizure of 
thousands of pounds in cash and quantities of heroin and 
crack cocaine. As of March 2019 there have been more 
than 30 arrests as a result of this operation and due to the 
Criminal Justice Law, as the investigation is still on-going, 
we are unable to provide further details at this time.

crimestoppers-uk.org

She smells 
of alcohol 
on the 
school  
run.
Do you know someone 
who regularly drink 
drives? Your information 
could save lives. 

Contact Crimestoppers  
100%  Anonymous. Always.

In an emergency always contact 999.

Crimestoppers Trust is a registered charity.

UK Registration Nos. 1108687/SC037960.

Working together to make Cumbria safer

crimestoppers-uk.org

He drives 
home drunk 
after work. 

Crimestoppers Trust is a registered charity.UK Registration Nos. 1108687/SC037960.

Do you know someone who regularly drink drives? Your information could save lives. 
Contact Crimestoppers  100%  Anonymous. Always.
In an emergency always contact 999.

Working together to make Cumbria safer

crimestoppers-uk.org

He drives home drunk from the village  pub. 

Crimestoppers Trust is a registered charity.UK Registration Nos. 1108687/SC037960.

Do you know someone who regularly drink drives? Your information could save lives. 
Contact Crimestoppers  100%  Anonymous. Always.
In an emergency always contact 999.

Working together to make Cumbria safer

crimestoppers-uk.org

She has  
shots with us, 
then drives 
home. 

Crimestoppers Trust is a registered charity.

UK Registration Nos. 1108687/SC037960.

Do you know someone 

who regularly drink 

drives? Your information 

could save lives. 

Contact Crimestoppers  

100%  Anonymous. Always.

In an emergency always contact 999.

Working together to make Cumbria safer

TARGET SPEEDING AND 
DANGEROUS DRIVING
In December 2018, the Chief Constable and I launched a 
year-long campaign to help keep Cumbria’s roads safer, in 
response to what local residents reported as one of their 
main concerns within their community. Throughout the 
campaign, I have been working with partners and local 
communities to highlight the many aspects of safer driving, 
focusing on a different theme each month. In December, 
we focused on the dangers of driving whilst under the 
influence of drugs and drink, as the temptation to drive 
whilst over the limit can increase during this festive period. 

In partnership with Crimestoppers we ran a campaign 
encouraging the public to speak up about regular drink 
driving, using real life examples taken from information 
the charity has received at their UK Contact Centre. For 
example, a work colleague regularly driving home drunk 
after going to the pub from work and a mum still drunk on 
the morning school run. Crimestoppers received a record 
number of reports on drink driving during December and 
also had an increase in the number of reports regarding 
disqualified/uninsured drivers and other motoring offences.

49



ENSURE OFFENDERS
FACE A CONSEQUENCE
FOR THEIR CRIME

4

MANAGE OFFENDERS IN
THE COMMUNITY AFTER 
RELEASE FROM PRISON
OR A COURT SENTENCE.
I have been kept fully and regularly briefed by the 
Constabulary on how offenders are managed in the 
community through my Public Accountability Conferences. 
I am reassured through this process that the Constabulary 
is effectively managing offenders, including prolific 
offenders and those that pose a significant risk.

The OPCC staff have also attended the Constabulary’s 
monthly Tasking & Coordination meetings which has 
provided further assurance as to how the Constabulary is 
managing offenders and working with partners to ensure 
Cumbria remains a safe county.

Working with the local community,
the Police and partner agencies to:

 • Manage offenders in the community after 
release from prison or a court sentence;

 • Give victims the chance to meet with or 
write to the person who committed the 
crime so they can explain the impact it has 
had (Restorative Justice);

 • Make sure the Police give victims the 
opportunity to say how an offender 
should make amends for lower level crime 
(Community Remedy).

50



GIVE VICTIMS THE CHANCE TO 
MEET WITH OR WRITE TO THE 
PERSON WHO COMMITTED THE 
CRIME SO THEY CAN EXPLAIN 
THE IMPACT IT HAS HAD 
(RESTORATIVE JUSTICE)
We have continued to fund Remedi, a not-for-profit 
company to provide restorative justice services across 
Cumbria. Restorative Justice gives victims the opportunity 
to safely meet with or communicate via other means, with 
the person who committed the crime against them, so they 
can explain the impact it has had upon them and others 
close to them. They have been able to ask questions and 
gain answers which provided them with greater feelings of 
closure and enabled them to better cope and recover from 
the incident. Going through the restorative justice process 
has also been proven to have more impact on some 
offenders than simply having a prison sentence or other 
court punishment. 

Between April 2018 and the end of March 2019, Remedi 
facilitated 61 indirect victim and offender forms of 
communication (such as the exchange of letters) and 24 
direct interventions (face-to-face meetings).

MAKE SURE THE POLICE GIVE 
VICTIMS THE OPPORTUNITY TO 
SAY HOW AN OFFENDER SHOULD 
MAKE AMENDS FOR LOWER 
LEVEL CRIME (COMMUNITY 
REMEDY)
The Out of Court Scrutiny Panel has provided me with 
visibility of how the Constabulary is administering out of 
court disposals. The panel chaired by the OPCC, is made 
up of representatives from across the criminal justice system 
and victim support services who meet three times a year. 
It has provided transparency and accountability in how the 
Constabulary uses out of court disposals, with particular 
focus on the delivery of appropriate and proportionate 
justice.

In 2018, the panel reviewed 92 cases across the three 
meetings. Overall findings indicated that officers 
are showing a high degree of professionalism when 
investigating crimes and considering the appropriate 
disposal to the severity of offending and type of offence, 
and taking into account the views of the victim when 
deciding to exercise an out of court disposal. Specific 
vulnerable groups such as Looked After Children and 
people with mental health issues, featured in a number 
of cases. It was clear that officers had considered the 
most appropriate and effective outcome when reaching 
a decision. The panel also found that there was a high level 
of decision making rationale in cases involving 
young people.

In some cases presented to the panel, members raised 
concerns with how the outcome was recorded or disagreed 
with the outcome entirely. However, in all cases where 
issues were raised, guidance and advice was given to the 
officer and decision maker, which then contributed to 
training and improvements in the Constabulary’s policies. 

51



ALWAYS PUT VICIMS FIRST
5

SUPPORT AND GIVE FUNDS, 
WHERE POSSIBLE, TO 
ORGANISATIONS OFFERING HELP 
AND SUPPORT SERVICES TO 
VICTIMS OF CRIME, INCLUDING 
ENHANCED SERVICES FOR 
MORE SERIOUS CRIMES AND 
VULNERABLE VICTIMS
We have worked with funding partners Cumbria County 
Council, the Constabulary, NHS England, Local District 
Councils and other agencies to develop the support 
available for people who have been affected by crime and 
abuse. We have brought together a number of services, 
previously commissioned separately, to create a ‘gateway’ 
through which people can access emotional, practical 
and advocacy support services quickly. This will enhance 
people’s experience of getting help by having a focus 
on the development of the pathway to support, with the 
aspiration of providing the ‘right support by the right 
person’.

Victim Support is a key service whose role includes 
contacting victims of crime who have reported to the 
police, conducting a needs assessment to identify what 
support the person needs and providing appropriate 
information and help from a package of services. Members 
of the public have also been able to contact the service 
directly, where they do not wish to involve the police or 
those who were considering reporting to the police were 
supported to understand the process and helped to make 
the first step.

Working with the local community,
the Police and partner agencies to:

 • Support and give funds, where possible, 
to organisations offering help and support 
services to victims of crime, including 
enhanced services for more serious crimes 
and vulnerable victims;

 • Listen to and stand up for the rights of 
victims;

 • Make sure that agencies who work with 
victims of crime meet national standards 
(the national Code of Practice for Victims 
of Crime);

 • Make it quicker and easier to get people 
who are having a mental health crisis to be 
taken to a place of safety and a suitable 
service so they get help quickly and police 
officers do not have to spend as much time 
doing this.

TAKES YOUR IDENTITY DOCUMENTSTHREATENS YOU, YOUR FAMILY OR LOVED ONESFORCES YOU TO BE AVAILABLE TO WORK DAY AND NIGHTTAKES MONEY FROM YOUR PAY 
CONTROLS YOUR HOUSING AND SLEEPING ARRANGEMENTS 

Y O U  A R E  B E I N G  E X P L O I T E D  I F  S O M E O N E  Y O U  W O R K  F O R :

IF YOU OR SOMEONE YOU KNOW IS IN IMMEDIATE DANGER CALL 999  

w w w . s t o p t h e t r a f f i k . o r g

For confidential help or to report a suspicion: Modern Slavery Helpline                                                                  0800 0121 700 To anonymously report a crime:  
Crimestoppers                                                                                     0800 555 111 

52



CASE STUDY
An older female who had been experiencing intimidation 
and nuisance behaviour, including being spat at, by a 
neighbour had contacted the police and was referred to 
Victim Support. This was having a significant impact on 
her life and her mental health, making her afraid to go out. 
She reported that she had asked family and friends to stop 
visiting her because she was afraid what the neighbour would 
do or say to them. The Independent Victim’s Advocate made 
weekly phone calls to the victim, to give her an opportunity 
to talk about what was happening and work through ways to 
improve the situation. This included supporting her to begin 
to leave the house again and to develop her network of 
support so that she did not feel so lonely. They also planned 
ways to make her home feel more secure and provided 
window and door alarms. The service user reported that 
she really appreciated the support and the weekly phone 
calls gave her something to stay alive for, where she had 
considered ending her own life before that time. 

Our innovative Turning the Spotlight programme that 
takes a preventative and holistic approach to working with 
perpetrators, victims and their families, using restorative 
principals to prevent and reduce incidents of domestic 
abuse, has had 111 people complete the programme in 
2018/2019 and had a positive impact:

“THE COURSE HAS MADE ME MORE OF AN 
UNDERSTANDING PERSON AND MY WHOLE 
FAMILY HAS BENEFITTED AS I TOOK HOME 
WHAT I HAD LEARNT AND PUT IT INTO ACTION.”

“I DIDN’T THINK THERE WAS ANYTHING OUT 
THERE FOR MEN TO HELP AND I’M REALLY 
GLAD THAT I WAS REFERRED TO TURNING THE 
SPOTLIGHT. I THINK BEFORE ACTING NOW 
AND CONSIDER THE CONSEQUENCES OF MY 
ACTIONS.”

106 families have participated in the Step Up programme 
this year, with additional funding being provided for the high 
demand in the Barrow area. Everyone who completed 
the feedback survey felt it had had a positive effect 
on their quality of life in terms of bringing about 
positive changes in their relationship, both for 
parent/guardians and young people.

We commissioned anti-social behaviour 
workshops that have been delivered 
to 1556 children and young people 
addressing positive decision making 
and the impact of getting involved 
in anti-social behaviour, gangs, 
serious organised crime and victim 
awareness. Feedback included:

“The workshop helped 
reinforce messages about what 
it means to be a good citizen. 
I don’t think they realised 
that some of the low level 
behaviours some of them are 
getting involved in are serious. 
So getting that message from 
other professionals was just 
what they needed.”

We have funded a number of programmes delivered through 
women’s centres: Womens Community Matters in Barrow 
and Gateway 4 Women in Carlisle and the soon to be 
launched Women Out West in Whitehaven. The centres 
offer a range of social groups, services and support for 
women in the local area, which includes victims of domestic 
abuse and people (including young people) at risk of or who 
have offended.

Alongside Safer Cumbria, we have funded the role for a 
Modern Slavery, Human Trafficking Co-ordinator to 
ensure that all multi-agency partners work together to 
support victims of Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking, 
and to investigate perpetrators of these crimes. In 2018 
there has been a 36% increase in Modern Slavery Victims 
being referred into the National Referral Mechanism across 
the UK compared to 2017, with the number of minors being 
referred increasing by 48% compared with the previous year. 
In the past 12 months there have been 10 victims of Human 
Trafficking in Cumbria, some of whom have been linked with 
county lines. There have also been investigations into victims 
of forced labour on fishing trawlers, nail bars and victims who 
have been forced into sex work in our communities. 

We agreed to fund the state-of-the-art Body-Worn Video 
(BWV) equipment, as pictured below, and I am delighted 
that it has started to make a real difference to policing 
in Cumbria. It has enabled evidence to become quickly 
available to the Crown Prosecution Service and thereby 
reduced time spent by officers preparing evidence. The 
system has also been used as a link for victims to send 
private CCTV footage, again saving time. Video evidence 
removes a lot of uncertainty and while the BWV’s does not 
pick up on everything an officer sees, they have helped to 
paint a much clearer picture of what happens and provided 
vital evidence that has been later used in court. Wearing 
the devices has helped to de-escalate anti-social behaviour, 
has led to a reduction in the number of assaults on police 
officers and also a reduction in the number of complaints 
and allegations made against police officers. Anything that 
increases police efficiency and accountability can only be a 
good thing.

53



ALWAYS PUT VICIMS FIRST

LISTEN TO AND STAND UP FOR 
THE RIGHTS OF VICTIMS
My Victims Advocate has:

• Been involved in all initial officer training, using real life 
examples to raise awareness of the impact and ripple 
effects of crime, and provide information and insight 
into the support services available for victims. 

• Evaluated responses from criminal justice agencies 
involved in Cumbria’s Quality Assessment Framework 
which measures compliance against the Victims Code 
of Practice. 

• Worked with Cumbria County Council to dip-sample 
high and medium risk domestic abuse cases referred 
into Victims Support to evaluate the quality of service 
provided.

• Worked closely with the Constabulary to inform the 
development of their new Victims Booklet – ‘Putting 
Victims First’. 

• Reviewed and developed further the Cumbria 
Together Website which provides guidance & advice 
for victims for crime and antisocial behaviour.

• Co-ordinated and chaired the quarterly Victims & 
Witnesses Consultation Group, made up of individuals 
who have been a victim of crime or antisocial 
behaviour. The group has provided feedback on 
their first-hand personal experience and acted as a 
sounding board for potential service developments. 

The good practice learnt from the Multi-Agency Crisis 
Assessment Centre MACAS project last year is now 
embedded and has improved the pathway for people 
experiencing a mental health crisis.

Dignity in Dementia received 117 referrals during 
2018/2019 and the service offered families the opportunity 

to have an emotional trigger assessment to identify the 
triggers that exacerbate behaviours in the person 

living with dementia. Such triggers often result in 
involvement from the police, for example if a 

person going missing or believe an item has 
been stolen from them, which is in fact with 

a relative or somewhere they are not able 
to remember. Following this, the service 
offered advice and support to families 
to put in place strategies to reduce or 
stop these types of behaviour. 

54



FOCUS OUR POLICE ON 
ONLINE AND SEXUAL CRIME 

6

HELP MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 
TO BE AWARE OF THE RISK OF 
ONLINE CRIMES AND KEEP 
THEMSELVES SAFE ONLINE
Increasingly people live their lives online, whether it be 
through their mobile phone, tablet or computer. This 
has changed the way that criminals target individuals, 
businesses and communities. Get Safe Online who 
deliver our three-year cyber-proficiency programme, 
has continued to work with the three Community 
Safety Partnerships. Fifteen training sessions were held 
during 2018/2019 helping to protect participants against 
fraud, identity theft, viruses and other security threats, 
as well as wider safety issues related to meeting people 
online.

A total of 318 people successfully completed the training 
sessions. Feedback has been overwhelmingly positive, 
and participants have reported that they feel more able 
to spot a cyber-crime attempt. One delegate’s feedback 
sums up what many others have reported:

“Fantastic, I consider myself tech savvy, but have 
learned new ways to protect myself”. 

As so many local companies and their customers rely on 
the internet; from doing business banking, to running 
their entire commercial operation online, I also worked 
in partnership with Cumbria’s Chamber of Commerce, 
Get Safe Online and the police, and arranged a free 
Business On-Line Security event, where top business 
experts helped raise awareness on how local businesses 
in Cumbria could protect themselves from cyber-attacks.

To further raise public awareness of online safety we 
hosted a two-day event in the centre of Workington’s 
shopping area in June 2018, during which hundreds 
of local people engaged with experts from Get Safe 
Online, NatWest and Lloyds banks, O2 and Kaspersky 
and thousands were given information leaflets. The Mini 
Police from Victoria Junior School carried out a survey 
with members of the public to gauge how safe they were 
online. This also provided an opportunity to develop the 
children’s understanding of safe practices.

The OPCC and the Constabulary are also increasing 
people’s safety online through public information and 
marketing campaigns via social media. The reach of these 
messages is significant as both organisations have many 
Facebook and Twitter followers.

CRIMES COMMITTED ONLINE
I have been kept fully and regularly briefed by the 
Constabulary of how it is managing online crime through 
the Public Accountability Conferences. The OPCC staff 
also attended the Constabulary’s monthly Tasking & 
Coordination Meetings which has helped to provide further 
assurance, including how the Constabulary is working with 
partners to ensure Cumbria remains a safe county.

Following my public consultation on the council tax 
precept in 2018, we secured additional revenue to 
increase capacity to deal with online crimes, including the 
concerning rise in child sexual exploitation and grooming 
on line. We have been able to support the Constabulary 
to increase resource in its Digital Media Investigation 
Unit, providing capacity and capability to deal with the 
continuing rise in cyber related crime.

Working with the local community,
the Police and partner agencies to:

 • Help members of the public to be aware 
of the risk of online crimes and keep 
themselves safe online;

 • Prevent grooming, child sexual exploitation 
and sexual abuse;

 • Make sure the Police have up-to-date 
information on crimes committed using a 
computer or computer network and that 
they are able to deal with this;

 • Support services for victims of sexual crime, 
including child sexual exploitation and 
encourage more people to come forward.

55



FOCUS OUR POLICE ON 
ONLINE AND SEXUAL CRIME 

SUPPORT SERVICES FOR VICTIMS 
OF SEXUAL CRIME, INCLUDING 
CHILD SEXUAL EXPLOITATION 
AND ENCOURAGE MORE 
PEOPLE TO COME FORWARD
The new Integrated Independent Domestic Abuse & 
Sexual Abuse Crisis Support Service has helped to 
reduce the risk posed to victims of domestic abuse and 
sexual abuse, from further abuse and start the journey 
of recovery from the impact of prolonged abuse or a 
traumatic assault. The service has provided support, 
practical help and advocacy to victims of domestic 
abuse at the highest risk of harm and to survivors of 
rape and serious sexual assault. We commissioned this 
service on the 1st May 2018, working with Cumbria 
County Council and a number of partner agencies 
to provide a more joined-up service for victims and 
increase the resilience of specialist support, by bringing 
together two previously separate services. It has also 
offered a 24 hour-a-day support line meaning that 
people can always get in touch for help. The Integrated 
Independent Domestic Abuse & Sexual Abuse Crisis 
Support Service forms one part of The Bridgeway 
package of support for victims of sexual assault and 
abuse, which also includes the forensic-medical 
examination service, 24/7 helpline, crisis workers and 
therapeutic services.

Between January 2018 and December 2018, The 
Bridgeway service provided a range of support to 
people who had experienced sexual assault or abuse:

• 281 people contacted the helpline or were referred 
into the Bridgeway ‘hub’, 

• 153 examinations were conducted,

• 224 people took part in therapeutic services,

• 188 people were supported by an Independent 
Sexual Violence Advisor,

• Over a quarter of clients were under 18 years of age 
(and 40% of those who were seen for a forensic-
medical examination)

Clients were referred to a multitude of agencies for 
follow-on support. These included the sexual health 
service, mental health services, the client’s GP, and 
hospital for further care. The feedback from service 
users have been extremely encouraging, with one 
commenting:

“Amazing support. Made me feel comfortable and able 
to talk. Everything was explained on a level which was 
respectful and friendly.”

“I thought the time spent in the Bridgeway was fantastic 
especially for the child. The examination was very 
respectful & professional.”

“We were treated with the upmost respect from the 
moment we arrived to leaving. Everything was fully 
explained clearly to us.”

During 2018/2019, the Bridgeway’s therapeutic service 
worked with 224 service users to help them understand 
and deal with the impact of the trauma of a sexual assault 
or sustained sexual abuse. This has included an offer of 
therapeutic support before a case goes to court, ensuring 
that victims can get some help without this negatively 
impacting on how their evidence is viewed at a trial. In 
feedback, the majority of people have reported that they 
felt able to cope without the support of the service and that 
they had seen an improvement in their well-being. We have 
continued to work with the providers Safety Net UK and 
The Birchall Trust to improve the consistency of services 
available across the county and to help reduce waiting lists. 

Through working with the Constabulary, we identified a 
level of concern around young people ‘sexting’, sending 
naked/ indecent images of themselves or other young 
people to others by text and messaging services, which 
was creating a substantial call on police time. We funded 
a Sexting Project to be delivered in workshops in primary, 
secondary schools and colleges to raise understanding of 
the impact of sharing such images. 3,600 young people in 
19 schools have benefited from the ‘You Decide’ Sexting 
and Healthy Relationships workshops and feedback has 
been overwhelmingly positive:

“The young people have now realised how the images can 
spread and the implications it can have on their mental 
health, as well as the repercussions for the future.”

“It was a really good workshop and it is so important the 
young people get the facts and gain an understanding of 
how quickly a simple text can get out of control.”

During 2018/2019, we have continued to fund Chelsea’s 
Choice, a theatre production which helps pupils to 
recognise the signs of grooming and the dangers 
associated with sexual exploitation. The feedback showed 
that the production had made a significant impression on 
its audience, generated lots of discussion and made the 
topic of grooming easier to discuss. It also resulted in a 
number of disclosures by young people. 

“The students and staff thought the performance of 
Chelsea’s Choice were fantastic. It was hard hitting and 
left many students discussing the topics for a good 
few days in classes across the school. Students were 
engaged and asked relevant questions. They thought 
it was useful and were shocked how drawn in they 
became and how strongly they felt for the characters. 
They especially valued the feedback session at the end 
of the performance.”

56



SPEND YOUR 
MONEY WISELY

7

FIGHT HARD TO PROTECT 
THE BUDGET FOR POLICING 
CUMBRIA
ENSURING POLICE AND CRIME SERVICES WORK 
AS EFFICIENTLY AS POSSIBLE.

Over the last year we have:

• Ensured that expenditure for 2018/2019 was within 
2% (£200k) of the budget. The overspend was largely 
the result of a conscious decision to recruit both more 
officers and earlier than planned to deliver my policing 
pledge.

• Graded as ‘Outstanding’ for crime recording by Her 
Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire and 
Rescue Services (HMICFRS).

• Graded as ‘Good’ across all areas of efficiency and 
how we use our resources by HMICFRS.

• Delivered £1.3m of on-going savings.

• Received praise for the quality of our latest accounts 
and an unqualified audit opinion. 

BUDGET 2019/20 – HIGHLIGHTS

• Government grant funding continues to fall in ‘real 
terms’.

• Following public consultation, we reluctantly decided 
to increase the council tax by £23.97 for a Band D 
property, which equates to 10.29%

WHERE THE MONEY COMES FROM

SINCE 2010/11 CORE GOVERNMENT 
GRANT FUNDING HAS REDUCED BY £8M. 
OVER THE SAME PERIOD COUNCIL TAX 
HAS INCREASED BY £15M TO MAINTAIN 

POLICING SERVICES.

Income £5m (4%)

Council Tax
£49m (40%)

Formula Grant
£60m (49%)

Working with the local community,
the Police and partner agencies to:

 • Fight hard to protect the budget for 
policing Cumbria;

 • Stand up for Cumbria having its own police 
force;

 • Represent what Cumbria needs with 
national Government;

 • Make sure the Police are working as 
efficiently as possible;

 • Look at how we can work with the Fire 
Service to make services better.

Specific Grant & 
Investment Income 

£8m (7%)

57



SPEND YOUR 
MONEY WISELY

BUDGET 2019/20 – HIGHLIGHTS (CONTINUED)

• This will be used to maintain policing services and 
we are also committed to ensuring as much of your 
council tax as possible is spent on operational front 
line policing.

BUDGET 2019/20 BREAKDOWN

Police Officer
Pay £63.979m (55%)

Commissioned Services 
£2.245m (2%)OPCC

£0.750m (1%)

Other Non Staff
Costs £5.978m (4%)

Support Staff
£7.103m (6%)

Operational
Non Staff Costs
£17.325m (15%)

Operational
Police Staff

£15.394 (13%)

PSCO Pay
£2.738m (2%)

• To this end, at a time when many forces have been 
forced to cut officers, Cumbria has increased police 
officer numbers by a further 20 to 1,165. This is in 
addition to the 25 extra officers recruited in 2018/2019.

POLICE OFFICER ESTABLISHMENT 
(FULL TIME EQUIVALENTS)

OVER 85% OF THE BUDGET IS SPENT ON 
OR DIRECTLY SUPPORTING OPERATIONAL 

POLICING

1090

1100

1110

1120

1130

1140

1150

1160

1170

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20`

THE POLICE OFFICER ESTABLISHMENT HAS 
INCREASED BY 45 FULL TIME EQUIVALENT 

OFFICERS OVER THE LAST TWO YEARS.

ENSURING CUMBRIA RECEIVES FAIR FUNDING

• I have lobbied, and will continue to make a robust 
case for fair funding in Cumbria to the Government, 
Home Secretary and Policing Minister to ensure that 
policing is a priority when future spending plans are 
set out in the Comprehensive Spending Review.

• Worked successfully to ensure that Cumbria is charged 
fairly for national policing systems such as the National 
Police Air Service. 

• I will fight for Cumbria’s interests in any future review 
of the Police Funding Formula. 

MAINTAINING CUMBRIA AS A WELL RESOURCED 
INDEPENDENT FORCE.

• The financial outlook remains challenging. I will work 
with both the Chief Constable and other partners 
to deliver services as effectively as possible and find 
further efficiency savings to balance the budget.

58



SUPPORTING
YOUNG PEOPLE

8

Working with the local community,
the Police and partner agencies to:

 • Set up a Youth Commission to get young 
people’s feedback and engage them in 
helping to prevent and fight crime;

 • Improve how the Police interact with young 
people;

 • Support activities which provide positive 
opportunities for young people or which 
prevent young people from turning to a 
life of crime.

SET UP A YOUTH COMMISSION 
TO GET YOUNG PEOPLE’S 
FEEDBACK AND ENGAGE THEM 
IN HELPING TO PREVENT AND 
FIGHT CRIME
During 2018/2019 the Youth Commission continued to 
deliver projects across the county linking in with their 
priorities: drink driving, abusive relationships, child 
sexual exploitation and new psychoactive substance. 
Some of the work has included:

• The production of a hard-hitting awareness video 
for drug and drink driving. The release of the video 
complimented my Safer Driving campaign highlighting 
drug and drink driving launched in December 2018. 

• Developed a video to raise awareness of Child Sexual 
Exploitation (CSE) for the national CSE awareness day 
on the 18th March 2019.

• Developed a mobile mural to be displayed at various 
events to raise awareness of young people and 
healthy relationships. 

• Worked as an advisory group with the Longtown 
Community Alcohol Project as the voice of young 
people in rural and isolated areas. 

An independent review of the Youth Commission 
identified the impact the project has had on the young 
people involved. In summary, the Youth Commission 
has provided a rewarding experience for young people, 
improving their confidence and sense of personal value, 
as well as developing their understanding further of the 
issues faced by young people across Cumbria: 

 “I HAVE LEARNED THAT I HAVE THE 
ABILITY TO SPEAK CONFIDENTLY IN PUBLIC 
ESPECIALLY TO THOSE IN POSITIONS OF 
POWER WHO ARE OLDER THAN ME.”

“SOMETIMES I’VE FELT LIKE I HAVE 
NOTHING TO OFFER…LIKE I’M POINTLESS. 
THIS PROJECT HAS HELPED ME SEE THAT I 
HAVE GOT LOTS TO OFFER AND I’M PROUD 
OF WHAT I’VE DONE SO FAR.”

“I WANTED TO DO SOMETHING THAT 
WOULD BENEFIT HELPING ME DO 
SOMETHING IN THE PUBLIC SERVICES, AS 
THIS IS A FUTURE CAREER THAT I HOPE TO 
PURSUE. I ALSO USED THIS AS MY COLLEGE 
PLACEMENT AND FEEL I HAVE BEEN 
GIVEN OPPORTUNITIES THAT I WOULDN’T 
NORMALLY BE OFFERED.” 

YOUNG PEOPLE ON THE YOUTH COMMISSION

59



SUPPORTING
YOUNG PEOPLE

CITIZENS IN POLICING PROJECT 
Following the launch of Cumbria’s Mini Police in 2018, 
participant schools and mini police officers have taken 
part in everything from road safety patrols, local litter 
picks, educational talks on county lines drug dealing, 
to supporting local events including the Tour of Britain. 
Cumbria currently has 26 member schools, with more new 
intakes planned for this year. In January 2019 we recruited 
further mini police officers from Jigsaw Hospice who are 
currently taking part in a tailored-made programme of 
activities focusing on positive engagement with police 
officers and the local community.

The Mini Police have also launched a road safety initiative, 
financially supported by the Casualty Reduction and Safer 
Highways (CRASH) multi-agency group. Alongside the 
road safety messages in lessons, the Mini Police felt that 
family members and carers driving around school entrances 
needed to have more responsibility for their actions. The 
Mini Police designed signs, chose where they should be 
located and also spoke to people outside their schools 
about anti-social road use and the affects it has on the the 
school.

The Police Cadets scheme has continued to provide 
opportunities for young people to be involved in policing, 
giving them a chance to be heard and participate positively 
in their communities. They have learnt first-hand what the 
police and other emergency services do, ranging from 
major incident planning, road safety, writing a witness 
statement and learning life-saver skills.

Both these schemes have been extremely well received 
and the work being undertaken is outstanding. Students, 
teachers and all those involved have shown enthusiasm and 
initiative which is positively impacting on local communities. 

POSITIVE OPPORTUNITIES FOR 
YOUNG PEOPLE
It is not unusual to hear people complaining about young 
people and anti-social behavior, and the reality is that they 
are usually bored. So often young people get drawn into 
anti-social behaviour and worse because they have not had 
constructive activities and an environment where they learn 
to be responsible community members and share good 
values.

This is why the projects that the Community Fund and 
Property Fund support are essential. Some of the activities 
for young people that I have supported this year include:

• Barrow AFC Community Sports

• The Rock Youth Project

• Carlisle Castle and Morton Detachment Cumbria 
Army Cadets

• Gosforth Amateur Dramatic Society

• Egremont Youth Partnership

• Team North Cumbria

• Distington Club for Young People

• 1247 Squadron Penrith Air Cadets

• Netherhall RUFC

• Friends of Abbot Hall Playground

• Abbeytown Play Park

• Grasmere Village Society

• Kirkby Stephen Community Association

• Dalton Detachment Army Cadets

• Botcherby Community Association

• Branch Out Education CIC

• Greenbank & Castlefield Residential Association

• Marvellous Holiday Club

• Drop Zone Youth Club

• Silloth on Solway Sports

• The Whitehaven Foyer

• Stanwix FC Mixed Under 7s

• Seaton United Under 13 JFC

• Manna House

• Allerdale Girls FC

• Nemesis Boxing Club

• Unison Athletic U7 FC

• Longtown Memorial Hall

• 1st Kendal Parish Church Boys Brigade

• Furness Catholic Amateur Boxing

• Penrith Army Cadets.
60



COMMISSIONING 
AND FUNDING

HOW
WE WILL
WORK

COMMUNITY FUND
For community, charitable 

and voluntary groups, to support 
them to deliver a change within 
their community which benefits 
local people and supports the 

Police and Crime Plan.

PROPERTY FUND INNOVATION FUND
Police and Crime

Commissioner’s Property 
Fund - This distributes funds 

accumulated in the Police 
Property Fund as a result of the 

disposal of property coming 
into the possession of the 

police. Police officers or staff 
must make the application on 
behalf of a community or local 

group for projects which support 
the Police and Crime Plan.

To support innovative 
projects to pilot new ways of 
working specifically aimed at 
addressing one or more of 
the objectives within the 
Police and Crime Plan.

With funds I received from the Government, I commissioned services in support of my statutory duties and to support 
my Police and Crime Plan. These included services which supported victims, examples of which I have covered under 
Objective 5: Always Put Victims First. I also made funding available to partner agencies and the public to support the 
priorities in this Police and Crime Plan.

In addition, I have three open grant schemes available:

Throughout this Annual Report there 
are many examples of the funding 
awards I have made. You can read the 
full breakdown of funds that have been 
awarded during financial year 2018/2019 
on my website at: 

https://cumbria-pcc.gov.uk/ 
what-we-do/funding/

During the last year, I’ve been encouraged to see a good number 
of quality applications for all of the various grant schemes we 
have available, and would like to continue to encourage local 
groups to come forward as these projects make a real difference 
to people’s lives. This is so important as it is local people who 
know what works best in their own communities and I want to 
work with and empower them.

The total amounts we have paid out for each of the Funds during 
the financial year 2018/2019 is summarised below.

PROPERTY FUND   £60,602

COMMUNITY FUND  £52,857

INNOVATION FUND  £54,156

61



Good governance, assurance, accountability 
and transparency are key elements of holding 
public office. These together with holding the 
Chief Constable to account on behalf of you 
is one of my main responsibilities. The main 
ways that I do this are below and further more 
detailed information can be found on my 
website – www.cumbria-pcc.gov.uk

QUARTERLY, 
PUBLIC JOINT 

AUDIT COMMITTEE 
MEETINGS FOCUSING 

ON GOVERNANCE 
AND FINANCE

JOINT 
ETHICS AND 

INTEGRITY PANEL 
ENSURING THE 

HIGH STANDARDS 
OF INTEGRITY 
AND ETHICAL 

WORKING

INDEPENDENT 
CUSTODY VISITORS 
INSPECTING THE 
WAY THE FORCE 
DETAINS PEOPLE

EXTERNAL 
AUDITORS 
PROVIDING 

INDEPENDENT 
REVIEW OF THE 
STATEMENT OF 

ACCOUNTS

REVIEW 
OF RISK 

MANAGEMENT, 
INTERNAL CONTROL 
AND GOVERNANCE 

BY INTERNAL 
AUDIT

5 POLICE 
AND CRIME 

PANEL MEETINGS 
WHERE MEMBERS 
SCRUTINISED AND 

SUPPORTED MY 
WORK

CUMBRIA POLICE 
AND CRIME 

COMMISSIONER

PETER MCCALL
MAKING CUMBRIA 

EVEN SAFER

ACCOUNTABILITY, 
STATUTORY DUTIES 

AND DELIVERING THE 
POLICE AND CRIME 

PLAN

62



WORKING WITH PARTNERS
I have had regular meetings with partner agencies 
to understand what is and is not working well and I 
have also chaired the Safer Cumbria Delivery Board 
that brings together criminal justice and community 
safety leads to coordinate their activity, ensuring 
partners deliver an effective and joined up approach 
for Cumbria.

HOLDING THE CHIEF 
CONSTABLE TO ACCOUNT
In the Public Accountability Conferences, I challenge 
the Chief Officer Team around performance in all 
aspects of policing including scrutinising the budget. 
This year, the Chief Constable presented a review 
of the policing operation of Appleby Horse Fair 
including improvements to be made to the 2019 
policing element.

I hold weekly meetings with the Chief Constable to 
discuss emerging issues. In addition, members of 
staff from my office also routinely engage in ongoing 
dialogue with senior officers across all areas of 
business to gain assurance on how the Constabulary 
is doing business and delivering against the Police & 
Crime Plan. 

EXTERNAL 
INSPECTIONS

The independent scrutiny 
provided by Her Majesty’s 

Inspectorate of Constabulary Fire 
and Rescue Services (HMICFRS) 

is essential and assures me of 
the professional standards within 

the Force. This year, as part of its 
annual PEEL Inspection, HMICFRS’s 

inspectors assessed Cumbria Constabulary’s 
performance and I am delighted to report that 

they were again graded as ‘good’ in all areas. 
The force has also been graded as outstanding 

in its crime recording. A truly exceptional grading 
only achieved by one other force in the country on 
first inspection. It is incredibly important that crime 
recording is carried out correctly to understand the real 
picture as to what crime is taking place, to ensure the 
right response from the police is provided and the best 
possible service to victims and the people of Cumbria. 
This is a great achievement and a resoundingly positive 
testament to all officers, staff and volunteers for their 
efforts. These reports are important as they enable 
me to be assured on behalf of the people of Cumbria 
that our Police Force is performing well, as judged by 
the independent national inspectorate. Whilst there is 
always more to be done and the force can never afford 
to be complacent, it is absolutely right that they have 
credit and recognition where it is due.

63



THE
INDEPENDENT

CUSTODY
VISITING (ICV)

SCHEME

“ANOTHER OF MY STATUTORY 
DUTIES IS TO ENSURE THAT AN 
INDEPENDENT CUSTODY VISITOR 
SCHEME RUNS PROPERLY AND I 
OVERSEE ITS OPERATION, HELPING 
TO ENSURE THAT DETAINEES IN 
POLICE CUSTODY ARE TREATED 
APPROPRIATELY. I BELIEVE IT ALSO 
PROVIDES REASSURANCE TO THE 
PUBLIC THAT THIS IS THE CASE.”
PETER MCCALL
POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR CUMBRIA

The Independent Custody Visiting Scheme (ICV Scheme) 
is made up of volunteers who live or work in Cumbria.

They make unannounced visits to Police Stations to check 
on the welfare and wellbeing of people in police custody. 
There are currently four panels of up to 12 volunteers each 
across Cumbria, in Barrow, Kendal, North Cumbria and
West Cumbria.

As well as the ICV Scheme, we also run an Animal Welfare 
Scheme in line with our statutory requirements. A panel, 
currently made up of eight volunteers drawn from the ranks 
of the ICV Scheme makes visits to the dog section at Police 
Headquarters.

IN 2018/2019 THERE WERE
8,903 DETAINEES HELD
IN CUSTODY IN CUMBRIA

584 DETAINEES WERE 
AVAILABLE TO BE SEEN

86% OF DETAINEES SEEN

501 WERE SEEN
OR OBSERVED

192 CUSTODY VISITS 
WERE MADE

WEST - 48 VISITS

NORTH - 48 VISITS

KENDAL - 48 VISITS

BARROW - 48 VISITS

ICV SCHEME PANEL
MEMBERSHIP

KENDAL 10

WEST 9

BARROW 9

NORTH 11

64



65



CONTACT THE  
POLICE & CRIME
COMMISSIONER

You can find much more information about
how I am carrying out my role on my website

www.cumbria-pcc.gov.uk

You can also contact my office on

01768 217734
or email

commissioner@cumbria-pcc.gov.uk

  If you would like this information in Braille,
audio, large print, easy read or in another language,

please contact the Police and Crime Commissioner’s office.

66



 

 

 
 
 

Office of the Police & Crime Commissioner Report 
 

Serious Violence and County Lines 
 
 
Date: 12 July 2019 
Originating Officer: Stephanie Stables, Partnerships and Strategy Manager 
 
 
 
Executive Summary 
 
This report summaries how the Commissioner continues to work with, and support, the 
Constabulary, partners and local communities to target resources to reduce the impact of serious 
violence and county lines across Cumbria. 
 
Recommendation 
 
That the Panel notes the Commissioners response to help tackle the rise in serious violence and 
county lines and reduce the harm and misery it brings to individuals, families and communities 
vulnerable to violence.  
 
1. Introduction & Background  

 
1.1 The Police and Crime Plan is key in setting out the Commissioner’s objectives.  Delivery of 

the Plan is in partnership with statutory and third sector partners with an underlining 
principle of ‘We Not They’, recognising that it is the responsibility of all to make “Cumbria 
even safer”.  The Commissioner has in place an accountability and governance framework 
that enables him to fulfil his statutory duty. 
 

1.2 In his Police & Crime Plan, the Commissioner recognises serious and organised crime as a 
priority.  It is often perceived that rural communities are immune from serious crime but 
the targeting and exploitation of rural communities by organised criminality is now well 
documented.  Organised Crime Groups (OCGs) perceive rural communities as soft targets 
and feel they can go about their criminal activity undetected.   

 
1.3 The demand for all common drug types remains high in the UK and the use of crack cocaine 

and heroin has increased.  The supply of these Class A drugs is linked to “county lines” drug 
supply networks and has been identified as a driver for an increase in serious violence.  In 

67

Agenda Item 10



 

 

recent years, criminal networks have been using experience gained in the big cities to enter 
into remote rural communities in search of new customers and as a place to store drugs.  
They are also leveraging violent reputations earned in the big cities to intimidate and 
dominate existing offenders in the illegal drug markets.  Police in picturesque rural towns 
are now dealing with turf wars, homicides and serious violence.  
 

1.4 In Cumbria, intelligence identifies that county lines victims are being exported into rural 
Cumbrian towns to deal drugs on behalf of their gang nominals from urban cities such as 
Liverpool, Manchester, Birmingham and London.  These victims are trafficked into the 
county and accommodated with vulnerable drug users whilst the county lines victim is 
forced to deal the drugs from their property.  This is termed as “cuckooing”.  The threat to 
local drug users is that they are unaware of the true identity of the individuals they are 
buying the drugs from and the level and severity of violence they will use if the drug user 
becomes in debt to them.   
 

1.5 The Police & Crime Panel seek assurance that the Commissioner is: 
 

a. Working with the Constabulary to ensure focus and levels of resource to tackle county 
lines drug supply activity in Barrow and other parts of the county. 

b. Lobbying government for additional funds and exploiting available additional funding 
opportunities, such as the £22m Early Years Intervention Fund and the forthcoming 
£200m Youth Endowment Fund. 

c. Engaging with partners to manage demand further upstream to reduce pressure on 
police services, especially non-crime demand. 

 
2. The Commissioner is working with the Constabulary to ensure focus and levels of 

resource to tackle county lines drug supply activity in Barrow and other parts of the 
county. 
 

2.1 The Police, under the direction of the Chief Constable, have operational independence and 
are accountable to the law for the exercise of police powers.  However, the Chief Constable 
is also accountable to the Commissioner for the delivery of efficient and effective policing, 
management of resources and expenditure, and ultimately the delivery of policing in 
Cumbria.  On 27th March 2019, the Commissioner held the Constabulary to account through 
a Public Accountability Conference focusing on serious organised crime and drug supply.  
The Commissioner was assured the Constabulary fully understands the scale and complexity 
of this threat across Cumbria and has the capability and capacity to proactively target, 
pursue and dismantle serious and organised criminals and networks, as well as bring 
offenders to justice.  The Constabulary does not work in isolation and is engaging with 
partner agencies at a local, regional and national level.  A copy of the presentation is 
available on the Office of Police & Crime Commissioner (OPCC) website (PAC 27/03/2019 
Serious Organised Crime & Drug Supply, pages 38 to 56)  
 

2.2 At his Public Accountability Conference on 28th June 2019, the Commissioner held the 
Constabulary to account regarding its response to the national Serious Violence Strategy, 
published April 2018.  The Constabulary presented the steps it has taken and described how 
it is working with partner agencies to support the Governments public health approach to 

68

https://www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/Financial-sustainability-of-police-forces-in-England-and-Wales-2018.pdf
https://www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/Financial-sustainability-of-police-forces-in-England-and-Wales-2018.pdf


 

 

violence.  The Commissioner is assured the Constabulary has put a framework in place to 
oversee and drive delivery of the strategy, including the development of a serious violence 
local profile to help inform future direction of its resources.  A copy of the presentation is 
available on the OPCC’s website (PAC 28/06/2019 Serious Violent Crime in Cumbria).   
 

2.3 The Commissioner also holds the Chief Constable to account at their weekly meetings 
where they discuss current and emerging operational business and review areas of 
improvement.  
 

2.4 Further assurance is provided from Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire & 
Rescue Services (HMICFRS).  In the latest Integrated PEEL Assessments, the Constabulary 
continued to perform well and maintain its ‘good’ status across all key themes.  The 
inspection found the Constabulary is good at reducing crime and keeping people safe, 
understands it communities and is good at preventing and investigating crime.  It also has a 
clear focus on protecting vulnerable people.  A copy of the inspection report is available on 
the HMICFRS website (PEEL: Police Effectiveness, Efficiency and Legitimacy 2018/2019 – 
Cumbria Constabulary)     
 

2.5 The Commissioner has seen first-hand how the police deal with serious and organised crime.  
In January 2019, he joined police officers when executing Operation Horizon, a large-scale 
investigation targeting county lines drug supply activity in Barrow.  This operation began in 
May 2018 in response to the high number of drug deaths that occurred in the area from 
December 2017 into 2018.  As of March 2019, there have been more than 30 arrests and 
the seizure of thousands of pounds in cash and quantities of heroin and crack cocaine.  Due 
to the Criminal Justice Law, as this investigation is still on going, the Commissioner is unable 
to provide further details at this time.   A video was produced highlighting the activity 
conducted at the time, showing how the Constabulary and partner agencies came together 
to deliver a successful operation.  The use of social media was used to maximise the reach 
of the video, helping to raise awareness of this serious threat to our communities and to 
make it known this type of behaviour will not be tolerated in Cumbria.  It also showed 
communities how ‘unseen’ policing operates in Cumbria. 
 

2.6 The Commissioner has made available funds to assist projects that help to tackle serious 
crime and reduce offending.  He funds Women’s Community Matters and The Well Project 
to provide support services to help vulnerable residents living at Egerton Courts with 
drugs/alcohol abuse and mental health issues, etc.  The Egerton Court Wellbeing Hub in 
Barrow opened on 31st January this year to tackle crime and addiction on the estate after 
the area made national headlines for the number of drug deaths.   
 

2.7 The Well has been an integral partner in the Wellbeing Hub providing much of the support 
needed through their volunteers.  The Well offers people who are recovering from drug and 
alcohol addiction support through therapy, counselling, peer monitoring, employment 
training and social activities.  The Commissioner funded the Well to employ a staff member 
to be a supervisor in the Wellbeing Hub.   
 
 

69

https://cumbria-pcc.gov.uk/your-pcc/public-meetings/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/publications/peel-assessment-2018-19-cumbria/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/publications/peel-assessment-2018-19-cumbria/


 

 

2.8 Latest data provided by the Wellbeing Hub shows the positive effects this strong 
partnership presence into Egerton Court is having.  The Hub is effectively engaging with 
residents and building trust, helping to tackle crime at the heart of this community.  From 
30th January 2019 to 29th May 2019, 129 residents received support (this total includes 
repeat residents), of which 35 residents engaged with support services for the first time.  
The number of repeat victims living at Egerton Court who contacted the police has fallen.  
From November 2018 to January 2019, the Constabulary received 28 calls for service 
compared to 84 during November 2017 to January 2018.  The Constabulary works with the 
Wellbeing Hub to ensure all repeat victims are supported and that the behaviour of those 
residents who offend is managed and controlled. 
 

2.9 Case Study One – “A resident, recently released from prison, attended the Wellbeing Hub 
to get some of the Gregg’s food that is distributed on a Monday and Wednesday.  He was 
initially aggressive and intimidating but as he has come into the Wellbeing Hub more and 
more, trust has been developed and his behaviour has changed.  He now pops into the 
Wellbeing Hub for regular chats and has taken part in one of the cookery courses.  He 
recently had problems with his benefits sanctions and rather than reverting to his old 
behaviour and getting aggressive, he has proactively addressed the issue with help from the 
Wellbeing Hub.  He is now prepared to ask for help and accept advice.”  

 
2.10 Case Study Two – “A man in his thirties who lived at Egerton Court, was locked up by the 

police for committing domestic abuse whilst under the influence of alcohol.  A discussion in 
the police cell between the police and the offender resulted in the man going to the 
Wellbeing Hub and engaging with The Well.  With support from The Well, the man has now 
attended his first AA meeting.” 

 
2.11 The Local Focus Hub in Barrow provided the vehicle in which to develop the partnership 

model for Egerton Court, it was instrumental in bringing together key partners.  In order to 
address long-term issues at Egerton Court and to embed the Government’s move towards a 
public health approach to reducing serious violence, focuses on prevention and reducing 
demand on the police, the Local Focus Hub continues to be pivotal in driving forward future 
integrated working with partners on a community needs basis.  The Wellbeing Hub is in the 
process of developing an Information Sharing Agreement, which will be overseen by the 
Local Focus Hub.  This will formalise the process of sharing information and intelligence 
between partners about the residents living at Egerton Court, ensuring interventions are 
targeted and cohesive.  In addition, residents that cease or reduce their engagement with 
the Wellbeing Hub, before it is deemed appropriate, will be directly targeted and 
encouraged to participate again. 
 

3 The Commissioner is lobbying government for additional funds and exploiting available 
additional funding opportunities, such as the £22m Early Years Intervention Fund and the 
forthcoming £200m Youth Endowment Fund. 
 

3.1 The OPCC pro-actively seeks opportunities in securing additional funding to deliver services, 
projects or initiatives that will support the objectives in the Police & Crime Plan.  This 
includes developing joint bids and working with other partners who have access to wider 

70



 

 

funding sources.  Over recent months, the OPCC has submitted bids to central government 
and other available funding opportunities to help tackle serious violence.   
 

3.2 Last September the OPCC, in partnership with Safer Cumbria, submitted a funding bid to 
the Governments ‘Early Years Intervention Fund’ focusing on early intervention and 
prevention of serious violence in young people aged 10 to 17 years old.  The OPCC also put 
forward a joint funding bid with Cumbria County Council to the Governments ‘Children 
Affected by Domestic Abuse Fund’ aimed at expanding and strengthening current service 
provision to support children and their families affected by domestic abuse.  Unfortunately, 
the OPCC was unsuccessful on both of these occasions. 
 

3.3 At the end of last year, the OPCC secured funding from NHS England and the Modern 
Slavery Police Transformation Unit to deliver Cumbria’s first Vulnerability Symposium aimed 
at raising awareness of sexual violence and exploitation, including county lines and modern 
slavery.  The ‘Be Safe, Be Aware’ Symposium was held on the 2nd May 2019 at Newton Rigg 
College (further details are provided at 4.6 of this report).  

 
3.4 The OPCC is currently considering options for a partnership bid to the Youth Endowment 

Fund.  
 

3.5 It is disappointing that Cumbria was not one of the forces to be allocated Government 
funding for a Violent Reduction Unit (VRU).  The Commissioner has raised his concerns 
directly with the Policing Minister.  The OPCC is now in discussions with regional partners 
who did receive funding to see what lessons can be learnt from their approach in tackling 
serious violence and to identify if there is anything they have done that would benefit 
Cumbria. 

 
3.6 The Commissioner regularly meets with the Policing Minister and senior Home Office staff 

to express the crime concerns for Cumbria.  At present, these discussions focus on county 
lines and fairer funding for Cumbria.  Cumbria is the recipient of county lines activities, with 
networks having a devastating impact on some of our communities.  The Commissioner is 
concerned that small police force areas tend to be disadvantaged when it comes to 
accessing central government funding as average crime rates tend to be lower than their 
urban counterparts.  The Commissioner also seeks to influence debate and dialogue 
through the Association of Police & Crime Commissioners (APCC) around these issues.  
Earlier this year, he attended an APCC Deep Dive event on the future role of Community 
Safety Partnerships (CSPs) and partnership working more widely in force areas, focusing on 
the public health multi-agency approach to preventing and tackling serious violence.    
 

3.7. The Commissioner also chairs the North West Joint Oversight Committee providing 
leadership and scrutiny around the governance of the North West Regional Organised 
Crime Unit (NWROCU).  The NWROCU supports the Constabulary in identifying, disrupting 
and dismantling organised crime groups causing the most harm.  The NWROCU is also 
interdependent with the National Crime Agency (NCA).      
 

 

71



 

 

3.8 The OPCC will often respond to consultations and calls for evidence held by other bodies 
where it feels any intended changes will affect Cumbria.  Last year, the OPCC responded to 
the Home Affairs Committee call for written evidence in relation to the Governments 
Serious Violence Strategy.  Recently, the OPCC submitted its views to the Home Office 
consultation on options to support a multi-agency approach to preventing and tackling 
serious violence.    

 
4 The Commissioner is engaging with partners to manage demand further upstream to 

reduce pressure on police services, especially non-crime demand. 
 
4.1 Only a few years ago, many people would have found it difficult to believe that slavery was 

taking place in the UK and Europe.  Men, women and children are being duped, tricked, 
lured and then exploited, abused and controlled for profit through various means, from 
forced labour to prostitution.  As the number of reported incidents of modern slavery and 
human trafficking increased in Cumbria, it was recognised that additional resource was 
needed to coordinate a multi partner response to help victims of this horrendous crime.  
Alongside Safer Cumbria, the OPCC funded the role of a Modern Slavery, Human Trafficking 
and Sex Worker Co-ordinator.  Their role is to ensure the services and pathways are in place 
to meet the needs of victims of modern slavery and human trafficking.  In addition, to assist 
partners to fulfil their statutory obligations as described in the Modern Slavery Act 2015.   

 
4.2 Recently, the co-ordinator attended the Morecambe Bay Commissioning & Clinical Group in 

Kendal and Barrow to deliver training to General Practitioners (GPs) on modern slavery, 
human trafficking and county lines.  By the end of September all GPs across the county will 
have received this training and will have a better understanding of their responsibilities, 
including how to refer a victim of modern slavery.  This will assist the Constabulary and help 
to reduce demand on its resources. 

 
4.3 The co-ordinator has also developed a strong working relationship with Churches Together 

who will now provide an initial reception centre for modern slavery victims.  This will 
support the police when a victim may not feel comfortable engaging with a police officer. 

 
4.4 When the Government consulted on the Serious Violence Strategy, it indicated that this 

issue could not be resolved by one agency alone and that a wider collaborative approach 
would be required.  The strategy confirmed a ‘public health approach’ as the best means to 
deliver this.  Taking this into consideration, the OPCC instigated a review of the county’s 
partnership arrangements through Safer Cumbria to ensure the right structure is in place 
and aligned with the Governments proposals. 

 
4.5 The new structure is yet to be finalised but it will strengthen the links between criminal 

justice and community safety partners.  The purpose of this is to share information and 
community intelligence so that issues can be addressed at the earliest possible opportunity, 
preventing escalation in the criminal justice system.  It will ensure that all partners are 
aware of their role in addressing serious violence in the county. 

 
 

72



 

 

4.6 On 2nd May 2019, the Commissioner, in collaboration with NHS England, Newton Rigg 
College and the Constabulary, held a ‘Be Safe, Be Aware’ Symposium targeting young 
people (aged 16 to 21 years old) to make them aware of the potential dangers and issues in 
the county and how to spot the signs.  The event used real life examples to highlight 
vulnerabilities that exist in rural areas, including presentations on modern slavery, sexual 
assault, child sexual exploitation and county lines, as well as breakout sessions and training 
from Get Safe Online.  Students also experienced a Modern Slavery walkthrough; an 
exhibition featuring three different ‘virtual’ examples to increase awareness about potential 
modern slavery in Cumbria.  Information was provided on how to report anything 
suspicious and where young people, friends and family can go if they need support.  

 
4.7 Services from The Bridgeway featured throughout the event and other support services 

were available to provide assistance, support and answer any questions arising as a result 
of the presentations.  Other support services included the Birchall Trust, Unity, Safety Net, 
Victim Support and Crimestoppers.  
 

4.8 In total 75 students attended the event.  The feedback was very positive from those who 
completed an evaluation form, as illustrated at appendix one of this report.  

73



This page is intentionally left blank



Be Safe, Be Aware Symposium, Newton Rigg College, 2nd May 2019

Making young and vulnerable people aware of the potential dangers and issues in Cumbria and helping them to stay safe

75 students attended the symposium. 57 completed an evaluation form (76%).  The findings showed:

Before attending the event, most respondents (54: 94.7%) said they had heard of modern slavery and human trafficking (51: 89.5%) but only 38.6% (22 students) said they had heard of
county lines.

94.7% said they now know whom to contact if they saw any suspicious activity involving modern slavery, human trafficking or county lines. 80.7% said they would feel confident to contact
them.

Although, 96.5% of respondents (55) said they knew what sexual exploitation was before attending the event, most respondents said they gained a better understanding of it at the event
(46: 94.7%).

Following the event, a high percentage of respondents said they now know more about the support services available in Cumbria to support victims of sexual exploitation and victims of
a sexual offence (such as rape or sexual assault) – 96.5% (55) and 94.7% (54)  respectively.  77.2% (44 respondents) said they would feel confident to contact them and 17.5% (10) said
they were ‘not sure’.

Respondents were asked ‘do you feel safe online?’

Following the event,
94.7 % of respondents

(54) said they now have
a better understanding

of how to stay safe
online

98.2% of
respondents (56)

said they found the
event useful

“Today gave me a
better understanding of
the problems going on

in Cumbria”

“Please share this
across Cumbria, people

must know”

“Good presentations,
good to know”

“Was very good and
interesting”

Feedback from the
presenters and

service providers
within the market

place was very
positive

“For me the day ran very
smoothly and all the young

people involved in my
workshop were engaged”

“I personally thought the day
was marvellous and one of the

best events I have attended.
(The students) all engaged well
and did not shy away from the

subject of sexual abuse”

“From observing the speakers
throughout the day they
were very engaging and

informative and I felt a real
connection between young

people and the police”

Appendix ONE

75



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Cumbria Constabulary 
 

 

Police and Crime Panel Meeting: 12 July 2019 
 

TITLE OF REPORT: Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 Quarter 4 to March 2019 
and Provisional Outturn 

  

ORIGINATING OFFICERS: Mark Carter, Financial Services Officer and 

Michelle Bellis, Deputy Chief Finance Officer 

  

PART 1 or PART 2 PAPER: PART 1 (OPEN)  

  

Executive Summary: 

The attached report provides details of the provisional outturn on the Constabulary’s revenue budget for 

2018/19.  The figures quoted at this stage are reported as provisional as the final accounts are still subject 

to audit but it is not envisaged that there will be any significant changes. 

 

The figures show net revenue expenditure on Constabulary controlled and managed budgets amounting to 

£115.397m which represents an overspend of £217k (0.19%) against the approved adjusted budget of 

£115.180m. 

 

The overspend is made up of an overspend on expenditure budgets of £836k (0.69%) offset by additional 

income totalling £619k (10.21%).   

 

The final overspend of £217k represents a reduction of £429k compared to the overspend reported at the 

end of Quarter 3 at 31 December of £646k.  It should, however, be noted that the overspend has already 

been reduced through the agreed application of revenue budget reserves amounting to £470k.  The net 

overspend prior to application of reserves is therefore £687k which represents 0.6% of the adjusted budget. 

 

  

Recommendation: 

The Police and Crime Panel are asked to note the Constabulary revenue budget provisional outturn for 

2018/19. 

 

  

77

Agenda Item 11a



 

MAIN SECTION 

 

1. Introduction and Background 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide information on the provisional revenue outturn for 2018/19.  

Total net expenditure amounts to £115.397m which is £217k above the approved budget.  This 

represents a movement of £429k when compared to the forecast overspend reported at the end of 

Quarter 3 of £646k.   

 

1.2 The total budget is based on the funding arrangement between the Commissioner and the Chief 

Constable.  This was approved and signed off by both the Chief Constable and Police & Crime 

Commissioner on 12 March 2018. 

 

1.3 The approved funding amounted to £123.936m, which is made up of a net revenue budget of 

£116.902m plus a plant and equipment capital budget of £7.034m.  This report deals solely with the 

revenue funding.  The original approved funding has subsequently been amended by a number of 

budget adjustments.  The revised net revenue budget stands at £115.180m. 

 

2. Revenue Expenditure 

The provisional outturn of net revenue expenditure for 2018/19 is £115.397m, which is £217k (0.19%) 

above the approved adjusted budget of £115.180m, which represents a movement of £429k compared 

to the overspend forecast as at 31 December 2018 (£646k).  The provisional outturn is made up of an 

overspend on expenditure of £836k (0.69%) offset by additional income of £619k (10.21%). 

 

2.1 The principal variances at the end of the financial year, together with comparatives as reported at 

December, are outlined in the table below: 

 

 

 

 

 

78



 

 

 

A more detailed analysis of the figures in the above table is provided at Appendix A.  Commentary on 

specific variances is provided in the paragraphs below. 

 

2.2 The provisional outturn variance reported for 2018/19 is £429k different to the variance forecast as at 

the end of December (Qtr. 3).  The main reasons for this difference will be explained in the remainder 

of Section 2 heading by heading. 

 

The quarterly reported variances for 2018/19 together with the comparators for 2017/18 are 

summarised in the table below: 

 

 

 

 

The chart below provides a graphical analysis of the forecast variances for 2018/19 quarter by quarter 

by subjective heading. 

Description Revised Provisional Provisional Provisional Explanation Projected Change

Budget Outturn (Under)/

Overspend

(Under)/

Overspend

Paragraph (Under)/

Overspend

from      

DEC-18

2018/19 2018/19 2018/19 2018/19 @ DEC-18 to ADJ-19

£'000s £'000s £'000s % £'000s £'000s

Constabulary Funding

Police Officers 80,918 81,967 1,049 1.30% 2.4 1,034 15

Police Community Support Officers 3,131 2,867 (264) -8.43% 2.5 (279) 15

Police Staff 21,007 21,198 191 0.91% 2.6 202 (11)

Other Employee Budgets 1,935 2,099 164 8.48% 2.7 86 78

Transport Related Expenditure 2,130 2,171 41 1.92% 2.8 96 (55)

Supplies & Services 10,059 9,723 (336) -3.34% 2.9 (75) (261)

Third Party Related Expenses 2,062 2,053 (9) -0.44% 2.10 (2) (7)

Total Constabulary Funding 121,242 122,078 836 0.69% 1,062 (226)

Income (6,062) (6,681) (619) 10.21% 2.11 (416) (203)

Total Constabulary Funding Net of Income 115,180 115,397 217 0.19% 646 (429)

Constabulary Reported Variance (Under)/Overspend

2017/18 2018/19

£000s £000s

Quarter 1 to 30 June 257 402

Quarter 2 to 30 September 912 749

Quarter 3 to 31 December 1,008 646

Quarter 4 to 31 March 251 217

79



 

 

 

2.3 Police Officer Pay, Allowances and Overtime came in over budget by £1,049k (£1,034k as at 

December). 

The cumulative effect of changes in the number and profile of officer recruitment and leavers against 

the original workforce plan have given rise to additional expenditure of £537k (£543k as at December).  

These changes include: 

 A number of temporary increases in higher ranks (Sergeants, Inspectors, Chief Inspectors 
and higher ranks). 

 Fewer than originally planned retirements and other leavers during 2018/19 (9.3 FTE). 

 Fewer than originally planned transferees into the organisation (12.0 FTE). 

 More than originally planned new recruits into the organisation (11.00 FTE). 

 Changes to the profile of new recruits to facilitate the earlier recruitment of the 
additional 25 police officers as pledged by the Commissioner. 

 Increased Employers National Insurance contributions related to the overspend on 
Police Overtime. 

 Starting 2018/19 with more officers than originally planned (5.4 FTE). 

 Changes in hours and net movements of seconded officers and career breaks (-1.80 FTE). 

 
The above in year changes to WFP reflect the conscious decision to facilitate the earlier recruitment 

of the additional 25 police officers as pledged by the Commissioner in relation to the increase in council 

tax precept. In addition, decisions taken to operate approximately 20 officers over establishment for 

police officers for the remainder of the financial year to counterbalance the reduction in actual PCSO 

80



 

numbers and to safeguard against potential difficulty in recruiting as a result of the forthcoming 

changes in relation to the Police Education Qualification Framework (PEQF) have impacted on the 

forecast position. Further decisions to back fill or act up officers into vacant posts or to cover for 

abstractions has also had an impact.  The slight change between December and March is principally 

due to changes in the work force plan from the December position.  Expenditure on Police Officer Pay 

has been mitigated by £420k through the agreed drawdown of the budget support reserve.    

 

Appendix B provides more detailed analysis in relation to police officer pay budgets and outturn for 

2018/19. 

 

Police Overtime out-turn shows an overspend of £120k (£102k as at December) and has two principal 

explanations.  Non-public holiday overtime has exceeded the budget by £155k (£151k as at December). 

This arises principally from additional expenditure in Territorial Policing (£142k).  Expenditure on 

overtime has increased mainly due to pressure being experienced on overtime budgets in Territorial 

Policing Command. A significant proportion of the additional overtime related to special policing 

services, the costs of which was recovered from third parties. 

 Public holiday payments came in under budget by £35k (£49k as at December).  Of this £45k 

relates to Territorial Policing Command. 

 

Finally, Police Officer Pensions provisional outturn shows an overspend of £391k (£389k as at 

December).  Of the overspend £364k relates to an increase in the number of individuals required to be 

retired under the pension regulations increasing from 3 to 8. In these circumstances, the Constabulary 

is required to meet the capital ill health charge of two times annual salary (approx. £80k per 

retirement).  The remainder of the overspend, £25k relates to an increase in payments of injury 

allowances due to payment of arrears following a successful appeal.  Expenditure on ill health 

retirements has been mitigated by the agreed drawdown of £50k from a pensions reserve. 

 

2.4 PCSO Pay, Allowances and Overtime came in under budget by £264k (£279k as at December).   

The provisional underspend is as a result of the following changes to the workforce plan for PCSOs: 

 Starting 2018/19 with 1.3 FTE fewer PCSOs than originally planned -£40k 

 Fewer starters x 21 FTE -£171k  

 Fewer leavers but profiled earlier in the year 4.9 FTE -£53k, 

81



 

 

2.5 Police Staff Pay & Allowances came in over budget by £191k (£202k overspend as at December). 

The overspend has arisen through a combination of circumstances. 

 Starting the year above the originally budgeted number of FTE £71k. 

 Leavers / Starters and Vacancies during 2018/19 £90k. 

 Changes in hours and regrades -£6k. 

 

Police Staff Overtime provisional out-turn shows an overspend by £36k (£29k overspend as at 

December).  The forecast overspend arises principally from increased expenditure in Crime Command 

(£18k), Territorial Policing (£14k) and Corporate Support (£4k). 

Appendix C provides more detailed analysis in relation to police staff pay budgets and outturn for 

2018/19. 

 

2.6 Other Employee Expenditure came in over budget by £164k (£86k overspend as at December). 

The primary reasons for the overspend are as follows: 

 Training and Conference Fees £112k (£92k overspend as at December).  The largest part 

of this variance (£67k) relates to additional training costs associated with the early 

recruitment of the 25 additional officers and additional training costs associated with 

recruiting the additional 20 officers over establishment.  In addition, there has been 

pressure on the Territorial Policing Command budget (£50k) and Crime Command 

budget (£12k) largely to maintain required accreditations, offset by reductions in other 

departments (£17k) 

 Redundancy and Actuarial Strain £62k (£33k as at December).  These relate to 

termination costs as a result of Constabulary decisions for which there is no budget 

provision. 

 Staff and Officer Recruitment Costs £47k (£48k as at December).  Costs associated with 

the early recruitment of the 25 additional officers and additional costs to recruit the 20 

officers over establishment. 

 Agency Staff £16k (£5k as at December). 

82



 

 Staff Welfare Costs £10k (£7k as at December).  These additional costs relate to medical 

consultants required to take part in the Police Medical Appeal Board processes in respect 

of the ill health retirement process. 

 

These overspends are offset somewhat by the following underspend: 

 Apprenticeship Levy £84k underspend (£100k as at December). The provisional final 

position shows that £222k of the levy paid in 2017/18 (which was accrued into 2018/19) 

will now not be used and as a result will be lost and should therefore be accounted for 

in the current year.  The assumptions in relation to the £306k levy paid in relation to 

2018/19 is that this will be used in future years and as such will be accrued into 2019/20.   

 

2.7 Transport related expenditure came in over budget by £41k (£96k as at December).   

The main reasons for the overspend are as follows: 

 Vehicle Fuel £44k overspend (£54k as at December).  The overspend can be attributed 

to a combination of above higher than budgeted fuel prices at the beginning of the year, 

price fluctuations throughout the year and slightly higher overall anticipated mileage. 

 Car Hire, Allowances and Travel Expenses £12k overspend (£3k as at December).  Due to 

increased levels of activity. 

These underspends are offset somewhat by underspends on Vehicle Repair, Maintenance & Other 

£14k (£38k overspend as at December).  The difference from December is due to a reduction in 

spending on tyres and parts. 

 

2.8 Supplies & Services related expenditure came in under budget by £336k (£75k as at December). 

The primary underspends are as follows: 

 Communications & Computing £161k (£21k as at December).  Computer Software 

Maintenance £78k underspend due to various contract changes and Software Purchases 

£22k, Network Private Circuits £33k relating to savings on the old contract.  Telephone 

Landlines £18k savings from reduced usage of fixed lines. Website Running Costs £12k. 

 Contingency £145k (£150k as at December).  The contingency was included in the budget 

to cushion against potential price rises as a result of Brexit and the impact of the 

83



 

weakening of the pound against the dollar (in particular in relation to ICT contract pricing 

which is frequently in dollars), this was ultimately not required 2018/19. 

 Efficiency Savings £76k (£76k as at December). 

 Accommodation & Subsistence £39k (£20k as at December). 

 Police Doctors & Surgeons £31k (£29k as at December).  Monthly custody medical 

contract costs were lower than budgeted. 

 Consultants £26k (£10k overspend as at December). 

 Interpreters and Translators £18k (£13k as at December). 

 Confiscated Animals £14k (£17k as at December).  The cost of kennelling / dealing with 

confiscated animals. 

 Advertising £10k (£2k as at December). 

 Office Equipment, Furniture & Materials £7k (£2k overspend as at December). 

 

The above underspends are offset by overspends on the following budgets: 

 Subscriptions £19k (£6k as at December).  Public Performance Licenses £7k, Donation to 

the Police Treatment Centre £10k. 

 Catering £21k (£22k as at December) overspend, this relates to increased expenditure in 

relation to the in house canteen provision, purchase of food and ingredients which is 

somewhat offset by increased canteen income of £9k (see 2.10 below).    

 Clothing & Uniform £32k (£44k as at December) overspend due to increased recruitment 

and specialist courses. 

 Custody Costs £27k (£18k as at December).  Appropriate Adults Services £15k, Clothing, 

Consumables, Laundry etc. £12k. 

 Other overspends on Supplies & Services : 

 Witness Intermediaries £12k (£7k as at December). 

 Testing Kits & Materials £31k (£23k as at December). 

 Breathalyser Equipment and Materials £9k (£8k as at December). 

 TASER £10k (£9k as at December). 

 Other Operational Equipment £28k (£58k as at December). 
 

2.9 Third Party related expenditure came in under budget by £9k (£2k underspend as at December). 

The primary reasons for the underspend are as follows: 

84



 

 Contribution to NPAS £22k (£22k as at December). 

 Payments in respect of the Police National Computer / Database £12k (£0k as at 

December).  This is due to changes to the national products we are asked to support. 

 Collaboration Payments £16k (£26k as at December).  TITAN Collaboration payments 

£7k, NW Underwater Search & Marine Unit charge £7k. 

 Contribution towards national projects £39k (£43k as at December).  Distraction 

Burglaries £8k, NABIS £13k, Op Elter (undercover policing) £16k, Senior Investigating 

Officer accreditation £10k. 

 

2.10 Recovery of income has exceeded the budget by £619k (£416k as at December). 

The main areas of over recovery of income are: 

 Abnormal Loads £393k (£229k as at December).  The majority of this extra income relates 

to income from specialist policing services of £338k with other additional abnormal load 

escorts contributing a further £55k. 

 Mutual Aid income £146k (£142k as at December).  Income from mutual aid to offset 

plain time costs and other overheads. 

 Policing Sporting Events, Concerts and Other Events £28k (£28k as at December). 

 Sale of Assets & Goods £83k (£63k as at December).  Sale of Vehicles £64k, Canteen 

income £9k, Sale of Surplus Equipment £7k. 

 Reimbursed Services £19k (£14k as at December).  Immigration income, Court Services 

Income and reimbursement of other costs. 

 Warrant Officer Income £4k (£3k as at December). 

 Reimbursements for Training £6k (£3k as at December). 

 Vehicle Recovery Income £16k (£19k as at December). 

This over recovery of income is offset somewhat by the following areas of under recovery of income: 

 Firearms Licensing £83k (£97k as at December).  Income follows a five year cycle. 

3. Summary Financial Statements 

3.1 The full financial position as at 31 March 2019 is presented for Police and crime Panel members at 

Appendix D, within the summary financial statements.   

85



 

4. Supplementary Information 

4.1 Appendices to this report are provided as follows: 

 Appendix A – Constabulary Revenue Budget monitoring as at the end of 2018/19. 

 Appendix B – Police Officer Pay Further Analysis. 

 Appendix C – Police Staff Pay Further Analysis. 

 Appendix D – Summary Financial Statements 2018/19 

 

 

86



 

  Appendix A 
The Chief Constable for Cumbria Constabulary 

Revenue Budget Monitoring Full Year 2018/19 

 

 
 
 
 

  

Description Base Revised Provisional Provisional Provisional Projected Change

Budget Budget Expenditure

/ (Income)

(Under)/

Overspend

(Under)/

Overspend

(Under) /

Overspend DEC-18 to

2018/19 2018/19 2018/19 2018/19 2018/19 @ DEC-18 ADJ-19

£ £ £ £ % £ £

Constabulary Funding

Police Officers 82,603,110 80,918,408 81,967,090 1,048,681 1.30% 1,034,054 14,627

Police Community Support Officers 3,131,356 3,131,356 2,867,144 (264,212) -8.44% (279,073) 14,861

Police Staff 20,684,681 21,006,987 21,198,347 191,360 0.91% 202,559 (11,198)

Other Employee Budgets 1,160,125 1,934,605 2,098,976 164,371 8.50% 85,562 78,809

Transport Related Expenditure 2,171,152 2,129,563 2,171,460 41,897 1.97% 95,719 (53,822)

Supplies & Services 9,827,801 10,059,220 9,722,684 (336,536) -3.35% (75,057) (261,479)

Third Party Related Expenses 2,108,051 2,062,382 2,052,716 (9,666) -0.47% (2,144) (7,522)

Total Constabulary Funding 121,686,275 121,242,521 122,078,417 835,896 0.69% 1,061,620 (225,724)

Income (4,784,152) (6,062,004) (6,681,179) (619,175) 10.21% (415,830) (203,345)

Total Constabulary Funding Net of Income 116,902,124 115,180,517 115,397,237 216,720 0.19% 645,789 (429,069)

87



 

Appendix B 

Police Officer Pay  

The table below provides a greater level of detail of the final year-end figures.  

 
 
 

 
 

 

Description Revised Provisional Provisional Projected Change

Budget Outturn (Under)/ Variance DEC-18 to

2018/19 2018/19  Overspend DEC-18 ADJ-19

£ £ £ £ £

Police Officers

Police Officer Pay 43,231 42,052 (1,179) (1,148) (31)

Police Officer National Insurance 5,023 4,934 (89) (105) 16

Police Officer Employers Pension Contributions 29,021 28,846 (175) (152) (23)

Police Officer Contribution to Pension Fund 1,007 1,158 151 126 25

Police Officer Allowances & Other Payments 1,570 1,705 135 129 7

Police Officer Overtime 1,338 1,494 156 151 4

Police Officer Overtime - Public Holiday 662 627 (35) (49) 14

Police Officer Turnover (1,693) 0 1,693 1,693 0

Police Officer Ill Health & Injury Pensions 759 1,151 392 389 2

80,918 81,967 1,049 1,034 15

Appendix E provides 
a more detailed 

analysis of police 
officer overtime and 

public holiday 
payments. 

 

This chart shows how the police officer pay forecast has changed on a 

quarterly basis.  The large increase in forecast between Quarter 1 and 2 

reflects the decision taken to accelerate recruitment and to operate 

approximately 20 officers over police officer establishment in order to 

safeguard against potential difficulty in recruiting as a result of the 

forthcoming changes in relation to PEQF. 

This chart illustrates the actual WFP compared with the 

original WFP budget and budgeted establishment.  Where 

the actual WFP (red line) falls below the original WFP 

budget (green line) an underspend will result, where the 

workforce plan rises above the original budget line an 

overspend will result.  Although we began the year with 

actual officer numbers below the originally budgeted 

figures it was decided to increase recruitment during the 

year, this has resulted in an increase in expenditure above 

the budgeted figure for 2018/19. 

 

88



 

 
Appendix C 

Police Staff Pay  

The table below provides a greater level of detail of the final year-end figures.  

 
 
 

 

                
 

Description Revised Provisional Provisional Projected Change

Budget Outtutn (Under)/ Variance DEC-18 to

2018/19 2018/19  Overspend DEC-18 ADJ-19

£ £ £ £ £

Police Staff

Police Staff Pay 17,290 16,478 (812) (778) (34)

Police Staff National Insurance 1,625 1,579 (46) (53) 7

Police Staff Pensions 2,587 2,526 (61) (60) (1)

Police Staff Allowances & Other Payments 250 278 28 19 9

Police Staff Overtime 235 299 64 60 4

Police Staff Overtime - Public Holiday 66 38 (28) (32) 4

Police Staff Turnover (1,046) 0 1,046 1,046 0

21,007 21,198 191 202 (11)

The change in forecast quarter by 
quarter reflects changes in the WFP and 
a change in assumptions in relation to 
when vacant posts will be filled. 

 

The chart above illustrates the actual WFP compared with 
the original WFP budget and budgeted establishment.  
Where the actual WFP (red line) falls below the original 
WFP budget (green line) an underspend will result, where 
the workforce plan rises above the original budget line an 
overspend will result. 

89



 

Appendix D 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The Chief Constable for Cumbria Constabulary 

Summary Statement of Accounts 2018/19 

90



The Chief Constable for Cumbria Constabulary 

Summary Statement of Accounts 2018/19 

Introduction 

I am pleased to introduce the summary Statement of 

Accounts for the 2018/19 financial year.  This summary 

document sets out the single entity statements of the 

Chief Constable for Cumbria Constabulary.  The Police 

and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria (the 

Commissioner) has also produced group accounts, 

which consolidate the single entity statements of the 

Chief Constable and the Commissioner. The financial 

information set out in the summary statement of 

accounts is taken from the full financial statements 

which are published in accordance with the Accounts 

and Audit Regulations 2015. 

 

The summary statement provides a breakdown of net 

spending during the year and shows the overall 

financial position of the Chief Constable as at 31 March 

2019.  The reporting format is specifically designed to 

meet the requirements of the Code of Practice on Local 

Authority Accounting.  A series of notes are provided 

to assist readers in their understanding of the 

statement, whilst the presentational format is 

designed to make for easier reading by those who 

access the document through the Chief Constable’s 

website:  www.cumbria.police.uk  

The summary statement of accounts is taken from the 

Joint Chief Finance Officer’s narrative report to the full 

financial statements and provides a simplified 

summary of the financial statements with expanded 

information on the objectives, activities, performance 

and future financial prospects of the Constabulary.  

This aims to give the reader greater understanding of 

the context in which the financial statements are set.   

The Commissioner’s consolidated financial statements 

showing the group position can be accessed from the 

Commissioner’s website: https://cumbria-pcc.gov.uk/ 

 

Statutory Framework 

The Chief Constable was established as a statutory 

entity under the Police Reform and Social 

Responsibility Act 2011 (PRSRA 2011).  The PRSRA 2011 

provides that there will be a Police and Crime 

Commissioner for each police area with responsibility 

for ensuring the maintenance of the police force for 

the area, securing that the police force is efficient and 

effective and holding the Chief Constable to account.  

The Commissioner has wider responsibilities than 

those solely relating to the police force.  These include 

responsibility for the delivery of community safety and 

crime reduction, the enhancement of the delivery of 

criminal justice in their area and providing support to 

victims. 

 

The PRSRA 2011 established the Chief Constable as a 

separate statutory entity, distinct from the 

Commissioner and with operational independence.  

The Chief Constable is responsible for maintaining the 

Queen’s peace and the exercise of police powers.  The 

Chief Constable is accountable to the Commissioner for 

leadership of the force, the delivery of efficient and 

effective policing and the management of resources 

and expenditure for the police force. 

 

The PRSRA 2011 sets out the statutory financial 

framework for the Commissioner and Chief Constable.  

The legislation provides for the Secretary of State to 

issue a financial code of practice in relation to the 

proper administration of financial affairs.  The Home 

Office, under the legislation, issues a Financial 

91

http://www.cumbria.police.uk/
https://cumbria-pcc.gov.uk/


The Chief Constable for Cumbria Constabulary 

Summary Statement of Accounts 2018/19 

Management Code of Practice for the Police Forces of 

England and Wales.  The Code supports the statutory 

framework further setting out the financial 

relationships and requirements for the Commissioner 

and Chief Constable.    

 

This financial framework provides that the 

Commissioner receives all funding, including 

government grants, council tax income and other 

sources of income related to policing and crime 

reduction.  All funding for the Chief Constable must 

come from the Commissioner.  This, in addition to the 

powers of the Commissioner to set the strategic 

direction for policing and appoint and dismiss the Chief 

Constable, creates a subsidiary relationship between 

the Commissioner and the Chief Constable.  As such, 

the Commissioner must publish a set of group 

consolidated accounts in addition to single entity 

accounts.  The Chief Constable must publish single 

entity accounts and provide information to the 

Commissioner to support the publication of group 

accounts. 

 

Organisational Structure 

The Chief Constable is supported by a Deputy Chief 

Constable and Assistant Chief Constable who are 

responsible for a portfolio of functions within the 

organisation.  

 

Operational policing is split into two commands which 

report to the Assistant Chief Constable. The Territorial 

Policing command is responsible for neighbourhood 

policing, response, management of calls for service and 

criminal justice. Territorial policing is structured in 

three geographic areas, which are supported by shared 

specialist policing resources such as roads policing, 

dogs and firearms. 

 

The Crime Command is responsible for investigating 

crime and includes specialist units for gathering 

intelligence, major crime investigation, countering 

serious and organised crime, public protection and 

scientific support. 

 

There are also two support directorates both of which 

report to the Deputy Chief Constable. The Corporate 

Support Directorate includes finance, people, estates, 

fleet, learning & development, ICT and central services. 

In overall terms, the Corporate Support directorate 

aims to provide cohesive and integrated support for 

operational policing.  

 

The Corporate Improvement Directorate includes a 

number of corporate functions including strategic 

development, performance and management 

information, business improvement unit, marketing 

and communications and responsibility for 

coordinating the Constabulary’s change programme. 

Legal Services is a small specialist function, which 

operates independently from the main directorate 

structure and provides legal advice to the Chief 

Constable and Commissioner. 

 

 
  

92



The Chief Constable for Cumbria Constabulary 

Summary Statement of Accounts 2018/19 

A diagram showing the Constabulary’s organisational structure is shown below: 

 

Strategic Objectives 

For 2018/19, the Chief Constable determined the 

strategic direction for the Constabulary, which is 

‘Keeping Cumbria Safe’. Following consultation with a 

range of stakeholders, the annual review of the 

Constabulary’s Strategic Assessment (based on 

operational intelligence), demand and resource 

analysis, performance results, recommendations from 

independent inspections and audits and a review of the 

organisation’s strategic risks, the Chief Constable 

developed the core operational priorities for reducing 

threat, risk and harm and tackling our communities’ 

concerns as follows: 

• Responding to the public 

• Prevention and deterrence 

• Investigation 

• Protecting vulnerable people 

• Monitoring dangerous and repeat offenders 

• Disrupting organised crime 

• Responding to major incidents 

 

The Commissioner approved these key objectives and 

incorporated them into his Police & Crime Plan to 

complement his aims. 

Chief Constable’s Report 

In terms of crime and disorder, Cumbria remains one 

of the safest places to live, work and visit in England 

and Wales. Levels of anti-social behavior in particular 

have shown a marked decline within the county over 

recent years. The public of Cumbria remain supportive 

of the service we provide as demonstrated by 

consistently high user satisfaction levels.  

93



The Chief Constable for Cumbria Constabulary 

Summary Statement of Accounts 2018/19 
 

Nevertheless, there are no grounds for complacency.  

Over the last year there has been an increase in 

recorded crime, whilst this is largely attributable to 

improvements in crime recording methods, there has 

been an undeniable rise in demand for policing 

services, most particularly in relation to violent crime. 

In tandem with this has been a noticeable shift in the 

profile of offences being recorded by police, with an 

increase in the complexity of crime, which in turn 

requires more resources to investigate and to manage 

offenders. To ensure that we understand and can 

respond effectively in an ever changing world we 

continually review our demand.   

 

The rapid advances in digital technology is a double 

edged sword allowing policing systems and processes 

to be developed and made more effective, but it also a 

facilitator of crime and requires new skillsets from 

policing if it is to be countered effectively. Recognising 

the scale of this threat the Constabulary is utilising 

some of the extra officers included in the 2019/20 

budget to set up a dedicated Cyber Unit to counter on-

line crime. In relation to digital innovation in policing, 

Cumbria is recognised nationally as being at the leading 

edge in rolling out mobile technology to its officers and 

staff with the objective of improving their productivity.  

 

Each year the Constabulary is inspected and graded as 

part of a regime known as PEEL (Police Efficiency, 

Effectiveness and Legitimacy) by Her Majesty’s 

Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire and Rescue 

Services (HMICFRS). In 2018/19, the Constabulary was 

graded good in respect of all services. In addition, 

Cumbria received a thematic inspection in relation to 

its Crime Data Integrity, for which it was rated as 

‘Outstanding’ and is one of only two forces to receive 

this grading on first inspection.  We will continue to 

work with HMICFRS to address the small number of 

areas, which were identified as areas for improvement.  

 

The future financial position is uncertain. Whilst the 

additional flexibility afforded to Commissioners to 

increase the precept in 2019/20 has allowed policing 

resources to be maintained and a small increase in 

officer numbers, this takes place in the context of rising 

costs. Longer term risks in relation to the sustainability 

of funding, the financial burden of national policing 

initiatives and potential changes to the police funding 

formula remain. In the meantime, the Constabulary 

will continue to operate as efficiently as possible and 

deliver savings to balance the budget.  

 

The Cumbria 2025 Plan remains pivotal to the delivery 

of a policing service to meet the future needs of the 

county. It seeks to bring together business and change 

planning into a single cohesive plan, which is aligned to 

the national policing vision. During 2018/19 there has 

been significant progress in rolling out Local Focus 

Hubs to provide integrated Neighbourhood Policing in 

conjunction with partners, use of body worn video, 

various well-being initiatives to support our workforce 

and continued development of operational ICT systems 

such as SAFE (Command and Control) and Red Sigma.   

The plan will continue to be developed during 2019/20 

under the leadership of the Chief Officer team.   

 

In summary, despite the challenges, I will continue to 

work with the Commissioner and partners across the 

county to deliver on our core mission of Keeping 

Cumbria Safe. 

 

2018/19 Grant Settlement and 

94



The Chief Constable for Cumbria Constabulary 

Summary Statement of Accounts 2018/19 

Budget 

Under the provisions of the Police and Social 

Responsibility Act 2011, the Commissioner receives 

external funding, principally in the form of central 

government grants and council tax.  The Commissioner 

is responsible for setting the budget and maintaining 

the force through the provision of funding to the Chief 

Constable.  Details of the 2018/19 grant settlement, 

the Commissioner’s overall budget and the level of 

Council Tax levied are provided in the Commissioner’s 

combined financial statements.   

 

In summary, the Government have recognised the 

financial challenges in maintaining policing services. 

Accordingly, in 2018/19 formula grant funding was 

protected in cash terms at £58.710m and 

Commissioners were allowed greater flexibility to raise 

council tax by up to £12 for a band D property. 

Following public consultation the Commissioner 

increased the precept by £11.97 for a band D property, 

which is equivalent to 5.42%.  This enabled services to 

be maintained offsetting the effect of pay and price 

increases, but also allowed an investment in an 

additional 25 officers ring fenced to work in local 

policing.   

 

Business Activity  

In addition to the day to day work of Protecting the 

People of Cumbria, the Constabulary, through its 

change programme and business strategies, has sought 

to identify savings and innovative ways to increase the 

productivity of its officers and staff. During 2018/19 we 

have made the following changes to enhance services: 

 Undertook extensive demand and activity analysis 

for operational staff and investigative and 

safeguarding staff to inform how we need to 

allocate resources to manage demand.  

 Strengthened arrangements for crime 

management including the development of an 

action plan and training to improve ethical crime 

reporting standards.  

 Undertook a range of audits and knowledge checks 

across the operational policing portfolio to 

improve services for victims.  

 Continued the implementation plan for the new 

Command and Control system with the aim of 

improving response to 999 and 101 calls. 

 Rolled out the next phases of the crime system –

crime management and safeguarding modules    

 Introduced an automated annual leave system to 

reduce paperwork and make significant financial 

savings. 

 Implemented a range of products and upgrades to 

improve ICT security. 

 Implemented the business benefits strategy to 

ensure that all productivity gains from ICT systems 

are captured and delivered. 

 

Performance 

Summary Budget and Outturn  

The Chief Constable’s budget amounting to £116.9m is 

based upon the funding agreement with the 

Commissioner.   

 

The table below shows the summary budget for 

2018/19 as set on 14 February 2018, the revised 

budget (taking into account budget changes made 

during the year) and the outturn position. 

95



The Chief Constable for Cumbria Constabulary 

Summary Statement of Accounts 2018/19 
 

 

The presentation above is as the figures are reported 

throughout the year in the management accounts.  At 

the year-end a number of technical accounting 

adjustments (required by proper accounting practice) 

are made.  For this reason, the outturn in the table 

above will not reconcile directly to the summary 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

 

The budget is predominantly made up of funding for 

employee costs, amounting in total to £107.58m, 

which is broken down into Police Officers £82.60m, 

PCSO’s £3.13m, Police Staff £20.69m and other 

employee costs of £1.16m. The remainder of the 

budget relates to non-staff costs including, transport 

costs of £2.17m and supplies/other costs of £11.94m. 

Income of £4.78m, which is generated through policing 

activities, is also shown within the Chief Constable’s 

budget. 

In-Year Financial Performance 

Revenue Expenditure: The Chief Constable’s outturn 

position for 2018/19, compared to the revised budget 

is an overspend of £0.217m.   

 

During the year the police pay budget, in particular, 

came under significant pressure through a 

combination of: 

 Recruiting the additional 25 officers, associated 

with the Commissioner’s 2018/19 council tax 

pledge, earlier than anticipated. 

 A decision to recruit a further 20 officers over 

establishment, to provide an insurance against 

possible future recruitment delays when new 

police training arrangements are introduced in 

2019/20.  

 The requirement to fund a higher than budgeted 

number of police ill health retirements during the 

year under police pension regulations. 

Interim forecasts during the financial year indicated 

that the Constabulary could be overspent by up to 

£750k for the reasons outlined above. In the event, a 

combination of pro-active management of budgets, 

lower than expected expenditure on supplies and 

services in the latter part of the year and generation of 

additional income brought the final overall 

expenditure much closer to budget.  

 

Capital Expenditure: Under the terms of the funding 

arrangement between the Commissioner and the Chief 

Constable, all non-current assets are under the control 

of the Commissioner. Details of capital expenditure 

and funding in relation to the acquisition and 

enhancement of assets, which amounted to £5.214m 

in 2018/19 are shown in the financial statements of the 

Commissioner. The principal component of this 

expenditure was £2.2m on upgrade of the Estate 

including £1.8m on a new deployment centre for Eden. 

Expenditure on ICT related schemes amounted to 

£2.0m, the largest single element of which was £1.2m 

Base Revised (Under)/

Budget Budget Outturn Overspend

2018/19 2018/19 2018/19 2018/19

£000s £000s £000s £000s

Police Officers 82,603 80,918 81,967 1,049

PCSOs 3,131 3,131 2,867 (264)

Police Staff 20,685 21,007 21,198 191

Other Employee 1,160 1,935 2,099 164

Transport 2,171 2,130 2,171 41

Supplies & Services 9,828 10,059 9,723 (336)

Third Party Related 2,108 2,062 2,053 (9)

Total Expenditure 121,686 121,242 122,078 836

Income (4,784) (6,062) (6,681) (619)

Total Constabulary 116,902 115,180 115,397 217

Summary Budget 

& Outturn

96



The Chief Constable for Cumbria Constabulary 

Summary Statement of Accounts 2018/19 

on a new command and control system, which will be 

fully implemented in 2019/20. A further £0.9m was 

expended on the cyclical replacement of the vehicle 

fleet. Overall capital expenditure was lower than 

budgeted, however, this was largely attributable to 

expected large milestone payments for the Eden 

Deployment Centre and the Command and Control 

system falling into early 2019/20 rather than being 

indicative of large scale slippage on the programme.  

Earlier in 2018/19 an underspend of £0.9m on the 

Business Analytics and Intelligence project was 

declared. The resulting saving has been used to offset 

the revenue overspend in the year.  

Organisational Performance 

The Constabulary operates a comprehensive 

framework of performance measures to ensure it is 

meeting its objectives and support the Commissioner 

in delivering his Police and Crime Plan. The following 

section provides a summary of performance in relation 

to crime, incidents and other outcomes for 2018/19. 

 Crime increased by 29% (8,268 crimes). This is, in 

the main, attributable to improved crime 

recording. 

 The biggest impact of improved crime recording  is 

on lower level crime categorised as violent crime 

without injury, which has increased by 74% (3,980 

crimes). 

 We set out to increase reporting of rape and sex 

offences and this increased by 26% (342 offences).  

 Overall theft offences have increased by 6% (558 

offences), however there has been a 3% reduction 

in burglary offences (-57 offences).   

 

 We have delivered a further 19% reduction in Anti-

Social Behaviour, which has reduced to 9,063 

incidents over the year.  

 Domestic abuse incidents increased by 695 or 9.6% 

indicating greater public confidence in reporting. 

 Whilst Cumbria generally has a low level of hate 

crime compared to other forces both nationally 

and in the North West, the latest figures for hate 

crime show an annual increase of 110 crimes, 

which represents an increase of 26%. This indicates 

that the public have increased confidence in 

reporting such crimes. 

 

The table below summarises the Constabulary’s 

performance indicators. 

 

Number of 

Crimes 

2018/19

% Change 

from 

previous 

year

All Crime 36,713 29%

Violence against the person 14,242 53%

Homicide 4 33%

Violence with injury 4,937 25%

Assault - cause serious harm 211 77%

Assault with injury 4,702 23%

Other violence with Injury 24 -23%

Violence without injury 9,301 74%

Assault without injury 5,080 39%

Assault without injury on a Constable 270 24%

Harassment 3,593 193%

Other violence without injury 358 40%

Rape and sexual offences 1,667 25%

Robbery 142 49%

Theft offences 9,758 6%

Burglary 2,009 -3%

Vehicle offences 1,171 0%

Criminal damage and arson offences 5,580 9%

Drugs offences 1,003 18%

Public order offences 3,294 87%

97



The Chief Constable for Cumbria Constabulary 

Summary Statement of Accounts 2018/19 

Her Majesty’s Inspector of Constabulary Fire and 

Rescue Services (HMICFRS) has graded the 

Constabulary as providing a good service across all 

aspects of the Police, Efficiency, Effectiveness and 

Legitimacy.  Areas inspected included: 

 Preventing crime and tackling anti-social behavior. 

 Crime investigation and reducing re-offending. 

 Protecting vulnerable people. 

 Tackling serious and organised crime. 

 Use or resources. 

 Planning future demand. 

 Treating people it serves fairly. 

 Ethical behavior of the workforce 

 Treating the workforce with fairness and respect. 

The Constabulary has also been graded as outstanding 

in a thematic inspection of crime data integrity, one of 

only two forces to receive this grade on first inspection. 

 

People 

The Constabulary recognises that its workforce is its 

most important asset and that maintaining healthy, 

engaged and motivated officers and staff is critical to 

the delivery of effective services. 

 

During 2018/19, the Constabulary built on the People 

Strategy established in 2016/17, which brings together 

the key themes of: 

 health, safety and well-being 

 workforce planning, recruitment and talent 

management 

 employee relations 

 reward and recognition 

 managing workforce change 

 learning and development 

Initiatives under the People Strategy in 2018/19 

included the development of strengths based 

conversations to replace the previous performance 

development process and the promotion of citizens in 

policing, with particular emphasis on engagement with 

young people through cadets and mini police.   

 

At the 31st March 2019 the Constabulary employed:  

 1151 Police Officers     

 84 PCSOs  

  596 Police staff 

(all expressed in full time equivalents) 

 

As part of the Commissioner’s council tax pledge in 

2018/19, a strategic decision was taken to increase the 

police officer establishment by 25fte, from 1,120 FTE 

to 1,145 to work in local policing roles. The additional 

posts were recruited to early in the financial year. Over 

2018/19 the numbers of police staff and PCSOs 

operated slightly below  establishment. The budget for 

2019/20 includes provision for a further 20 additional 

officers.  

 

The table below provides a breakdown of the 

Constabulary workforce (expressed in full time 

equivalents (FTE)) by gender. 

 

 

The 2018/19 average percentage of working time lost 

due to sickness remained consistent with previous 

years. Police officer rate had a negligible reduction to 

Male Female Total

FTE FTE FTE

Directors/Chief Officers 7.5 2.0 9.5

Senior Managers 8.0 7.0 15.0

All Other Employees 952.7 853.9 1,806.5

Total CC Employees 968.2 862.9 1,831.0

Actual Employees as at 

31 March 2019

CC

98



The Chief Constable for Cumbria Constabulary 

Summary Statement of Accounts 2018/19 

3.51% (approx. 8 working days) whilst police staff 

showed a slight reduction to 2.73% (7 working days). 

An attendance action plan is in place with a wide range 

of actions to pro-actively manage sickness.   

   

A Wellbeing Strategy has been put in place, with the 

aim of promoting and encouraging health and 

wellbeing at work. Work on promoting and improving 

well-being during 2018/19 included the: 

 Investment in further Wellbeing initiatives in the 

Constabulary and the training of Mental Health 

First Siders who can signpost staff for early help 

and support. 

 Investment in a Strength Based Conversation 

model that promotes a coaching approach by 

managers, and helps to build resilience in our 

employees.   

 Streamlined processes in duty management so 

staff can access automated leave systems  

 Investment in anti-corruption software and 

resources to safeguard the safety and wellbeing of 

the workforce. 

 Revision of grievance and mediation handling 

services to that the constabulary can positively 

support  staff in the workplace   
   

The Constabulary is committed to promoting a 

workforce which reflects our communities and a 

culture that respects and celebrates all aspects of 

diversity.  Achieving this aim will also lead to a working 

environment that is free from discrimination, 

harassment, bullying and victimisation. The 

Constabulary’s diversity strategy has three objectives: 

1) To provide an equitable, responsive and 

appropriate service to all communities in Cumbria, 

encouraging and supporting the reporting of 

crime, appropriate use of services and promotion 

of health and well-being. 

2) To engage with communities and stakeholders 

internally and externally, improving 

communication and building confidence and trust 

in the public sector in Cumbria, to ensure that all 

communities have a voice. Embedding equality 

into everyday business and processes to ensure all 

staff contribute to meeting these objectives. 

3) Building an inclusive and supportive working 

environment that encourages development, 

progression and retention of staff. Creating a 

culture where all staff feel valued and where 

people want to work. 

 

 

The Constabulary recognises the importance of 

developing the skills and knowledge of its workforce. 

The Constabulary’s has an annual training plan, which 

aims to ensure that officers, PCSOs and staff are 

equipped with the requisite skills to perform their role, 

including mandatory accreditation for specialist 

responsibilities. During 2018/19, particular training 

resource was directed to: 

 National Crime Recording Standards 

 Mental health. 

 Leadership and skills course for sergeants, with an 

equivalent programme for inspectors being 

developed. 

 ICT skills to get the best from systems such as SAFE 

(Command & Control), Red Sigma and Office 365. 

 

The training plan was delivered through a strategic 

training collaboration with Lancashire Police, which 

has delivered benefits through increased capacity to 

deliver training and cost reductions.  

 

99



The Chief Constable for Cumbria Constabulary 

Summary Statement of Accounts 2018/19 

Sustainability  

Sustainability is at the heart of the Constabulary’s 

approach to change and business improvement, with 

the focus on streamlining processes and emphasising 

quality by putting in systems to get things right first 

time. In addition, the Constabulary’s Demand Strategy 

delivers sustainability by looking at how demand can 

be managed down through preventative and 

collaborative working with other public agencies.   

 

 

In relation to the Commissioner’s estate sustainability 

is promoted both in day to day management of the 

assets and in new capital developments. The capital 

programme promotes sustainability within design and 

strives to better the requirements of the current 

building regulations by 10%. Specific holistic design 

targets are set, encouraging use of natural ventilation 

and sustainable renewable technology where possible. 

Where applicable BREEAM energy efficiency targets of 

a minimum of very good are set.  

 

Procurement of sustainable goods and services is 

encouraged with targets set for local labour and supply 

of materials. Tender evaluation considers whole life 

costing, including running costs for the life of the 

building and a sustainability / environmental 

assessment. 

 

The estate is served by a force wide building 

management system which is used for: 

 Regular monitoring and control of consumption. 

 Controlling mechanical building services. 

Each year a programme to introduce low energy 

technology, including LED lighting and low emission air 

conditioning across the estate is undertaken. 

An emerging programme of work is being undertaken 

to promote the use of agile and partnership working. 

This will reduce travel between sites and improve 

space efficiency at a number of sites.  

 

For many years the Constabulary has operated a 

recycling policy. Later this year a refresh of the internal 

energy management procedures will be completed, 

with a strong emphasis being placed on local energy 

management.   

 

In line with the national fleet strategy, the 

Constabulary currently operates a diesel fleet, with this 

strategy being continually reviewed as technology 

advances. During 2019 the first full electric vehicles will 

be introduced into the fleet. Two of these vehicles will 

be operational within the Eden area. Their use will be 

monitored and evaluated and the strategy of vehicle 

replacement will be adapted to meet the technology 

that is available both in the short and longer term. To 

support this, the estate will soon be equipped with its 

first electric charging points creating the infrastructure 

to support the roll out of an electric car programme. 

 The fleet includes vehicles of many different types, 

which are required to perform a number of roles. Each 

role has specific targets for omissions and the 

purchasing criteria for new vehicles dictates that they 

must be within these limits.  

Vehicles are purchased on a national framework, which 

includes sustainability and environmental criteria. The 

maintenance of vehicles is carried out at garages 

located strategically throughout the county, reducing 

downtime and transportation. Parts are bought locally 

and make use of the wider local supply chain where 

possible. 

 

100



The Chief Constable for Cumbria Constabulary 

Summary Statement of Accounts 2018/19 

Work is being undertaken on a review of hire car 

procedures with an emphasis being placed on 

improved utilisation of hire cars. In addition, suppliers  

will be required to provide green fleet including a mix 

of electric vehicles. 

Staff are encouraged to make use of public transport 

via travel plans and promote car sharing and 

supporting cycle to work schemes.  

 

The Financial Statements 

This section of the financial summary provides an 

explanation of the various parts of the financial 

statement.  The aim of the financial statements are to 

demonstrate to the reader the overall financial 

position of the Chief Constable at the end of the 

financial year, together with the cost of the services 

provided during the year and the financing of that 

expenditure.   

The key financial statements are: 

 The Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Statement (CIES) 

 The Movement in Reserves Statement (MiRS) 

 The Balance Sheet (BS) 

 The Cash Flow Statement (CFS) 

 The Police Officer Pension Fund Accounts 

 

 

Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Statement  

This statement shows the accounting cost in the year 

of providing services in accordance with generally 

accepted accounting practices, rather than the amount 

to be funded from taxation.  The Chief Constable 

prepares this statement in accordance with the 

expenditure analysis as prescribed by Code of Practice 

on Local Authority Accounting issued by the Chartered 

Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA).   

The CIES is shown on page 25 of the full statement of 

accounts.  

 
The table below sets out a summary CIES statement.  

 

 

The statement shows that the gross cost of providing 

policing services amounted to £105.249m in 2018/18.  

This figure included the costs of neighbourhood 

policing, incident response, crime investigation, roads 

policing, communication with the public, criminal 

justice arrangements and a range of support services.   

 

In addition, the CIES also records a number of technical 

adjustments including ‘financing costs & investment 

income’ £31.213m and ‘other comprehensive income 

& expenditure’ net expenditure of £40.038m. These 

adjustments principally relate to changes to future 

pensions obligations over the year based on proper 

accounting practices.  The overall effect of the cost of 

providing services and the pensions adjustment is to 

produce an accounting deficit of £65.225m for the 

year, which largely impacts on unusable pensions 

Summary CI&ES

Gross 

Expenditure 

2018/19 

£000s

Gross 

Income 

2018/19 

£000s

Net 

Expenditure 

2018/19 

£000s

Cost of Police Services 105,249 (378) 104,871

Funding Provided by PCC to CC 0 (110,897) (110,897)

Cost of Services 105,249 (111,275) (6,026)

Financing Costs and Investment 

Income
34,804 (3,591) 31,213

(Surplus)/Deficit on the Provision of 

Services
140,053 (114,866) 25,187

Other Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure
40,038

Total Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure
65,225

101



The Chief Constable for Cumbria Constabulary 

Summary Statement of Accounts 2018/19 

reserves.  The analysis on page 6 of this summary, 

based on the management accounts, shows an 

overspend of £0.217m.   

 

An Income and Expenditure analysis that sets out what 

those costs are (e.g. staffing, transport etc.) is provided 

in the note 6 to the statement of accounts on page 34. 

 

Movement in Reserves Statement  

This statement shows the different reserves held by 

the Chief Constable analysed into ‘Usable Reserves’, 

which can be applied to fund expenditure and other 

‘Unusable Reserves’, which are principally accounting 

adjustments. It shows the opening balance on each 

reserve at the start of the year, movements in year and 

the closing balance.   

 

The Chief Constable’s statement of movements in 

reserves is shown on page 26 in the full statement of 

accounts.  

 

The table below sets out a summary movement in 

reserves statement. 

 

 

The reserves shown above on the Chief Constable’s 

movement in reserves statement are all classed as 

‘unusable’ and provide a mechanism through which  

accounting adjustments can be made to present the 

accounts in accordance with proper accounting 

practices, whilst allowing the statutory amounts 

required to be charged for council tax purposes.   

 

The Chief Constable’s movements in reserves statement 

principally records the Chief Constable’s negative 

reserves in relation to the Police and Local Government 

Pension Schemes, reflecting the requirement to record 

pension assets and liabilities as they are earned rather 

than when they become due for payment. During 

2018/19, the overall negative balance on both the police 

and local government pensions schemes have increased, 

largely as a result of changes to actuarial assumptions. 

 

All usable reserves are controlled by the Commissioner 

and are recorded in the balance sheet of the 

Commissioner, who formally recognises the need to 

provide contingencies to meet unplanned and planned 

expenditure in the future. The Commissioner’s usable 

reserves include a general reserve of £3.0m to meet 

unplanned risks and earmarked reserves of £18.9 for 

specific revenue and capital purposes.  During 

2018/19, a total of £1.0m has been drawn down from 

the Commissioner’s earmarked reserves to fund 

revenue and planned capital expenditure in the year.    

 

The Balance Sheet  

The Balance Sheet shows the value as at the balance 

sheet date (31 March 2019) of the Chief Constable’s 

assets and liabilities.   

 

The table below sets out the summary balance sheet 

for the Chief Constable. 

 

Balance Movements Balance

31/03/2018 2018/19 31/03/2019

£000s £000s £000s

Police Pensions Reserve (1,187,670) (54,000) (1,241,670)

LGPS Pensions Reserve (40,009) (11,025) (51,034)

Accumulated Absences Reserve (2,750) (306) (3,056)

Total Reserves (1,230,429) (65,331) (1,295,760)

Summary Movement in 

Reserves

102



The Chief Constable for Cumbria Constabulary 

Summary Statement of Accounts 2018/19 

 

The Chief Constable’s current assets (£10.6m) are 

comprised of the Chief Constable’s share of short-term 

debtors and the balance of funding between the 

Commissioner and the Chief Constable.  Current 

liabilities (£12.4m) reflect amounts owed by the Chief 

Constable.  They include the Chief Constable’s share of 

short-term creditors and the balance of funding 

between the Chief Constable and the Commissioner.  

Long-term liabilities (£1,294m) represent the Chief 

Constable’s share of the pensions deficit together with 

a small number of provisions to meet future liabilities.  

The net assets (assets less liabilities) are matched on 

the balance sheet by the Chief Constable’s reserves.  

The balance sheet reserves reflect the position at year 

end and therefore match the final position shown in 

the movement in reserves statement.  The balance 

sheet is shown on page 27 in the full statement of 

accounts. 

 

The Chief Constable’s 2018/19 balance sheet shows a 

combined pensions deficit of £1,293m (£1,228m in 

2017/18) for the LGPS and the Police Pension Scheme 

to which its employees and former employees belong.  

However, statutory arrangements for funding the 

deficit, through increased contributions over a period 

designed to balance the pensions account and central 

government funding mean that the financial position 

of the Chief Constable remains healthy.   

 

The Cash Flow Statement  

The Cash Flow Statement shows the changes in cash 

and cash equivalents of the Chief Constable during the 

reporting period.  Under the terms of the funding 

arrangement between the Commissioner and the Chief 

Constable, all cash and cash equivalents are held by the 

Commissioner and as such, the Chief Constables cash 

flow statement simply reflects the surplus or deficit 

from the provision of services less adjustments for non-

cash movements.  The statement is shown on page 28 

of the full statement of accounts. 

 
The table below provides a summary of the cash flow 

statement: 

 

 
Police Officer Pension Fund Account 

This statement sets out the transactions on the Police 

Officer pension fund account for the year.  The 

statement records all of the contributions that have 

been made to the pension fund during the year. These 

are primarily contributions from employees and the 

Constabulary as employer. Contribution rates are set 

nationally by the Home Office. There are also small 

amounts of other contributions, either from officers 

Balance Balance

31/03/2018 31/03/2019

£000s £000s

Current Assets 14,690 10,638

Current Liabilities (16,042) (12,361)

Long Term Liabilities (1,229,077) (1,294,037)

Net Assets (1,230,429) (1,295,760)

Unusable Reserves (1,230,429) (1,295,760)

Total Reserves (1,230,429) (1,295,760)

Summary Balance Sheet

Summary Cash Flow 

Statement 

Cash flows 

2017/18 

£000s

Cash flows 

2018/19 

£000s

Cash & Cash Equivalents 1 April 0 0

Net (Surplus)/Deficit on the provision 

of services

27,404 25,187

Adjustments for Non-cash Movements (27,404) (25,187)

Net Cash Flows from Operating 

Activities

0 0

Cash & Cash Equivalents 31 March 0 0

103



The Chief Constable for Cumbria Constabulary 

Summary Statement of Accounts 2018/19 

joining the scheme in the year and transferring in 

existing pensions benefits or additional contributions 

from the employer to cover the cost of ill-health 

retirements. 

 

The fund also records the benefits paid out of the fund 

to its members. Any difference between the 

contributions received into the fund and amount paid 

out is met by government grant, paid through the 

Commissioner. This means that the police pension fund 

always balances to nil. 

 

 

 

A summary of the pension fund is shown below. 

 

The statement identifies contributions made in 

2018/19 totaling £14.46m.  The pension benefits that 

are payable from the fund, together with other 

payments amounted to £35.96m.  The balance 

between contributions and pensions’ benefits paid of 

£20.34m has been funded by the Home Office. The full 

pensions fund accounts and note can be found on 

pages 50-51 of the full statement of accounts. 

 

Supporting Information to the 

Financial Statements 

The key financial statements are supplemented by an 

explanation of the accounting polices used in preparing 

the statements which are shown alongside the 

relevant note in the accounts or in Annex A where they 

are generic to the accounts as a whole.  They also 

contain a comprehensive set of notes that explain in 

more detail a number of entries in the primary financial 

statements.  A glossary of terms provides an 

explanation of the various technical accounting terms 

and abbreviations.  The statements are published 

alongside the Annual Governance Statement for the 

Chief Constable in accordance with the 2015 Accounts 

and Audit (England) Regulations. 

 

 

The Financial Outlook 

The financial statements provide a breakdown of net 

spending during the year with the balance sheet 

showing the strong overall financial position of the 

Commissioner and Chief Constable as at 31 March 

2019.  This has primarily arisen as a result of positive 

action on behalf of the Constabulary to reduce costs in 

Summary Police Pension 

Fund 

Pension 

Fund A/C 

2017/18 

£000s

Pension 

Fund A/C 

2018/19 

£000s

Contributions - Employer (8,194) (8,506)

Contributions - Officers (5,185) (5,372)

Contributions - Other (357) (578)

Benefits Payable 35,724 35,878

Other Payments 32 79

Net Amount Payable 22,020 21,501

Contribution from Home Office (20,918) (20,343)

Additional Funding Payable by the 

Constabulary (2.9%)
(1,102) (1,158)

Net Amount Payable 0 0

The Annual Governance Statement of the Chief 

Constable can be found in (Annex D) of the 

Statement of Accounts on pages AGS 1-21 or on 

the Constabulary website at: 

www.cumbria.police.uk. 

104

http://www.cumbria.police.uk/


The Chief Constable for Cumbria Constabulary 

Summary Statement of Accounts 2018/19 

the context of past and potential future reductions in 

government funding.  A reserves policy has been 

developed, which seeks to balance pro-actively 

utilising reserves to support current policing services 

with maintaining reserves at a level that provides some 

financial resilience.  

Looking forward, the 2019/20 grant settlement was 

better than anticipated: 

• Providing additional grant funding to meet 

increased employer pension contribution rates 

for police officer pensions.  

• Giving commissioner’s the flexibility to 

increase council tax levels by a maximum of 

£24 pa for a band D property.  

• Delaying any changes to the Police Funding 

Formula until after the next comprehensive 

spending review and are unlikely to be 

introduced until at least 2021/22. 

Following public consultation the Commissioner set 

the council tax precept for 2019/20 at close to the 

maximum level, which represented an increase of 

10.29%. Whilst the increase in funding is welcome, it 

does not represent a significant real increase in 

resources in the context of rising wages and other costs 

and the increased demand for services.  

 

The Constabulary’s budget is set in the context of a  

four year medium term financial forecast (MTFF) to 

2022/23, which assumes continuing funding restraints  

and cost pressures arising from the  implementation of 

new technology including the new Emergency Services 

Network and proposed professionalisation of police 

training. The financial outlook is particularly uncertain 

and will depend on the outcome of the Government’s 

Comprehensive Spending Review, which will be 

concluded in Autumn 2019, and the economic impact 

of Brexit on the national finances. There are also 

financial risks regarding whether the additional 

pension grant provided in 2019/20 will be maintained 

in future years and over the sustainability of a funding 

model which relies on local taxpayers to meet all cost 

increases. Based on the MTFF, savings will be required 

to balance the budget from 2020/21, which will rise to 

£4.1m by 2022/23.  

 

 

 

The Commissioner and Chief Constable recognise that, 

having already delivered £26m of savings since 2010, 

future savings will be hard won. They continue to work 

to towards developing and implementing 

organisational changes that will seek to address the 

future gap between expenditure and income and 

consider the level of savings highlighted in the MTFF to 

be achievable.   

 

In light of the financial outlook presented above and in 

the context of the MTFF and savings plans, the Chief 

Constable and the Chief Finance Officer have reviewed 

the going concern position of the Constabulary and 

have concluded that it is appropriate to produce the 

Chief Constable’s accounts on a going concern basis. 

 

Risks 

The primary focus of the Constabulary’s strategic risk 

register is closely aligned with the financial challenges 

faced by the Constabulary outlined above and the 

consequential impact of implementing change across 

the organisation. 

 

105



The Chief Constable for Cumbria Constabulary 

Summary Statement of Accounts 2018/19 

The Constabulary’s highest scoring strategic risk relates 

to the potential reduction in service delivery, safety 

and ultimately public confidence, which could result 

from a real terms loss of funding, arising from a 

combination of funding failing to keep pace with 

increases in the cost of providing services, the potential 

impact of changes to the police funding formula or the 

cost of national policing initiatives.  

The threat to performance and additional cost 

implications of implementing the Emergency Services 

Network, which is a national system to replace the 

force’s radio communications, continues to be 

recognised in the risk register and is likely to remain 

until the project is implemented. 

Ensuring the provision of medical care within custody 

units remains a challenge, which is reflected in the 

strategic risk register.    

 

Other strategic risks recognise the potential impact of 

constant change on performance across the 

organisation, the continued challenge of answering 

999 and non emergency calls within a reasonable time 

period, the increasing threats from acts of terrorism 

and digital crime, compliance with General Data 

Protection Regulations and lack of professional 

procurement capability within the organisation.  

 

Wherever possible the Constabulary actively mitigates 

and manages its strategic risks.  

 

Change Programme 

The Constabulary’s change programme remains pivotal 

in identifying and delivering potential savings, it now 

forms an integral part of the Cumbria 2025 vision 

project to ensure that a holistic approach to service 

delivery linked to changing service demand is adopted. 

 

Planned work streams to generate savings include: 

 Realising benefits from investments in digital 

technology to improve the efficiency of both 

operational and business systems and processes. 

 Use of business analytics and intelligence to 

improve management information and generate 

efficiencies.   

 Extending the concept of consolidation of   

operational resources into hubs, including locality 

based multi-agency working, with the aim of 

improving productivity and capacity. 

 Realising workforce efficiencies. 

 Improving the efficiency of business systems and 

procedures to better support operational policing. 

 Exploiting opportunities for collaboration with 

other partners. 

 Specific reviews of business activities. 

106



The Chief Constable for Cumbria Constabulary 

Summary Statement of Accounts 2018/19 

Acknowledgements 

The financial statements were originally authorised for 

issue by me as Joint Chief Finance Officer, on 23 May 

2019.   

 

In closing, it is appropriate to acknowledge the 

dedication and professionalism of Michelle Bellis 

Deputy Chief Finance Officer, Lorraine Holme, and the 

wider finance team in again achieving the closure of 

accounts and the publication of these statements 

against challenging deadlines and complex changes in 

the financial reporting standards.  

 

Roger Marshall 

Joint Chief Finance Officer 

 

 The accounts present a true and fair view of the position of the Chief Constable for Cumbria Constabulary as at 

31 March 2019 and its income and expenditure for the year there ended. 

 

 

Signature removed for publication on website      

Roger Marshall CPFA      

Joint Chief Finance Officer      

Date: 23 May 2019      

 

107



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

Cumbria Office of the Police and 
Crime Commissioner Report 

 
 
Police and Crime Panel: 12 July 2019 
 
 

TITLE OF REPORT: Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 Quarter 4 to March 2019 
and Provisional Outturn 

  

ORIGINATING OFFICERS: Roger Marshall, Joint Chief Finance Officer 

Michelle Bellis, Deputy Chief Finance Officer 

  

PART 1 or PART 2 PAPER: PART 1 (OPEN)  

  

Executive Summary: 

The attached report provides details of the provisional outturn on the Commissioner’s revenue budget for 

2018/19.  The figures quoted at this stage are reported as provisional as the final accounts are still subject 

to audit but it is not envisaged that there will be any significant changes. 

 

  

Recommendation: 

The Police and Crime Panel are asked to note the quarter 4 provisional outturn position for the revenue 

budget for 2018/19. 

 
 
 
 
 

  

109

Agenda Item 11b



 

 

 

1. Purpose of the Report 

1.1. The purpose of this report is to provide information on the provisional revenue outturn for 

2018/19.  Total net expenditure amounts to £98.823m compared to an approved budget of 

£98.627m.  This is a net variance of £196k (0.20%).  The variance represents an overspend of 

£217k in relation to funding provided to the Constabulary and an underspend of £21k on 

budgets managed by the OPCC.  The forecast variation of £196k represents a reduction in the 

forecast overspend of £427k compared to the £623k reported as at 31 December 2018.     

 

 

2. Revenue Expenditure 

2.1. The provisional outturn for net expenditure, after taking account of movements to and from 

earmarked reserves, amounts to £98.823m, and is £196k (0.20%) over the approved budget of 

£98.627m.  The forecast overspend position is made up of an underspend of £21k in respect of 

budgets controlled by the Commissioner (made up of a net overspend on expenditure of £41k 

offset by the over recovery of grant and investment income of £62k.  

 

2.2. The principal variances at the end of the financial year are outlined in the table below with 

comparative figures reported as at December 2018: 

 

    
 

A more detailed analysis of the figures in the above table (not rounded) is provided at Appendix 

A.  Commentary on specific variances is provided in the paragraphs below. 

 

2.3. The budget for the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner came in under budget by £47k 

or 6.50% (previously £49k or 6.77% at December).  The underspend is largely as a result of 

underspends on staffing. 

Description Revised Provisional Provisional Provisional Projected Change in

Budget Outturn (Under)/

Overspend

(Under)/

Overspend

(Under)/

Overspend

Forecast 

DEC-18 to

2018/19 2018/19 2018/19 2018/19 @ DEC-18 ADJ-19

£'000s £'000s £'000s % £'000s £'000s

Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner 723 676 (47) -6.50% (49) 2

Other PCC Budgets (16,445) (16,419) 26 -0.16% 26 0

Movements To / (From) Reserves (831) (831) 0 0.00% 0 0

Total OPCC Budgets (16,553) (16,574) (21) 0.13% (23) 2

Funding Provided to the Constabulary 115,180 115,397 217 0.19% 646 (429)

Net Expenditure 98,627 98,823 196 0.20% 623 (427)

External Funding (98,627) (98,627) 0 0.00% 0 0

Total 0 196 196 623 (427)

110



 

 

 

 

2.4. The Other PCC Controlled Budgets came in over budget by £26k or 0.16% (previously over 

budget by £26k or 0.16% at December).  The net overspend is made up of overspends on the 

following expenditure lines: 

 An increased contribution at year end to the Constabulary balance sheet provision in 

respect of legal claims of a net £37k.   

 Increased estates costs £33k.  Including additional spend on repairs and maintenance and 

utilities. 

 Increased Insurance costs of £18k.  This relates to new cyber and data cover. 

These overspends are being partially offset by underspends on the following budget lines.  The 

most significant of which was: 

 An increase in the amount of investment income received in the year £71k, this is due in 

the main to increased interest rates achieved on investments. 

 
2.5. The Commissioner provides funding to the Chief Constable to operate the Constabulary under 

the terms of a funding arrangement.  The Chief Constable has reported a provisional outturn 

position of an overspend against this budget of £217k or 0.19% (£646k at December).  The 

forecast overspend is made up of an overspend on expenditure budgets of £836k (previously 

£1.062m at December) offset by an increase in income of £619k (previously £416k at 

December).  The overspend at the year-end is largely as a result of additional expenditure on 

police pay to facilitate early recruitment of the additional 25 police officers as pledged by the 

Commissioner in relation to the increase in council tax precept in 2018.  In addition, a decision 

was made to operate approximately 20 police officers over establishment for the remainder of 

the 2018/19 financial year to counterbalance the reduction in actual PCSO numbers (who have 

left to join as regular PCs) and to safeguard against potential difficulty in recruiting as a result 

of the forthcoming changes in relation to the Police Education Qualification Framework (PEQF).  

 

Other areas of the budget where overspend have occurred include police staff budgets £191k, 

due to reduced number of vacancies, and other employee costs £164k resulting from additional 

training, management of change costs and costs associated with additional recruitment.  This is 

partially offset by reduced expenditure on PCSO pay £264k (changes to workforce plan) reduced 

spending on communications and computing £161k, contingency £145k (this was included in 

the budget to cushion against potential price rises as a result of Brexit and the impact of the 

weakening of the pound against the dollar, but was not required in 2018/19). Efficiency savings 

111



 

 

 

of £76k were also realised.  The Constabulary has also experienced an increase in income above 

budget for £619k (abnormal loads £393k, mutual aid income £146k, sale of assets £83k). 

 

The Chief Constable has provided a separate report elsewhere on this agenda which provides a 

specific update regarding funding provided to the Constabulary. 

 

2.6. The combined provisional outturn position is for an overspend of £196k.  It is proposed that this 

overspend balance is funded through the drawdown of specific reserves (as outlined in section 

2 above). 

 

2.7. The Commissioner maintains the police property act fund.  This fund has been accumulated 

over a period of time as a result of the disposal of property coming into the possession of the 

police under the Police Property Act 1987 and the Powers of Criminal Courts Act 1973.  On a 

quarterly basis community groups or individuals can submit applications for funding to the 

Commissioner, the proposals should support priorities within the Commissioner’s Police and 

Crime Plan, have an impact on community safety and crime reduction or contribute to the 

delivery of the Constabulary youth strategy (e.g. diversionary activities for young people).  At 

31 March 2019, the fund amounted to £40k.  During 2018/19 awards to successful applicants 

totalling £61k were made.  Details of these can be found on the Commissioner’s website 

https://cumbria-pcc.gov.uk/what-we-do/funding/property-fund/ 

 

3. Financial Statements 

3.1. The full financial position as at 31 March 2019 is presented for Police and crime Panel members 

at Appendix B, within the summary financial statements.

112

https://cumbria-pcc.gov.uk/what-we-do/funding/property-fund/


 

 

 

Appendix A 
Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 – Provisional Outturn 

 

  
  

Description Revised Provisional Provisional Provisional Forecast Change in

Budget Outturn (Under)/

Overspend

(Under)/

Overspend

(Under)/

Overspend

Forecast 

DEC-18 to

2018/19 2018/19 2018/19 2018/19 @ DEC-18 ADJ-19

£ £ £ % £ £

Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner 722,759 676,173 (46,586) -6.45% (48,894) 2,308

Other PCC Budgets

Commissioned Services Budget 1,899,214 1,899,214 (0) 0.00% 0 (0)

Sexual Assault Support Services 23,512 23,511 (1) 0.00% 0 (1)

Estates 3,982,948 4,016,423 33,475 0.84% 16,868 16,607

Insurances 566,971 584,729 17,758 3.13% 19,345 (1,587)

LGPS Past Service Cost 0 0 0 0.00% 0 0

Provisions for Insurance & Legal Liabilities 105,500 142,675 37,175 35.24% 41,000 (3,825)

Technical Accounting 931,441 930,430 (1,011) -0.11% 0 (1,012)

Capital Financing 3,873,091 3,873,091 0 0.00% 0 0

Grants & Contributions (27,752,844) (27,743,451) 9,393 -0.03% 9,300 93

Interest/Investment Income (75,000) (146,279) (71,279) 95.04% (60,000) (11,279)

(16,445,167) (16,419,656) 25,511 -0.16% 26,514 (1,003)

Total Police & Crime Commissioner Directly Controlled (15,722,408) (15,743,483) (21,075) 0.13% (22,380) 1,305

Constabulary Funding 121,242,521 122,078,417 835,896 0.69% 1,061,620 (225,724)

Constabulary Income (6,062,004) (6,681,179) (619,175) 10.21% (415,830) (203,345)

Total Constabulary Funding 115,180,517 115,397,237 216,720 0.19% 645,789 (429,069)

Total Approved Budget 99,458,109 99,653,754 195,645 0.20% 623,409 (427,764)

Transfers To/(From) Earmarked Revenue Reserves 1,388,594 1,388,594 0 0.00% 0 (0)

Transfers To/(From) Capital Reserves (2,219,989) (2,219,989) 0 0.00% (0) 0

Transfers To/(From) General Revenue Reserves 0 0 0 0.00% 0 0

Aggregated External Financing (98,626,714) (98,626,714) 0 0.00% 0 0

Net Requirement 0 195,645 195,645 623,409 (427,764)

113



 

 

 

Appendix B 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The Police and Crime Commissioner for 

Cumbria  
Summary Statement of Accounts 2018/19 

 

114



The Police and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria 

Summary Statement of Accounts 2018/19 
 

Introduction 
I am pleased to introduce the Summary Statement of 

Accounts for the 2018/19 financial year.  This summary 

document sets out the consolidated version of the 

financial position for both the Police and Crime 

Commissioner for Cumbria and the consolidated group 

position, incorporating the statements of the Chief 

Constable for Cumbria Constabulary.    The financial 

information set out in the summary statement of 

accounts is taken from the full financial statements 

which are published in accordance with the Accounts 

and Audit Regulations 2015. 

 

This summary statement of accounts is taken from  the 

Joint Chief Finance Officer’s Narrative Report to the full 

statement of accounts.  Its purpose is to offer readers 

a guide to the most significant matters reported in our 

statement of accounts.  It sets out our overall financial 

position and a series of mini statements summarising 

and explaining the primary financial statements.  It 

includes information on our performance and value for 

money.  A commentary is also provided to set out the 

major influences impacting our income and 

expenditure in the current and future financial years.  

  

By providing this information we aim to support our 

readers with an understandable and informative 

narrative on those matters most significant to our 

financial position and our financial and non-financial 

performance.  This narrative report is provided as part 

of the overall publication of the financial statements 

and also as a standalone report.  It can be accessed 

through the Commissioner’s website: www.cumbria-

pcc.gov.uk together with the single entity statements 

of the Chief Constable.  

Statutory Framework 

The Police and Crime Commissioner was established as 

a statutory entity under the Police Reform and Social 

Responsibility Act 2011 (PRSRA 2011).  The PRSRA 2011 

provides that there will be a Police and Crime 

Commissioner for each police area with responsibility 

for ensuring the maintenance of the police force for 

the area, securing that the police force is efficient and 

effective and holding the Chief Constable to account.  

The Commissioner has wider responsibilities than 

those solely relating to the police force.  These include 

responsibility for the delivery of community safety and 

crime reduction, the enhancement of the delivery of 

criminal justice in their area and providing support to 

victims. 

 

The PRSRA 2011 also established the Chief Constable 

as a separate statutory entity, distinct from the 

Commissioner and with operational independence.  

The Chief Constable is responsible for maintaining the 

Queen’s peace and the exercise of police powers.  The 

Chief Constable is accountable to the Commissioner for 

leadership of the force, the delivery of efficient and 

effective policing and the management of resources 

and expenditure. 

 

The PRSRA 2011 sets out the statutory financial 

framework for the Commissioner and Chief Constable.  

The legislation provides for the Secretary of State to 

issue a financial code of practice in relation to the 

proper administration of financial affairs.  The Home 

Office under the legislation issues a Financial 

115

http://www.cumbria-pcc.gov.uk/
http://www.cumbria-pcc.gov.uk/


The Police and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria 

Summary Statement of Accounts 2018/19 
 

Management Code of Practice for the Police Forces of 

England and Wales.  The Code supports the statutory 

framework further setting out the financial 

relationships and requirements for the Commissioner 

and Chief Constable.   

 

This financial framework provides that the 

Commissioner receives all funding, including 

government grants, council tax income and other 

sources of income related to policing and crime 

reduction.  The Commissioner decides the budget, 

allocating assets and funds to the Chief Constable.  

This, in addition to the powers of the Commissioner to 

set the strategic direction for policing and appoint and 

dismiss the Chief Constable, creates a subsidiary 

relationship between the Commissioner and the Chief 

Constable.  As such, the Commissioner must publish a 

set of group accounts in addition to single entity 

accounts.  The Chief Constable must publish single 

entity accounts and provide information to the 

Commissioner to support the publication of the group 

accounts. 

 

Our Organisation 

 

The Police and Crime Commissioner is supported by an 

office of 11.5fte staff, this includes two statutory 

officers.   

The Chief Constable is accountable to the 

Commissioner and has responsibilities to support the 

Commissioner in the delivery of the strategy and 

objectives set out in the Police and Crime Plan. Both 

entities have appointed a Joint Audit Committee and a 

Joint Ethics and Integrity Panel.  The Committee and 

Panel comprise independent members to oversee 

arrangements for governance, including financial 

reporting and the arrangements for integrity and 

ethical behaviour.  Four Custody Visiting Panels fulfil 

the statutory requirement for independent review of 

custody.  Membership of the panels at the end of 

2018/19 were: Barrow 10; Kendal 10, North Cumbria 

11 and West Cumbria 9. 

 

Our Goals 

The Commissioner sets the strategic direction for 

policing and wider interventions within the Police and 

Crime Plan.  The vison for our plan is that Cumbria 

remains a safe place to live, work and visit, where the 

public has a say in policing and organisations and 

community groups work together to address the 

causes of crime, as well as the consequences.  Key 

priorities include keeping crime at low levels, reducing 

the impact of anti-social behaviour, bringing criminals 

to justice and reducing the harm caused by hate crime, 

domestic abuse and sexual abuse.  

 

We work to achieve this by holding the Chief Constable 

to account for the delivery of effective policing and by 

commissioning a range of activity and interventions 

with the Constabulary and our wider partners.  The 

116



The Police and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria 

Summary Statement of Accounts 2018/19 
 

Police and Crime Commissioner launched his new 

Police and Crime Plan ‘Making Cumbria Even Safer’ in 

November 2016 setting out our future strategy and 

goals. 

 

Our People 

Our people are the most important resource we have 

in achieving our goals.  Our values commit to having an 

empowered staff who are high performing, 

professional and have high levels of satisfaction in their 

roles.  The Commissioner’s Office and Constabulary 

perform well in relation to the gender diversity of the 

workforce.  At Chief Officer Level, excluding the elected 

Police and Crime Commissioner, 67% of the single 

entity Chief Officers are female as are 100% of senior 

managers.  A breakdown by gender of the number of 

men and women across the organisation at the end of 

the financial year and the number of men and women 

who were managers is set out below. 

 

 
 

Chief Executive Report 

The Commissioner has nearly finished his third year in 

Office.  The next Police and Crime Commissioner 

elections are due in May 2020. 

 

The Commissioner has been able to further embed his 

Police and Crime Plan with the support of the 

Constabulary and partners.  This has helped establish 

effective relationships with key local government, 

criminal justice, health and third sector partners to 

develop initiatives and commission activities to reduce 

crime, support victims and enhance community safety 

and criminal justice.   

 
 

The Police and Crime Plan contains the police and 

crime objectives, which all contribute toward achieving 

the Commissioner’s overall aim ‘to make Cumbria an 

even safer place’.  Objectives are monitored through a 

performance framework and Public Accountability 

Conferences; a public meeting where the 

Commissioner holds the Chief Constable to account.  

This structure has been in place for a number of years 

and works well. 

 
 

The Commissioner has continued to provide a range of 

services for victims and specific services for victims of 

sexual violence, domestic violence and perpetrator 

programmes.   

 
 

The Commissioner has well established financial and 

governance frameworks necessary to fulfil statutory, 

regulatory and best practice requirements, supported 

by the relevant professional bodies for local 

government and policing.  This benefits from 

Male Female Total

FTE FTE FTE

PCC Single Entity

Chief Officers 0.5 1.0 1.5

Senior Management 0.0 1.0 1.0

All Other Employees 0.0 6.8 6.8

Total PCC Employees 0.5 8.8 9.3

Group

Chief Officers 8.0 3.0 11.0

Senior Management 8.0 8.0 16.0

All Other Employees 952.7 860.7 1,813.3

Total Group Employees 968.7 871.7 1,840.3

Actual Employees as at 

31 March 2019

PCC

117



The Police and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria 

Summary Statement of Accounts 2018/19 
 

continuous development to ensure the office 

continues to meet the highest standards. 
 

Public consultation and engagement are paramount to 

the Commissioner as he is the ‘voice’ for the people of 

Cumbria for policing.  A wide range of diverse 

opportunities are available for the public to speak 

directly to the Commissioner, when the Commissioner 

is out in the community or by speaking to groups 

directly.  This is further supported by the public 

contacting the Commissioner by email and letter, with 

more than 514 people contacting the Commissioner in 

this way during 2018/19; a figure that is increasing year 

on year.  The main themes raised in the year were 

Appleby Fair, the level of council tax, police 

performance and driving issues. 

 

The Commissioner undertook a successful public 

consultation for the increase in the council tax precept 

for 2019/20, with more than 2,000 respondents with 

71% supporting the proposal.   As a result of the public 

consultation and the views of the Chief Constable and 

the unanimous support of the Police and Crime Panel, 

the Commissioner took the decision to increase council 

tax precept by £24 for a Band D property. 

 

The Commissioner continues to hold the Chief 

Constable to account at bi-monthly Public 

Accountability Conferences and weekly 1-2-1s with the 

Chief Constable focusing on performance in terms of 

crime and anti-social behaviour. 

 

This is further supported by the independent 

inspectorate; Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of 

Constabulary and Fire & Rescue Services (HMICFRS), 

external and internal auditors to assist in his scrutiny of 

governance, finance, risks and internal control. In 

conjunction with the Constabulary the Commissioner 

also operates a Joint Audit Committee and an Ethics 

and Integrity Panel. 

 
 

The Commissioner’s staff embrace the fast-moving 

pace of the Office and this is evident for the work that 

is on-going in relation to the driving campaign and 

commissioning developments.  The Office is well 

placed to deal with the new challenges for 2019/20 

with responsibility for appeals expected to transfer to 

the Commissioner during 2019/20 and further develop 

the public facing responsibility of the Commissioner. 

 

Finance Review 

2018/19 Grant Settlement and Budget 

The Commissioner set a combined net revenue budget 

of £98.627m for 2018/19 on 14 February 2018.   

Funding of this amount came from the Police Grant 

settlement (£58.710m) and income from Council Tax 

(£39.917m).   The budget increased the Council Tax 

precept by 5.42%, taking the Commissioner’s 

proportion of the band D equivalent tax to £232.74 per 

annum.  The effect of the increase is to support the 

medium term financial forecast and mitigate the 

impact of the real terms reduction in Police Grant 

compared to 2017/18.    The budget provided funding 

for the Chief Constable of £116.902m comprising a 

£121.686m expenditure budget to support policing 

and an income budget of £4.784m. The 

Commissioner’s budget provided £2.245m for 

Commissioned Services, to provide funding for 

partnership working across the Commissioner’s wider 

118



The Police and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria 

Summary Statement of Accounts 2018/19 
 

community safety, crime reduction and victim support 

responsibilities.   

 

The capital budget was set at £11.261m. Capital 

expenditure is made up broadly of expenditure on 

assets that have a useful life of beyond one year.  

Approximately 52% of the programme related to 

investment in ICT including the provision of mobile 

devices, with the remainder being made up estates 

improvements and the cyclical replacement of fleet 

vehicles. The budget was funded from capital grants 

(£1.1m), direct contributions from revenue (£1.7m) 

and capital reserves (£8.5m). The capital budget was 

subsequently revised downwards to £8.6m reflecting 

the effect of the 2017/18 capital outturn position and 

other changes to the planned profile of capital spend.  

 

The table below shows the summary revenue budget 

for 2018/19 as set on 14 February 2018, the revised 

budget (taking into account budget changes made 

during the year) and the outturn position. The 

presentation below is as the figures are reported 

throughout the year in the management accounts.  At 

the year-end a number of technical accounting 

adjustments (required by proper accounting practice) 

are made.  For this reason, the outturn in the table 

below will not reconcile directly to the Summary 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure statement on 

page 7.   References to the PCC relate to the Police and 

Crime Commissioner.  

 

 

 

Summary Budget and Outturn 

 

The Constabulary gross expenditure budget is made up 

of funding for employee costs (£107.6m; of which 

Police Officers comprise £82.6m), transport costs of 

£2.2m and supplies/other costs of £11.9m.  The 

Commissioner’s budgets comprise the costs of running 

his office (£0.723m) and the net position on a range of 

other costs.  These include estates costs (£4.0m for 

premises used by the Constabulary and 

Commissioner), Commissioned Services (£1.92m to 

deliver the Police and Crime Plan) and budgets to 

finance capital expenditure and the costs of technical 

accounting adjustments (£4.91m).  PCC other budgets 

also include the costs of insurance and past pension 

costs.  Overall a net contribution from reserves of 

£1.03m was made in the year to fund expenditure. 

 
In-Year Financial Performance 

Revenue Expenditure: The out-turn position for 

2018/19 is an overspend of £0.196m. The overall 

overspend is made up of an overspend of £0.159m on 

the core budgets of the Commissioner and 

Base Revised (Under)/

Budget Budget Outturn Overspend

2018/19 2018/19 2018/19 2018/19

£000s £000s £000s £000s

Constabulary Budget 116,902 115,180 115,397 217

Office of the PCC 723 723 676 (47)

Other PCC budgets 18,909 11,308 11,324 16

Grants/Contributions (29,536) (27,753) (27,743) 10

To/(From) Reserves (8,371) (831) (1,027) (196)

Net Expenditure 98,627 98,627 98,627 0

Government Grants (58,710) (58,710) (58,710) 0

Council Tax (39,917) (39,917) (39,917) 0

Total External Funding (98,627) (98,627) (98,627) 0

Summary Budget 

& Outturn

119



The Police and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria 

Summary Statement of Accounts 2018/19 
 

Constabulary plus a one off contribution of £0.037m to 

a legal provision in relation to ongoing legal cases. The 

core underspend equates to 0.2% of the revised net 

budget of £99.458m, which is comfortably within the 

target for the revenue  expenditure to be within 1% of 

the budget at out-turn. During 2018/19 the 

Constabulary’s pay budget experienced pressure due 

to a combination of recruiting the additional 25 fte 

officers pledged by the Commissioner as early as 

possible, a decision to recruit a further 20 officers over 

establishment to insure against possible future 

recruitment delays when new police training 

arrangements are implemented from January 2020 

and a higher than anticipated number of police ill 

health retirements, which were required to be funded. 

However, this was offset to a large degree by savings 

on supplies and services and additional income from 

special policing services. In relation to the 

Commissioner’s budgets premises costs were slightly 

above budget, due, to higher utilities costs and repairs 

and maintenance. However, this was offset by savings 

in the Office of the Commissioner and additional 

investment income.   

Budget forecasts during the year indicated that the 

Constabulary budget could be overspent by up to 

£0.75m. However, in the final quarter of the year a 

combination of pro-active work to manage the budget, 

lower than expected expenditure on supplies and 

services in the latter part of the year and generation of 

additional income, meant that the Constabulary came 

in just over budget at the year end.  

 

The overall over-spend has been met from a budget 

support reserve, which was set aside for this purpose.  

Detailed outturn reports which explain the full range of 

variances can be found on the budget and finance 

section of the Commissioner’s website. 

 
The Commissioner maintains the Police Property Act 

Fund.  The fund has been accumulated over a period of 

time as a result of the disposal of property coming into 

the possession of the police under the Police Property 

Act 1987 and the Powers of the Criminal Courts Act 

1973.   Community groups and individuals can submit 

applications for funding on a quarterly basis.  During 

2018/19 awards totaling £61k were made.  As at 31 

March 2019 the Police Property Act fund balance stood 

at £40k. 

 

The 2018/19 Capital Expenditure Outturn amounted to 

£5.2m against a revised budget of £8.6m.  During the 

year construction of a replacement deployment centre 

for the Eden area is now well underway. Preparations 

to roll out the new ‘SAFE’ Command and Control 

system in the control room are now well advanced, 

with the system due to go live in June 2019. Further 

development of the new crime system ‘Red Sigma’  and 

work on delivering mobile working solutions for 

officers and staff in roles, which are required to 

operate at multiple locations, has continued. Other 

capital expenditure has been incurred in the cyclical  

replacement of vehicles and ICT equipment.  

 

The variance between actual expenditure and the 

revised budget is £3.4m (40%), which is significantly 

outside the 8% target for variations in capital 

expenditure.  Whilst actual performance has fallen 

substantially short of target, this has been for a number 

120



The Police and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria 

Summary Statement of Accounts 2018/19 
 

of reasons, which were largely outside of the control of 

staff working directly on schemes. The largest 

elements of slippage relate to a small delay in 

commencing construction of the Eden Deployment 

Centre, which began in early 2018/19 and a re-profiling 

of planned spend in relation to the control room 

futures and business futures ICT projects.  

 

The Financial Statements 

This section of the narrative report provides an 

explanation of the various parts of the financial 

statements alongside a high-level summary and 

narrative on the financial position.  The aim of the 

statements are to demonstrate to the reader the 

overall financial position of the Commissioner at the 

end of the financial year, together with the cost of the 

services provided during the year and the financing of 

that expenditure.  The reporting format is specifically 

designed to meet the requirements of the Code of 

Practice on Local Authority Accounting.  A series of 

notes are provided to assist readers in their 

understanding of the statement, whilst the 

presentational format is designed to make for easier 

reading by those who access the document through 

the Commissioner’s website.  The key financial 

statements are: 

 The Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Statement (CIES) 

 The Movement in Reserves Statement (MiRS) 

 The Balance Sheet (BS) 

 The Cash Flow Statement (CFS) 

 The Police Officer Pension Fund Accounts 

 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement  

The Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Statement (CIES) shows the cost of policing and other 

services provided in the year and the income from 

government grants and council tax that fund those 

services.  The CIES is shown on page 33 of the full 

statement of accounts.  An expenditure and income 

analysis that sets out what those costs are (e.g. 

staffing, transport etc.) is provided in note 6 on page 

52.  

The table below sets out a summary CIES statement.   

 

The statement shows that the net cost of providing 

services in the year amounted to £99.693m, which is 

predominantly the costs of policing. 

 

In addition to showing the cost of services, the CIES 

also sets out net financing costs of £31.696m.   The 

most significant element of financing costs comprise 

pension charges (£31.240m).  These charges are 

calculated in accordance with generally accepted 

accounting practices and do not all need to be funded 

in the 2018/19 financial year.  Financing costs also 

include the costs of borrowing (capital financing).  

Summary CI&ES

Gross 

Expenditure 

2018/19 

£000s

Gross 

Income 

2018/19 

£000s

Net 

Expenditure 

2018/19 

£000s

Cost of Police Services 107,986 (8,293) 99,693

Cost of Services 107,986 (8,293) 99,693

Other Operating Expenditure 20,343 (19,690) 653

Financing Costs and Investment 

Income
35,537 (3,841) 31,696

Council Tax and Grant Income 0 (104,590) (104,590)

(Surplus)/Deficit on the 

Provision of Services
163,866 (136,414) 27,452

Other Comprehensive Income 

and Expenditure
36,255

Total Comprehensive Income 

and Expenditure
63,707

121



The Police and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria 

Summary Statement of Accounts 2018/19 
 

These costs are extremely low other than those that 

fund the Workington PFI building.  This is because the 

capital programme is funded internally using cash 

reserves to reduce investment risk and reflect the 

relatively low interest rates available on investing such 

balances.  At the end of the financial year £19.347m 

(inclusive of PFI contract) of the capital programme is 

funded by the use of cash backed internal reserves 

rather than borrowing from the open market.  At some 

point in the future, due to a planned reduction in 

reserves, the Commissioner will need to consider 

external borrowing. 

 

Showing expenditure and income within this 

statement in accordance with generally accepted 

accounting practices results in expenditure exceeding 

income (a deficit on the provision of services) by 

£27.452m.  A further accounting adjustment of 

£36.255m expenditure through the ‘other 

comprehensive income and expenditure’ line results in 

an overall position on the statement of a deficit of 

£63.707m.  This is an accounting deficit that is taken to 

Unusable Reserves.   Page 5 of this summary sets out 

the out-turn positon based on the management 

accounts, and excluding the technical accounting 

entries required for the CI&ES.  The management 

accounts show an overspend of £0.196m against the 

2018/19 budget.    

Movement in Reserves Statement  

This statement shows the different reserves held by 

the Commissioner. These are analysed into ‘Usable 

Reserves’ and ‘Unusable Reserves’.  Usable reserves 

can be used to fund expenditure.  They may help to pay 

for future costs or reduce the amount we need to raise 

in council tax to meet our expenses.   Unusable 

Reserves are principally technical accounting 

adjustments.  The Movement in Reserves Statement 

shows the opening balance on all reserves at the start 

of the year, movements in year and the closing 

balance.  The Movement in Reserves statement is 

shown on pages 35-36 in the full statement of 

accounts.  The table below sets out a summary 

movement in reserves statement. 

 

Movements in usable reserves for 2018/19 show a net 

balance of £0.025m.  This is the cumulative positon 

recording the amounts we have drawn down from and 

contribute to specific (earmarked) reserves to help 

fund expenditure during the year. There are separate 

accounts to record our receipt and use of income from 

the sale of property and government grants for capital 

expenditure.  Capital receipts amount to £0.647m and 

were received following the sale of Ulverston Police 

Station and one police house.  Capital grants 

amounting to £0.939m were received during the year, 

of these £0.575m was applied to fund capital 

expenditure and the balance will in the future be 

applied to finance capital expenditure.   

 

Balance Movements Balance

31/03/2018 2018/19 31/03/2019

£000s £000s £000s

Police Fund 3,000 0 3,000

Earmarked Revenue Reserves 7,041 1,235 8,276

Earmarked Capital Reserves 12,854 (2,220) 10,634

Capital Receipts 1,449 647 2,096

Capital Grants Unapplied 5,781 363 6,144

Total Usable Reserves 30,125 25 30,150

Unusable Reserves (1,184,603) (63,841) (1,248,444)

Total Reserves (1,154,478) (63,816) (1,218,294)

Summary Movement in 

Reserves

122



The Police and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria 

Summary Statement of Accounts 2018/19 
 

At the end of the year, the Police Fund at 31 March 

2019 stands at £3.0m and provides for unplanned 

financial risks.  Earmarked revenue reserves are 

£8.276m.  These reserves provide for a number of 

specific operational contingencies, one off 

budget/project costs and funding to meet future 

liabilities in respect of insurances and the PFI contract.  

The most substantial area of reserves at £10.634m are 

now those set aside to fund the capital programme, the 

majority of which is planned to be fully applied by 

2022/23. Further detail on earmarked reserves is 

provided within note 8 to the statement of accounts on 

pages 57-58. 

 

At the 31st March 2019 we have negative unusable 

reserves of £1,248m.  Unusable reserves provide a 

mechanism through which transactions are entered 

into the accounts in accordance with accounting 

standards.  They also provide the means to manage 

differences in the timing and calculation of those 

transactions and the actual expenditure or income we 

need to charge to our accounts.  For example, our 

properties are regularly re-valued.  When this happens 

any increase in their value is shown in a revaluation 

reserve.  The reserve 'records' the additional income 

we may receive when the property is sold, but it is 

'unusable' until we decide to dispose of the property 

and achieve a sale.  When we sell, the revaluation 

reserve will be reduced by any increase in value that 

was recorded before sale.  The actual income we 

receive will be shown in our usable capital receipts 

reserve, where it can be used to fund new capital 

expenditure.  The balance on our unusable reserves 

reflects the position following the required accounting  

transactions.  The cumulative positon for unusable 

reserves includes reserves of: 

 £47.724m in respect of the revaluation reserve and 

capital adjustment account, recording accounting 

transactions for our capital assets. 

 -£1,294m in respect of negative pensions reserves. 

The pensions reserves record accounting 

transactions for the Police and Local Government 

Pension Schemes.  The change in the balance on 

these reserves in 2018/19 is negative and is as a 

result of changes in actuarial assumptions that 

have increased scheme liabilities. 

 

The Balance Sheet  

The Balance Sheet shows the value as at the balance 

sheet date (31 March 2019) of the Commissioner’s 

assets and liabilities. The balance sheet is shown on 

page 37 in the full statement of accounts. The table 

below sets out a summary balance sheet. 

 

The balance sheets shows property, plant and 

equipment assets, which include the Commissioner’s 

estate, fleet of vehicles and ICT/communications 

equipment, with a value of £65.329m.  Of this, land and 

buildings comprise £54.402m.  Long terms assets are 

Balance Balance

31/03/2018 31/03/2019

£000s £000s

Property, Plant & Equipment 61,494 65,329

Long Term Assets 2,003 2,743

Current Assets 30,993 25,367

Current Liabilities (14,048) (11,761)

Long Term Liabilities (1,234,920) (1,299,972)

Net Assets (1,154,478) (1,218,294)

Usable Reserves 30,125 30,150

Unusable Reserves (1,184,603) (1,248,444)

Total Reserves (1,154,478) (1,218,294)

Summary Balance Sheet

123



The Police and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria 

Summary Statement of Accounts 2018/19 
 

comprised of intangible assets £2.743m.  Current 

assets are principally made up of investments 

(£9.034m), debtors (£10.995m) and cash (£5.065m) 

and have a total value of £25.367m.  Investments are 

made in accordance with the Commissioner’s treasury 

management strategy and support the management of 

reserves and cash flows.   Debtors’ balances are 

primarily made up of institutional debtors, for example 

central government, and prepayments.  This means 

that the risk of not receiving the debt remains low.  The 

Commissioner has a good collection record in respect 

of debtor invoices raised for services provided.  During 

2018/19 seven sundry debtor invoices totaling £1,764 

were authorised to be written off as not collectable.   

The provision for impaired or doubtful debts stands at 

£1,828 against the future risk that not all outstanding 

invoices will prove to be 100% collectable.  The 

Commissioner’s debtors include a share of the debtors 

recorded by the 6 Cumbrian District Council’s in 

respect of council tax.  This debt amounts to £2.403m 

and is reduced by the Commissioner’s share of their 

respective bad debt provisions of £1.057m.  See note 

14 to the statement of accounts (Page 72). 

 

Balance sheet liabilities are amounts owed by the 

Commissioner.  They include creditors, PFI debt, 

pensions and finance lease liabilities.  They are split 

between short term (current) and long term liabilities, 

the current liabilities being those amounts due to be 

paid within 1 year.  The most significant element of 

current liabilities are short term creditors which total 

£11.601m.  The combined short and long term liability 

on the PFI scheme amount to £4.745m at 31st March 

2019.  Long term liabilities are the most significant 

figure on the balance sheet, showing a balance of 

£1,300m (£1,235m in 2017/18).  The main element of 

this amount is a pension’s deficit of £1,294m (£1,229m 

in 2017/18) for the Local Government Pension Scheme 

(LGPS) and the Police Pension Scheme.  However, this 

deficit will be funded over a number of years, with 

financial support from Central Government, meaning 

that the financial position of the Commissioner 

remains healthy.   

 

The Cash Flow Statement  

The Cash Flow Statement shows the changes in cash 

held in bank accounts and changes in Money Market 

funds.  Money Market funds are an alternative way of 

depositing cash to earn interest.  The cash can be 

withdrawn from the fund without having to give notice 

and they are therefore referred to as cash equivalents.     

The statement shows how the Commissioner 

generates and uses cash and cash equivalents.  Cash 

flows are classified within the cash flow statement as 

arising from operating activity, investing activity and 

financing activity.  The statement is shown on pages 

38-39 of the full statement of accounts.  The table 

below sets out a summary cash flow statement. 

 

Summary Cash Flow 

Statement 

Cash flows 

2017/18 

£000s

Cash flows 

2018/19 

£000s

Cash & Cash Equivalents 1 April (3,044) (3,774)

Net Cash Flow from:

Operating Activity (7,248) (1,430)

Investing Activity 6,393 (3)

Financing Activity 125 142

Cash & Cash Equivalents 31 March, 

made up of:
(3,774) (5,065)

Bank Accounts (2,069) (2,070)

Money Market Funds (1,705) (2,995)

124



The Police and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria 

Summary Statement of Accounts 2018/19 
 

The table shows a cash inflow of £1.430m from 

operating activity.  This is the net of our cash income 

including government grants, council tax and charges 

for services, less how much cash has been paid out, for 

example for salaries and goods that have been 

purchased.  Cash flows from investing activity show an 

inflow of £0.003m and primarily represents the net 

balance of investment deposits less the amount of cash 

received when the investment comes to the end of its 

term.  Investment activity provides a way to manage 

resources that will be used to fund future expenditure, 

earning interest on any balances.  Investment activity 

also includes cash flows from the purchase and sale of 

capital assets (e.g. property).  Cash flows arising from 

financing activities show a net cash outflow of 

£0.142m, this being amount of cash used in relation to 

financing and borrowing.  The Commissioner has no 

borrowing other than that which relates to finance 

leases and the PFI agreement.  An amount of £142k 

was paid to reduce those debts during the year.   

 

The Commissioner’s cash flow statement shows an 

overall balance of £5.065m, compared to £5.774m in 

2017/18, reflecting an increase in cash and cash 

equivalents of £1.291m over the year.  At the end of 

the year £2.995m of the Commissioner’s cash deposits 

was held in money market funds and £2.070m in banks. 

 

Police Officer Pension Fund Account  

This statement sets out the transactions on the police 

officer pension fund account for the year.  The 

statement records all the contributions that have been 

made during the year to the pension fund. These are 

primarily contributions from employees and the 

Constabulary as employer.  Contribution rates are set 

nationally by the Home Office.  There are also small 

amounts of other contributions.  These are either 

transferred contributions, where members join the 

Constabulary and pension scheme during the year, 

through transfer from another police force, and 

transfer in their existing pension benefits.  Other 

contributions also include additional payments made 

by the employer to cover the cost of ill-health 

retirements.  The fund records the pensions (benefits) 

that are paid out of the fund to its members.  Any 

difference between the contributions received into the 

fund and the amount being paid out is met by 

government grant.  This means the police pension fund 

always balances to nil. 

 

 

The statement identifies contributions into the fund of 

£8.506m from the Constabulary (employer) and 

£5.372m from police officers.  Employer contribution 

rates in 2018/19 were maintained at 21.3%.  In total 

£35.878m of pensions have been paid out of the fund.  

Summary Police Pension 

Fund 

Pension 

Fund A/C 

2017/18 

£000s

Pension 

Fund A/C 

2018/19 

£000s

Contributions - Employer (8,194) (8,506)

Contributions - Officers (5,185) (5,372)

Contributions - Other (357) (578)

Benefits Payable 35,724 35,878

Other Payments 32 79

Net Amount Payable 22,020 21,501

Contribution from Home Office (20,918) (20,343)

Additional Funding Payable by the 

Police and Crime Commissioner (2.9%)
(1,102) (1,158)

Net Amount Payable 0 0

125



The Police and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria 

Summary Statement of Accounts 2018/19 
 

The balance between contributions and those 

pensions’ benefits of £21.501m has been funded by 

Home Office Grant of £20.343m and additional 

contributions from the Commissioner of £1.158m. The 

full police officer pension fund account is shown on 

pages 98 to 99 of the financial statements 

accompanied with a page of explanatory notes.   

Supporting Information to the Financial Statements 

The key financial statements are supplemented by an 

explanation of the accounting policies used in 

preparing the statements.  They also contain a 

comprehensive set of notes that explain in more detail 

a number of entries in the primary financial 

statements.  A glossary of terms provides an 

explanation of the various technical accounting terms 

and abbreviations.  The statements are published 

alongside the Annual Governance Statement for the 

Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chief 

Constable in accordance with the 2015 Accounts and 

Audit (England) Regulations. 

 

Business Review  

During 2018/19, the Commissioner has continued a 

number of programmes and initiatives working with 

the Constabulary and wider partners to deliver the key 

priorities within the Police and Crime Plan.  

During the year, there has been a significant focus on 

developing and commissioning services to support 

victims to recover from the impact of a crime and 

prevent further abuse or harm. A key service is the 

Victim Support core service, whose role is to provide 

information, practical and emotional support and 

advocacy for victims of all types of crime and domestic 

abuse, tailoring it to the individual following a needs 

assessment.  Overall, service users have reported an 

improvement in their experience of the criminal justice 

system, in how safe they feel, in reintegration into their 

normal life and, particularly, in their health and well-

being.  

In May 2018, the Commissioner took on the lead 

commissioning role for a new integrated Integrated 

Independent Domestic Abuse & Sexual Abuse Crisis 

Support Service, working with Cumbria County 

Council. This service brings together specialist support 

for victims through trained Independent Domestic 

Violence and Independent Sexual Violence Advisors, 

who conduct a risk assessment with the victim, help 

them to develop a safety plan and provide practical and 

emotional support and advocacy with other agencies.   

This support also forms part of the services available 

from The Bridgeway Sexual Assault Service, for which 

the Police and Crime Commissioner has continued to 

provide the lead commissioning and budget 

management role. He also contributes funding towards 

and works with providers to develop the forensic-

medical and the therapeutic services.  

The Commissioner has also worked with Cumbria 

County Council, NHS England and other partners to 

develop and commission a combined victim service 

under one contract, which aims to ensure victims get 

to the right person to support them as soon as possible 

and to avoid them having to repeat their story. This 

involved the implementation of a new approach to 

procuring the service, using the Light Touch Regime of 

procurement, to enable the Commissioner to shape a 

realistic service, maximising value for money, through 

negotiation with bidders. 

126



The Police and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria 

Summary Statement of Accounts 2018/19 
 

The Commissioner has continued to fund Remedi, a 

not-for-profit company, to provide restorative justice 

services across Cumbria.  Restorative Justice gives 

victims the chance to meet with or write to the person 

who committed the crime so they can explain the 

impact it has had upon them and others close to them.  

They are able to ask questions and gain answers which 

can provide them with a degree of closure.   Between 

April 2018 and December 2018, Remedi has facilitated 

53 victim and offender face to face conferences and 22 

indirect interventions (for example,  where messages 

are passed between victim and perpetrator via a 

Remedi worker). 

In October 2018, the Commissioner agreed to further 

fund the Brathay Trust ‘Be SAVY’ (Be Safe and Value 

Yourself) until 2021 following success of a two year 

pilot.  The project provides young people who are 

identified as being vulnerable to sexual exploitation to 

undertake a group programme which builds their self-

confidence, develops an understanding of what makes 

healthy relationships and how to identify grooming, as 

well as giving them healthy coping strategies. 

In addition to commissioned services, the Office of the 

Police and Crime Commissioner has led a review of the 

compliance of criminal justice agencies with the Code 

of Practice for Victims of Crime, using the Quality 

Assessment Framework it developed during 2017-18. 

This is helping to shine a light on the requirements 

under the Victims’ Code and focus agencies on 

improvements in key areas such as providing the 

opportunity to give a Victims’ Personal Statement.  

The Commissioner has supported his Victims’ Advocate 

who continues to champion the cause for victims, and 

importantly, help drive up standards.  The Victims’ 

Advocate has worked with Cumbria County Council to 

dip-sample high and medium risk domestic abuse cases 

referred into Victim Support to evaluate the quality of 

service provided.  Also, the Victims’ Advocate 

coordinated and chaired quarterly meetings with 

victims of antisocial behaviour and crime receiving, 

first hand feedback on their personal experience and 

acting as a sound board for potential service 

developments.   

The OPCC has also continued to fund and drive 

improvements in programmes to work with 

perpetrators of domestic abuse, ‘Turning the Spotlight’ 

on domestic abuse of adult partners and ‘Step-Up’ 

which focus on reducing incidents of domestic abuse 

by working with perpetrators and victims, providing a 

holistic support service for the whole family. The 

‘Turning the Spotlight’ programme has received over 

700 referrals since its implementation in 2015. 

Between April 2018 and March 2019. 111 people 

completed the programme. In addition 106 families 

participated in the Step-up programme, which aims to 

change behaviours and reduce domestic abuse 

incidents perpetrated by adolescents and children on 

parents and/or carers.  Over 6,400 students are now 

better informed to recognise the signs of grooming and 

the dangers associated with sexual exploitation having 

attended the theatre production Chelsea’s Choice in 

their school during February and March 2018.   

The Petal’s programme, being delivered by Women’s 

Community Matters, was launched in April 2017. This 

initiative provides an 8-week one to one support 

package that works with women who have 

experienced and perpetrated abuse and those at risk 

of offending. During the two year period 2017-19, 98 

127



The Police and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria 

Summary Statement of Accounts 2018/19 
 

women have completed the Petals Programme, of 

which 67 had children under 18 years old.  

The Commissioner has recently funded The Well 

Project, which provides support to ex-offenders and 

veterans to take control of their recovery from 

substance abuse, by working on a targeted approach 

aimed at reducing offending.  Working with the police 

and other agencies, this project is providing direct 

support right at the heart of Egerton Court (Barrow) 

where many of the residents experience problems such 

as substance misuse, mental health issues, housing 

instability and material poverty.   

Continued to fund Get Safe Online project’ offering a 

comprehensive programme of online safety and 

awareness training over the next three years. Over 750 

people are now better informed about online safe 

having successfully completed a Get Safe Online 

community awareness training session, funded by the 

Commissioner.  The sessions aim to help protect 

participants against fraud, identity theft, viruses and 

other security threats, as well as wider safety issues 

related to meeting people online.   

The Commissioner funded workshops in primary and 

secondary schools to educate children and young 

people on the impact of getting involved in anti-social 

behaviour, gangs, serious and organised crime and 

victim awareness.  Local Inspectors were involved in 

this project to help identify the topics for discussion 

aimed at providing specific interventions to address 

issues within a policing area.  Workshops were 

delivered in 16 schools – 8 primary and 8 secondary 

schools across the county.  A total of 1,556 children and 

young people attended the workshops. 

294 young people aged 16 and 17 years old in South 

Cumbria have a better understanding of the 

consequences of buying/taking drugs, the different 

types of drugs available, and how to manage the 

situation if a friend or peer is in trouble after taking 

drugs.  They have all attended a new psychoactive 

substance workshop delivered by Youth Engagement 

Services (South Lakeland CIC), funded by the 

Commissioner. 

Victim Support is commissioned to provide the Turning 

the Spotlight programme which works with 

perpetrators, victims and their families, using 

restorative principles to help service users better 

understand and maintain healthy relationships, 

reducing incidents of domestic abuse.  It is a ground-

breaking initiative developed in Cumbria in 2015, and 

is accessible county-wide, either by self-referral or 

through referral from partners (such as Children’s 

Social Services) or the police.  During January 2018 to 

December 2018, the project supported 85 perpetrators 

of domestic abuse and 68 victims.  Children or young 

people were involved in 86% of cases. 

The Commissioner has recently funded the specialist 

project Operation Encompass, following the successful 

pilot scheme in 2017.  Operation Encompass is 

designed to provide early reporting to schools of any 

domestic abuse incidents that occurs outside of school 

hours and might have an impact on a child attending 

the school the following day.  It is a partnership 

between the Constabulary, Cumbria County Council, 

the local Children’s Safeguarding Hubs and schools.  

This project is providing early, efficient trauma-

informed support to children of domestic abuse across 

the county. 

128



The Police and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria 

Summary Statement of Accounts 2018/19 
 

Over 6,000 secondary school students are now more 

aware of coercive control and domestic abuse in 

teenage intimate relationships, having attended a 

Tough Love school performance during November and 

December 2018, funded by the Commissioner.    

Over 6,400 students are now better informed to 

recognise the signs of grooming and the dangers 

associated with sexual exploitation having attended 

the theatre production Chelsea’s Choice in their school 

during February and March 2018.   

Through his commissioning budget he has funded Alter 

Ego to deliver ‘Feel the Hate’, a bespoke Cumbrian 

educational theatre production delivered in secondary 

schools aimed at raising awareness of hate crime, its 

impact and where to go for help and advice.  The play 

was delivered in 50 schools across Cumbria during 

September and October 2018.  Feedback from schools 

has shown that young people now feel better informed 

about hate crime and that some schools are continuing 

to raise awareness in their lessons. 

 

He continues to invest in a number of schemes through 

his Property Fund and Community Fund to provide 

diversionary, positive and healthy activities for young 

people. This has included funding for sports clubs and 

activities during the school holidays. Funded speed 

laser devices for use by local communities to deter 

people from speeding in their areas. 

The Commissioner’s Youth Commission continued to 

deliver projects across the county linking in with their 

priorities: drink driving, abusive relationships, child 

exploitation and new psychoactive substance (e.g. 

production of a hard hitting awareness video for drink 

and drug driving,  working as an advisory group with 

the Longtown Community Alcohol Project, developed 

a video to raise awareness of child sexual exploitation 

(CSE), designed a mobile mural to be displayed at 

various events to raise awareness of young people and 

healthy relationships. Following the launch of 

Cumbria’s Mini Police in 2018, participant schools and 

Mini Police Officers have taken part in everything from 

road safety patrols, local litter picks, educational talks 

on county lines drug dealing, to supporting local events 

including the Tour of Britain.  Cumbria currently has 26 

member schools, with more new intakes planned for 

this year. The Commissioner also provided grant 

support to a range of youth activities.  

 

The Commissioner has negotiated a collaboration 

agreement and governance structure between 

Cumbria County Council, Cumbria Fire & Rescue 

Service, the Constabulary and the North West 

Ambulance Service to develop work streams around 

Blue Light Collaboration.  The Commissioner chairs the 

Blue Light Collaboration Executive Leaders Board, 

which oversees the work. 

 

To date, a number of work streams have been 

undertaken: 

        A six month trial is currently ongoing around shared 

tasking and co-ordination between Cumbria 

Rescue & Fire Service and the Constabulary to co-

ordinate activity on a daily and monthly basis.   

        Scoped and evaluated opportunities around a Joint 

Command and Control Centre for Cumbria, 

129



The Police and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria 

Summary Statement of Accounts 2018/19 
 

concluding that this is not a viable option at the 

moment.   

  The Cumbria Fire & Rescue Service are now 

integrated within the Local Focus Hubs across the 

county. 

        Plans are in place to enable the Constabulary and 

North West Ambulance Service to initially access 

up to seven Cumbria Fire & Rescue Service 

premises in rural areas across the county.  This will 

provide a rural base for these agencies, reducing 

the need to travel back to their initial deployment 

centre.   

        Ongoing trial of two Joint Emergency Services 

Officers (JESO), one in the south of the county and 

one in the west.  This role fulfils the function of a 

PSCO and an on call fire fighter.  This is currently 

been evaluated.    

        Three Joint Incident Command Unit Vehicles are 

being utilised across the county at public events 

and can be used for major incidents.  An evaluation 

is currently been undertaken to identify the 

benefits of these. 

The Youth Commission continues to deliver projects 

across the county linking in with their priorities: drink 

driving, abusive relationships, child exploitation and 

new psychoactive substance.  Some of the work 

includes: 

        The production of a hard hitting awareness video 

for drink and drug driving.  The release of the video 

coincided with the Commissioner drink driving 

campaign in December 2018.   

        Developed a video to raise awareness of child 

sexual exploitation (CSE) which will be launched in 

time for the national CSE awareness day on the 18th 

March 2019. 

        Developed a mobile mural to be displayed at 

various events to raise awareness of young people 

and healthy relationships.  This is currently being 

displayed at the Forum in Barrow.  

        Working as an advisory group with the Longtown 

Community Alcohol Project as the voice of young 

people in rural and isolated areas.   

Following the launch of Cumbria’s Mini Police in 2018, 

participant schools and Mini Police Officers have taken 

part in everything from road safety patrols, local litter 

picks, educational talks on county lines drug dealing to 

supporting local events, including the Tour of Britain.  

Cumbria currently has 26 member schools, with new 

intakes planned for this year.  The Police Cadets 

scheme is providing opportunities for young people to 

be involved in policing, giving them a chance to be 

heard and inspiring them to participate positively in 

their communities.   

The Commissioner and Chief Constable agreed the 

budget following public consultation.  The additional 

revenue contributed to funding: 

 25 additional police officers within the Local Focus 

Hubs, providing a visible presence across the six 

districts, tackling issues that are important. 

 Maintaining Police Community Support Officers 

(PCSOs) guaranteeing the delivery of a strong pro-

active visible presence in the community. 

 Increasing the number of armed officers available to 

protect and respond to potential terror threats or 

dangerous individuals. 

130



The Police and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria 

Summary Statement of Accounts 2018/19 
 

 Improving the protection of children from abuse, 

especially online grooming and exploitation.  

Greater protection against online crime and fraud. 

During the year, the Commissioner launched a 12 

month campaign to help keep Cumbria’s road safer, in 

response to what local residents tell them are one of 

their main concerns within their community.  

Throughout this campaign, the Commissioner will be 

working with partners and local communities to 

highlight the many aspects of safer driving, focusing on 

a different theme each month.   

 

Our key events diary sets out the significant activities 

that have shaped our work over the year, proving an 

overview of what we have delivered and achieved. 

 

Key Events 

April 2018 

 Independent Custody Visitors attend the ICV 
Annual Conference. 

 Chelsea’s Choice returns to Cumbria to raise 
awareness of child sexual exploitation.  

May 2018 

 The new Independent Domestic and Sexual 
Abuse Crisis Support Service, commissioned by 
the PCC and Cumbria County Council, 
commenced on 1st May. 

 PCC joins youngsters and their coaches in a free 
sports session at Petteril Bank, Carlisle to see 
first-hand how his Community fund award to 
Greenwich Leisure is progressing. 

 Work commenced on the new Eden Police 
Deployment Centre. 

 PCC thanks the public of Cumbria for their 
continued support having finished his second 
year in office. 

 PCC joins Cumbria Police Mobile Support Group 
out on patrol in the north of the county. 

 PCC sponsors The Diverse Cumbria Awards 
which celebrates equality and diversity across 
Cumbria. 

 PCC attends the launch of the Cinnamon 
Network aimed at helping vulnerable people 
within Cumbria. 

 PCC attends launch of the Triple A project ‘All 
About Autism’ the training film for police officer 
aims to raise awareness and promote an 
understanding of autism.  

 Chelsea’s Choice returns to Cumbria to raise 
awareness of child sexual exploitation. 

June 2018 

 The Commissioner attends the Cumberland 
Show. 

 Get Safe Online Event is held in Workington 
Town Centre to raise awareness of online safety. 

 PCC provides funding for speed watch laser 
devices to be used by local communities to 
tackle speeding in their area. 

 Held three public surgeries across Cumbria to 
listen to the views of local communities. 

 3 projects awarded funding from the PCCs 
Community Fund and 13 from the Property 
Fund. 

 PCC attends attestation events across the 
county as part of the Volunteer Police Cadet 
Scheme. 

 In partnership with Cumbria Constabulary and 
through Safer Cumbria, a Serious Organised 
Crime Event was held to brief partners on the 
threats to Cumbria posed by serious and 
organised crime. 

   

July 2018 

 PCC hosts a visit from the Victims Commissioner, 
Baroness Newlove to show how victims of crime 
are supported in Cumbria. 

 PCC holds 3 public surgeries across Cumbria. 
 PCC attends the Citizen’s in Policing Awards 

Ceremony.  
 PCC attends Longtown Community Centre with 

the local policing team to discuss local issues 
with residents. 

 PCC attended Mini Police Sports Day in support 
of the Constabulary’s chosen charity JIGSAW. 

131



The Police and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria 

Summary Statement of Accounts 2018/19 
 

 PCC attends the Constabulary’s launch of 
Bodyworn Video Cameras. 

 PCC attends Kendal Calling to see first-hand 
police dogs in action. 

 Recruitment begins for additional volunteers for 
PCC’s Independent Custody Visitor Scheme 

 PCC announces the winners of the Community 
Awards for North, South and West Cumbria. 

 

August 2018 

 PCC runs campaign to attract volunteers to join 
the Independent Custody Visitor Scheme. 

September 2018 

 PCC attends Cumbria Pride Event in Carlisle.  
 PCC attends Barrow Emergency Services Open 

Day. 

 The Commissioner joins representatives from 
Cumbria Constabulary and the Security Industry 
Authority (SIA) at a conference to help promote 
ways to safeguard people, especially the 
vulnerable, who are out enjoying the night time 
economy in Cumbria. 

 PCC launches Innovation Programme aimed at 
supporting vulnerable young men. 

 PCC takes part in covert operation to tackle retail 
crime in Carlisle. 

 PCC joins a training session at Aspatria Hornets 
Junior Rugby Club to see how training 
equipment purchased through his Property 
Fund is being used.   

 6 projects are awarded funding from the PCC 
Property Fund. 

 PCC runs campaign to attract volunteers to join 
the Independent Custody Visitor Scheme. 

 The Commissioner attends the Westmorland 
Show 

 5 projects are awarded funding from the PCC 
Property Fund for September 2017 

 PCC in partnership with Safer Cumbria held 
Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Support 
Service consultation. 

 PCC reduces staff costs by combining existing 
roles of two senior members of staff to cover 
Chief Executive Post on a permanent basis. 

October 2018 

 PCC supports world Mental Health Day. 

 PCC launches his second Annual Report. 
 PCC attends the launch of the Cumbria Domestic 

Abuse Champions Network. 
 PCC extents his support of the Brathay Trust ‘Be 

SAVY’ project to help keep safe young people at 
risk of sexual exploitation. 

 PCC attends the North West Independent 
Custody Visitor Scheme conference. 

 As part of the Hate Crime Awareness Week, the 
PCC attends the performance of ‘Feel the Hate’ 
at Queen Katherine’s Secondary School, Kendal. 

 PCC officially opens Hospice at Home Wigton 
Shop during National Hospice Care Week. 

 PCC holds 2 public surgeries across Cumbria. 
 PCC funds specialist project, Operation 

Encompass, designed to provide early reporting 
to schools of any domestic abuse incidents that 
occur outside of school hours and may impact on 
a child attending school the following day. 

November 2018 

 6 projects are awarded funding from the PCC 
Property Fund and 4 projects from the 
Community Fund. 

 PCC attends the Neighbourhood Watch AGM. 
 PCC holds 4 public surgeries across Cumbria. 
 PCC supports National Anti-Bullying Week, 

attending presentations at primary schools to 
raise awareness. 

 PCC attends Cumbria Youth Commission’s 
Drink/Drug Driving Awareness Video premiere. 

 PCC attends the Cumbria Community Heroes 
Awards.  

December 2018 

 PCC and Chief Constable launch a year-long 
campaign to help keep Cumbria’s roads safer.  In 
December, the campaign focused on the 
dangers of driving whilst under the influence of 
drink or drugs. 

 PCC joins officers on patrol in Carlisle on Festive 
Friday.  

 5 Projects are awarded funding from the PCC’s 
Property Fund for December 2018.  

January 2019 

 PCC launches consultation on Council Tax 
Precept. 

 Police and Crime Panel voted unanimously to 
support the Commissioner’s Council Tax 
proposal. 

132



The Police and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria 

Summary Statement of Accounts 2018/19 
 

February 2019 

 PCC agrees Police Budget for 2019/20. 
 PCC attends Mencap’s ‘Mate Hate’ Film Launch 

during Hate Crime week. 

 PCC holds surgery at Sellafield.  

 PCC joins MENCAP to celebrate their 50th 
Anniversary.  

March 2019 

 12 projects are awarded funding from the PCCs 
Property Fund. 

 PCC attends the Freedom Parade in Kendal. 
 PCC holds live chat on Facebook regarding Child 

Sexual Exploitation. 
 PCC attends Get Safe Online Business Event in 

Kendal. 
 PCC holds a public surgery in Kendal. 
 PCC holds Independent Custody Visitors Annual 

Conference. 
 MENCAP launches ‘Mate Crime’ DVD funded by 

PCC the DVD aims to raise awareness of this type 
of hate crime. 

 7 Projects are awarded funding from the PCCs 
Property Fund for March 2018.  

April 2019 

 PCC attends Livestock Awareness Event in 
Buttermere. 

 PCC holds a surgery for students at West Lakes 
College. 

May 2019 

 PCC holds a Vulnerability Symposium at Newton 
Rigg College to raise awareness amongst 
students of the dangers associated with county 
lines and other forms of exploitation (such as 
sexual exploitation and human trafficking).  

 PCC supports the Diverse Cumbria Awards. 

 

Performance Report 

We measure our performance across a number of key 

themes reflecting the priorities in the Police and Crime 

Plan.  These are Effective Policing, Community Safety, 

Criminal Justice, Customer/Victim Satisfaction and 

Finance & Value for Money.   

 

Effective Policing 

 Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and 

Fire & Rescue Services (HMICFRS) Police 

Effectiveness Efficiency and Legitimacy (PEEL) 

Inspections: The PEEL Inspections judge the 

efficiency, effectiveness and legitimacy of the 

Constabulary in keeping people safe and reducing 

crime.  For 2018/19  HMICFRS determined that the  

Cumbria Constabulary was ‘good’ in all aspects of 

effectiveness, efficiency and legitimacy.   The Chief 

Constable reports to the Police and Crime 

Commissioner on how the Constabulary will tackle 

any areas requiring improvement and her response 

to HMICFRS recommendations. 

 In addition, the Constabulary was graded as 

‘Outstanding’ in a thematic HMICFRS inspection of 

Crime Data Integrity. Cumbria is only the second 

force to achieve this rating on the first inspection. 

 For 2018/19 overall crime increased by 29%, which 

equates to an increase of 8,268 crimes over the 12 

month period to 31st March 2019. The increase is 

largely attributable to improved crime reporting.  

 Violence against the person offences have 

increased by 53% over the year. Whilst almost all 

categories of violent crime showed an increase, the 

largest increases were seen in the less serious 

violence without injury category. Again, improved 

standards of crime reporting and recording are the 

principal reasons for the increase.  

Community Safety 

 Antisocial behaviour has continued to fall, and has 

seen a 19% reduction compared to the same 

period last year. 

133



The Police and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria 

Summary Statement of Accounts 2018/19 
 

 Hate crimes and incidents continue to be closely 

monitored. During 2018/19, the number of 

incidents rose by 26%, which equates to 110 

crimes. The Constabulary and partners continue to 

work to encourage reporting of hate crime. Based 

on the latest data, in comparison with other forces, 

Cumbria has one of the lowest levels of hate crimes 

both nationally and in the North West region. 

 Work has also targeted increased reporting for 

sexual and domestic violence.  During the year 

reported incidents of domestic abuse have 

increased by 9.6% and there has been a 26% 

increase in reported sexual offences.  

Criminal Justice 

 All recorded offences are assigned an outcome 

based on a national framework for crime.  Crime 

outcomes are classed as positive where the 

offender is either charged or summonsed, receives 

an out of court disposal or where the Crown 

Prosecution Service (CPS) or police determine it is 

not in the public interest to prosecute.  In all cases 

the crime outcome represents positive police 

activity in detecting the crime.  Positive crime 

outcome performance is 19% for 2018/19.          

 Cumbria conviction rates for Magistrates Court 

cases for the quarter to September 2018 equated 

to 92%, which is ranked 1st nationally amongst 42 

forces. Crown Court convictions for the same 

period equated to 86%, Cumbria is ranked 4th out 

of 42 forces.  

 

Customer and Victim Satisfaction 

 Performance in customer and victim satisfaction is 

measured through regular independent surveys 

following police contact. This is supplemented by 

the process for police complaints that includes 

independent sampling of complaint files and 

scrutiny of local to national comparatives against 

complaints upheld. 

 The latest satisfaction figures for the overall 

service experience (which includes criteria such as 

‘making contact’, ‘action taken’, treatment by 

staff’) remain high at 80.6%. 

 When allegations are made against the police, 

those resolved locally perform well against 

national comparative timescales.   

 

 

Finance & Value for Money 

 We measure our performance against targets for 

achieving financial outturn within a percentage of 

the net budget.   For 2018/19 this was set at 1% for 

the revenue budget and 8% for the capital budget.   

 Actual performance for revenue (excluding the one 

off contribution to provisions) was 0.2%, achieving 

well within the target.   

 Capital outturn was 40% below budget, falling 

significantly outside target.  Whilst this was a 

disappointing result, the year-end positon was 

expected and was largely attributable to milestone 

payments on large projects falling into early in the 

following year, rather than signalling a significant 

delay in delivering the programme. Stretch targets 

will continue to be set for capital expenditure going 

forward as a recognised area for performance 

improvement. 

 In previous years the budget for the Commissioner 

and Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner 

was benchmarked against HMIC Value for Money 

profiles. Following the inclusion of fire and rescue 

134



The Police and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria 

Summary Statement of Accounts 2018/19 
 

services under the remit of HMIC, costs for police 

and crime commissioners are no longer included in 

the VFM comparators. It has therefore not been 

possible to undertake a Value for Money analysis 

for the Office of the Police and Crime 

Commissioner for 2018/19.  

 Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and 

Fire & Rescue Services (HMICFRS) 2018/19 PEEL 

inspection assessed the Constabulary as good in 

respect of efficiency. 

 Outcomes against wider performance measures 

that indicate the effectiveness of activity and 

interventions are strong against the priority areas 

of keeping crime at low levels, reducing anti-social 

behaviour, bringing criminals to justice and 

increasing reporting of hate crime and domestic 

and sexual abuse. 

 Collectively, these indicators provide assurance of 

Value for Money in respect of the 2018/19 financial 

year. 

 

The Future Outlook 

Following his election in 2016, Peter McCall the Police 

and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria launched his 

Police and Crime Plan covering the period to 2020.  The 

Plan’s key theme is ‘Making Cumbria Even Safer’ and 

sets the strategic direction for policing and wider aims 

for enhancing community safety, criminal justice and 

supporting victims.   

 

The overall financial position remains strong, which is 

reflected in the Medium Term Financial Forecast, 

which sets out the revenue budget position until 

2022/23 and a capital programme, which is fully 

funded over the same period and will support delivery 

of the 2016-2020 Police and Crime Plan.  The current 

financial positon has primarily arisen as a result of 

positive action on behalf of the Constabulary to reduce 

costs in the context of reductions in government 

funding since 2010.  This has enabled reserves to be 

maintained at a level that balances financial resilience 

and supports continued investment.   

The Medium Term Financial Strategy and 2019/209 

budget was approved in the context of the 

Government providing additional funding to meet 

increased police pension contributions and affording 

Commissioners’ increased flexibility to raise council 

tax. However, this is accompanied by increasing cost 

pressures including national training and ICT initiatives 

and the economic uncertainty regarding Brexit.  

 

Against this background the 2019/20 budget resources 

an establishment of 1165 Police Officers, an increase of 

20 and maintenance of the establishments for Police 

Community Support Officers and Police Staff. The 

budget also supports smaller investments in cyber 

crime, victims safeguarding, staff welfare and 

engagement. The budget provides £130m funding for 

the Chief Constable to deliver policing for Cumbria.  

The longer term 10 year capital programme commits 

to £63.2m investment across the estate, fleet and ICT. 

 

Whilst the position is financially resilient in the short 

term, the future outlook is uncertain.  Based on the 

MTFF assumptions, savings will need to be delivered 

from 2020/21 to balance the budget forecast, which 

will rise to £4.1m by 2022/2023. There are a number of 

135



The Police and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria 

Summary Statement of Accounts 2018/19 
 

financial risks in relation to the adequacy and 

sustainability of funding, the cost of national policing 

programmes and the potential review of the police 

funding formula.  

In light of the financial outlook above and in the 

context of the MTFF and savings plans, the 

Commissioner and the Joint Chief Finance Officer have 

reviewed the going concern position of the PCC/Group 

and have concluded that it is appropriate to produce 

the Commissioner’s accounts on a going concern basis. 

 

 

Acknowledgements 

The financial statements were originally authorised for 

issue by me as Joint Chief Finance Officer on 23 May 

2019.  

In closing, it is appropriate to acknowledge the 

dedication and professionalism of Michelle Bellis the 

Deputy Chief Finance Officer, Lorraine Holme and the 

wider finance team in again achieving the closure of 

accounts and the publication of these Statements 

against challenging deadlines and complex financial 

reporting standards. 

Roger Marshall 

Joint Chief Finance Officer 

 

 
The accounts present a true and fair view of the position of the Police and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria Single 

Entity and Group Accounts as at 31 March 2019 and its income and expenditure for the year there ended. 

 

Signature removed for publication on website   

 

Roger Marshall CPFA      

Joint Chief Finance Officer      

Date: 23 May 2019      

 

136



 

CUMBRIA POLICE AND CRIME PANEL 

Meeting date: 12 July 2019 

From:  Monitoring Officer (Cumbria County Council) 

 

 

UPDATE ON COMPLAINTS 

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

1.1 This report advises members of any complaints received in 
accordance with the Panel’s complaints procedure.  The 

report outlines where appropriate, what, if any, action has 
been taken in respect of the complaints. 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION 

2.1 Members are asked to note the report. 

3.0 BACKGROUND 

3.1 At the meeting on 15 October 2018 the Panel agreed to adopt a 

revised complaints procedure to consider non-criminal complaints 
in relation to the Police and Crime Commissioner or other office 

holders. 

3.2 The Procedure  

3.2.1 As part of the revised procedure, the Monitoring Officer of 

Cumbria County Council will consider all complaints matters in 
the initial stages.  If the Monitoring Officer cannot broker a 

resolution, a sub-committee of the Panel should be convened to 
consider the matter further. 

137

Agenda Item 12



 

3.2.2 The Panel will receive a report to each meeting detailing the 

position with all ongoing complaints, and requesting a sub-
committee be convened if appropriate.   

4.0 DETAILS OF COMPLAINTS RECEIVED 

4.1 As at the date of this report, there are no ongoing complaints. 

 

 
Iolanda Puzio 

Monitoring Officer, Cumbria County Council 
 

July 2019 
  

 
 

APPENDICES 

 
None 

 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

No background papers  
 

 
Contact: Ben Spencer 

E-mail: ben.spencer@cumbria.gov.uk 
Telephone: 07919 297914 

 

138

mailto:ben.spencer@cumbria.gov.uk


CUMBRIA POLICE AND CRIME PANEL 

Meeting date: 12 July 2019 

From: Senior Manager – Policy and Scrutiny 

 

PANEL UPDATE REPORT 

1.0  PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 

1.1 This report updates the Police and Crime Panel on: 

 Key issues and developments that have occurred since 

the last meeting on the 25th March 2019 including 

 
o Progress on actions agreed at the March Panel meeting 

o National policy developments. 
o The Panel’s work programme. 

2.0  ISSUES FOR THE PANEL 

2.1 Note the range of activity set out in the report and highlight, if 
required, issues that they would like more information on. 

2.2  Provide suggestions for future topics or items for consideration by 
the Panel. 

3.0  BACKGROUND 

Progress on actions agreed at the March Panel Meeting: 
 

3.1 The substantive item for consideration at the last meeting of the 
Police and Crime Panel meeting on 25th March was the 

Commissioner’s Annual Review.  This provided Panel with a 

summary of progress towards the key objectives of the Police and 
Crime Plan.  The review will form the basis of the full Annual Report 

from the Commissioner’s Office.  

3.2 There were no new additional actions from the meeting. 

4.0 HORIZON SCANNING 

This section of the report provides members with an overview of 
some of the key issues with implications for policing and community 

safety in the near future. 

139

Agenda Item 13



RECOMMENDATION 

4.1 The Panel is asked to consider the content of this section of the 

report, and highlight, if required, issues that they would like more 
information on.  Scanning for significant national and local policy 

developments helps to inform and formulate the Panel’s future work 
programme content. 

4.2 Outlined below are key issues of particular importance to the Police 
and Crime Panel: 

 HMICFRS PEEL Inspection 2018/19 
 Serious Violence 

 Victims’ Commissioner report of Anti-Social Behaviour victims 
 Domestic Abuse Consultation 

 Offensive Weapons Act 
 Probation Changes 

Her Majesty’s Inspectorate for Constabulary, Fire and Rescue 

Services’ (HMICFRS) PEEL Inspection 2018/19 

4.3 On 2 May, HMIFRS released the first group of Police, Effectiveness, 
Efficiency and Legitimacy (PEEL) inspections for 2018/19, including 

Cumbria Constabulary.  

4.4 Overall, the inspections found a relatively positive picture of 

performance being provided by a service that is straining under 

significant pressure. This is affected different forces in different 
ways, across neighbourhood policing and investigations through to 

counter-corruption and workforce health and wellbeing. 

4.5 HMICFRS judge that volume of demand for police services has 

stayed broadly stable, however there are signs that the nature of 
demand is changing and becoming more complex and higher-risk. 

This included increases in lower-volume but more serious types of 
crime, such as robbery offences and homicides, offences involving 

knives, sexual offences and domestic abuse. 

4.6 In Cumbria, HMICFRS reported that Cumbria Constabulary is again 

‘good’ in all inspected categories for effectiveness, efficiency and 
legitimacy. It highlighted the force as being particularly good in the 

following areas: 

 Good at preventing and investigating crime; 

 Clear focus on protecting vulnerable people, and has further 
improved its support for people in need since the last inspection; 

 The Constabulary understands well the current demand for its 

services, which it uses to inform financial and workforce plans; 

 Constabulary-wide culture of continuous improvement; 

140



 Senior leaders make sure that the workforce understands the 

importance of treating the public and each other with fairness 
and respect; 

 The force is making progress with an ambitious blue light 
collaboration programme 

It also recommends the following areas for further improvement: 

 The force should ensure effective external scrutiny of its use of 

force; 

 The force should ensure effective external scrutiny of its use of 

stop and search – currently, this is only scrutinised internally; 

 The forces should ensure its counter-corruption unit has enough 

capability and capacity to counter corruption proactively and 
effectively 

Serious Violence 

4.7 On 1st April, the Home Office launched a consultation on legislating 

for a multi-agency ‘public health duty’ approach towards serious and 
violent crime. The consultation considered three separate options; a 

new duty on specific organisations, including the PCC and local 
authorities; legislating to revise Community Safety Partnerships; 

and a voluntary non-legislative approach.  

4.8 The proposal is supported by the £200m 10-year Youth Endowment 

Fund, which supports an early intervention approach towards the 
root causes of violent crime. 

4.9 In addition to this, the Home Office has also allocated £100m to 
police forces as part of the Serious Violence Fund. Of this, £63.4m 

surge funding has been allocated to 18 police force areas worst 
affected by serious violence and knife crime.  

4.10 In June 2019, the Home Secretary announced plans for distributing 
the remaining £35m to the same 18 police force areas to set up 

Violence Reduction Units (VRUs). These will take a multi-agency 

approach, bringing together police, local government, health, 
community leaders and other key partners in tackling violent crime 

and its underlying causes.  

4.11 Ministry of Justice figures have revealed that there were 22,041 

knife and weapon offences formally dealt with by the Criminal 
Justice system in the year ending March 2019. This is an increase of 

34% since 2015. 

141



 

4.12 The All-Party Parliamentary Group on Knife Crime released a report 
in April, linking places in England that have seen the biggest council 

spending reductions to youth services likely to see the largest 
increases in knife crime. In total, the typical council reduced 

spending, in real terms, on youth services by 40% between 
2014/15 and 2017/18.  

Victims’ Commissioner Report on partnership response to Anti-
Social Behaviour 

4.13  In April, the Victims’ Commissioner released a report on the 
partnership response towards to victims of anti-social behaviour. 

The report warned that police and local authorities are ‘routinely 
ignoring’ victims of anti-social behaviour. 

4.14 The report found that victims are passed from various agencies, 
face lengthy delays and often feel the need of perpetrators are 

prioritised over their own. 

Domestic Abuse Consultation 

4.15 In May 2019, the government released its consultation on the future 

delivery of support to victims and their children in accommodation-
based domestic abuse services in England. 

4.16 The consultation includes proposals to place a new statutory duty on 
local authority authorities to convene a Local Partnership Board for 

domestic abuse accommodation support services, which would 
include representation from PCCs, health bodies, children services 

and housing providers, along with specialist domestic abuse service 
providers.  

4.17 The Boards would be required to assess need for local domestic 
abuse services, develop and public domestic abuse strategies, 

decide what support services are required and commission these 
accordingly and report progress back to government departments. 

In addition to this, a National Steering Group, with representation 

from the Domestic Abuse Commissioner and a Senior PCC Lead, will 
be set up to convene and monitor provision. 

4.18 As the commissioners of local victim support services, the 
Department of Housing, Communities and Local Government 

(MHCLG) values the input of PCCs into the consultation and future 
delivery plans. 

Offensive Weapons Act 

4.19 In May 2019, the Offensive Weapons Act received Royal Assent, 

bringing in new measures that strengthen law enforcement’s 
response to violent crime.  

142



4.20 The Act will make it illegal to possess dangerous weapons in 

private, including knuckledusters, zombie knives and death start 
knives, and will stop knives being sent to residential addresses after 

they are bought online. The Act will also bring in Knife Crime 
Prevention Orders to help the police target those most at risk of 

being drawn into serious violence, to set them on a more positive 
path.  

4.21 The Act will also create a new offence of possessing acid or 
corrosive substances in a public place without good reason and 

prevent the sale to persons under 18 of those products containing 
either. 

Probation Changes 

4.22 In May 2019, the Justice Secretary announced that offender 

management probation services will be renationalised, with all 
offenders being monitored by the public National Probation Service 

from December 2020. 

4.23 In the current system, implemented through the government’s 
Transforming Rehabilitation programme, voluntary or privately led 

21 Community Rehabilitation Companies manage low and medium 
risk offenders, with the public National Probation Service managing 

higher risk offenders.  

4.24 This announcement follows a report from the Chief Inspector of 

Probation’s report on the current system, which found that 80% of 
CRCs inspected by Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Probation had been 

rated as inadequate for the implementation and delivery of 
probation services.  

4.25 Further reports in 2019 from the National Audit Office and the Public 
Accounts Committee commented on the rushed implementation of 

the changes to probation and a lack of value for money.  

5.0 FORTHCOMING MEETINGS AND DATES 

5.1 Dates and information are provided below for meetings that may be 
of interest to Panel Members. For Members interested in attending 

either of the two conferences below, travel and further background 
and supporting papers will be arranged ahead of the event. 

5.2 The Police and Crime Panel Conference, hosted by Frontline 
Consulting, will take place on Tuesday 19 November, 9:30am-

4:30pm, at Scarman House, Warwick Conference Centre, Coventry. 

5.3 The National Combating Gangs, Violence and Weapon Crime 

Conference 2019, 3 December, 8:30am-5pm, Central London  

5.4 An agenda for each of the public meetings will be published 5 

working days prior to the meeting date. Minutes and appropriate 
reports will be published following the meeting.  

143



5.5 The upcoming Public Accountability Conference meetings are as 

follows (the meetings are generally held at Carleton Hall, Penrith at 
10.00am unless otherwise stated). The next meetings are: 

 25th July 
 25th September 

Joint Audit Committee 

5.6 The Joint Audit Committee is composed of four members that 

meet five times throughout the year in line with the 
recommendations of the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 

Accountancy (CIPFA).  The agenda and papers are available 7 days 
before the meetings on the Commissioner’s website.  The next 

meetings are: 

 25th July 

 19th September 

Ethics and Integrity Panel 

5.7 The purpose of the panel is to provide a forum which challenges, 

encourages and supports the Police and Crime Commissioner and 
the Chief Constable in monitoring and dealing with integrity and 

ethical issues within each organisation. 

5.8 The panel, which meets on a quarterly basis, therefore acts as a 

robust, independent and transparent system of oversight of the way 
complaints and misconduct allegations are made against police 

officers and staff are handled and investigated by the police. As the 
Panel is not a public committee, papers are available after meetings 

on the following webpage: https://cumbria-pcc.gov.uk/what-we-
do/ethics-integrity-panel/.  

Community Safety Partnership meetings 

5.9 North Cumbria Community Safety Partnership 

 Tuesday 10 September, 2pm, Carleton Hall Police HQ, Penrith 
 Tuesday 3 December, 2pm, Carlisle East Community Fire 

Station, Carlisle 

 
South Cumbria Community Safety Partnership 

 
Dates to be circulated to Panel by email once available. 

 
West Cumbria Community Safety Partnership 

 
Dates to be circulated to Panel by email once available. 

 
 
 
 
 

144

https://cumbria-pcc.gov.uk/what-we-do/ethics-integrity-panel/
https://cumbria-pcc.gov.uk/what-we-do/ethics-integrity-panel/


 

6 CONCLUSION 

 

6.1 The Police and Crime Panel are invited to consider issues that have 
been highlighted in this report, and whether they would like more 

detailed reporting from the PCC in future on any of these topics, or 
any other topics they consider pertinent.  

 
6.2 Work Programme – officers will work with Panel Members to bring 

forward topics for consideration at future Panel meetings based on 
national and local policy scanning including the contents of this and 

future Panel Briefings. 
 

Tim Gale, Senior Policy and Scrutiny Project Officer, CCC 

Hani Cox, Policy and Scrutiny Officer, CCC 
  

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS  

 
None  

 
 

Contact: Tim Gale, telephone: 07810 530146 or e-mail 
tim.gale@cumbria.gov.uk 

 

 

145

mailto:tim.gale@cumbria.gov.uk


 

146



Appendix 1 - Police and Crime Panel Work Programme 

 

Area of work Item Action/tasks Meeting/Timeline/ 

Date 

Police and Crime Panel 
Meetings – Agenda items 

Police and Crime Plan 

 Objective 6: Focus our Police on 
Online & Sexual Crime 

 Objective 4: Ensure Offenders Face 

 a Consequence for their Crime 

To consider a report from the OPCC 
 
Subject to a new approach to work 
programming  

July 2019 
 

Revenue Budget Monitoring – Quarter 4 
(a) Constabulary 
(b) Commissioner 

To consider budget update reports 
from the OPCC. 

July 2019 

Commissioners Annual Report To consider a report from the OPCC 
 

July 2019 

Police and Crime Plan 

 Objective 5: Always put Victims 
First 

 Objective 3: Tackle Crime and 
Antisocial Behaviour 

To consider a report from the OPCC 
 
Subject to a new approach to work 
programming 

October 2019 

Revenue Budget Monitoring – Quarter 1 
(a) Constabulary 
(b) Commissioner 

To consider budget update reports 
from the OPCC. 

October 2019 

Annual Report from Joint Audit Committee To consider the annual report 
update from JAC 

October 2019 

Revenue Budget Monitoring – Quarter 2 
(a) Constabulary 
(b) Commissioner 

To consider budget update reports 
from the OPCC. 

January 2020 

147



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	7 Minutes
	8 Cumbria Police and Crime Panel Chairman's Annual Report 2019-20
	Police and Crime Panel Annual Report 2019

	9 Police and Crime Commissioner's Annual Report 2018-19
	10 Serious Violence and County Lines
	Serious Violence  County Lines Appendix

	11a Constabulary Budget Report
	11b Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner Budget Report
	12 Update on Complaints
	13 Panel Update Report



